
Please ask for:
Lisa Young
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5340
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:
lisa.young@gosport.gov.uk

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Economic Development Board
DATE: 23 September 2020
TIME:: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtual
Democratic Services contact: Lisa Young

PAUL GRANT
BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

 (Councillor Hook (ex-Officio))
Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Philpott (Chairman)

Councillor Beavis (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Ms Ballard
Councillor Bateman
Councillor Casey
Councillor Farr
Councillor Mrs Furlong
Councillor Hutchison
Councillor Jessop

Councillor Johnston
Councillor Mrs Jones
Councillor Miss Kelly
Councillor Mitchell
Councillor Mrs Prickett
Councillor Scard

Public Document Pack



NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Economic Development Board
23 September 2020

AGENDA

RECOMMENDED 
MINUTE FORMAT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

All Members are required to disclose at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter, any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest in any item(s) being considered at this meeting.  

3.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT BOARD HELD 01/07/2020 

4.  DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

(NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday 21st September 2020.  The 
total time for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not 
exceed 10 minutes).

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ITEM 3.5 

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from Members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Monday 
21st September 2020)

6.  2021-31 DRAFT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND 
EVIDENCE BASE 

To request the Economic Development (ED) Board consider the 
contents of the 2021-31 Draft Economic Development Strategy and 
the Draft Evidence Base supporting it and gives its approval to carry 
out a full public consultation exercise

7.  PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE WHITE PAPER (AUGUST 2020) 

To brief Members regarding the content of the Government’s 
‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper (August 2020) and set out key 
matters to form the basis of a formal response.



Economic Development Board
23 September 2020

8.  CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING SYSTEM- 
GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION (AUGUST 2020) 

To brief Members regarding the content of the Government’s 
‘Changes to the Current Planning System’ document (August 2020) 
and set out key matters to form the basis of a formal response.

9.  COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) NEIGHBOURHOOD 
FUND-REVIEW OF ARRANGEMENTS 

To review the arrangements for spending the neighbourhood portion 
of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which the Council is 
currently collecting from developers.

10.  PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED STOKES BAY 
CONSERVATION AREA AND REVIEW OF ALVERSTOKE AND 
ANGLESEY CONSERVATION AREAS 

To seek Members‘ support to go out to public consultation on the 
proposal to consider a designation for Stokes Bay as a conservation 
area, and to review Anglesey and Alverstoke conservation areas, as 
set out in the Heritage Action Zone Delivery Plan.

11.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 



Economic Development Board
1 July 2020

1

A MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD
WAS HELD ON 1 JULY 2020

The Mayor Councillor Mrs Huggins
 Councillor Hook

Councillors  Bateman, Beavis, Casey, Mrs Cully (Substituting for Farr), Earle (Substituting 
for Ms Ballard), Mrs Furlong, Hutchison, Jessop, Mrs Jones, Miss Kelly, Mitchell, Philpott, 
Mrs Prickett, Scard and Westerby (Substituting for Ms Ballard)

1. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

Apologies for non-attendance were received from Councillors Farr, Ballard and Johnston.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none. 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
BOARD HELD ON 11 MARCH 2020 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11th March 2020 were signed as a true and correct 
record. 

4. DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

There were none. 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ITEM 3.5 

There were none. 

6. HOUSING DELIVERY TEST ACTION PLAN 

Consideration was given to a report of the Planning Policy Manager setting out and seeking 
approval for Gosport’s HDT Action Plan (Annex 1) which analyses current housing delivery 
in the Borough and identifies measures to address the shortfall in delivery over the last 
three years.

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that if a property was specifically 
constructed as a holiday let, which did not often happen in Gosport then it would not be 
included in the numbers, however those properties built as dwelling houses and 
subsequently used as holiday lets, would be. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that taskforce noted on page 21 
was chaired by the MP and included stakeholders such as the MOD and MOJ and 
occasionally One Public Estate, local base commanders and the Solent LEP and the 
Council did not coordinate it, as it was a government based meeting that officers and 
members of the Council attended by invite. 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3



Economic Development Board
1 July 2020

2

The Planning Policy Manager advised that the Housing Delivery test action plan regulations 
did not require the monitoring of the energy efficiency of housing in the document but that 
going forward in the Local Plan the standards relating to energy efficiency would be 
included as part of the climate change considerations and that the Authority would monitor 
the energy efficiency of properties against those targets. 

In addition it was confirmed that the Housing Delivery action plan also did not cover 
affordable homes and it was confirmed that those were covered in the authority monitoring 
report of the local plan, including a year by year breakdown of the affordable housing 
provided. 

The Housing Delivery Test Action Plan was a new document required to compare the 
Council’s performance against a 3 year total, based on the Local Plan figure.

In answer to a Member’s question the Board was advised that Houses of Multiple 
Occupation were considered to be one dwelling. 

The Board was also advised that only net gains were counted. 

Members welcomed the report as clear and comprehensive and thanked the planning team. 

It was recognised that the Borough was 72% built on in Gosport which was a high level, 
other authorities were substantially less developed and that Gosport was in a very difficult 
position as a result. This figure was 12 times the national average and the Borough was 
extraordinarily densely populated.

It was acknowledged to a degree this was reflected in the houses the Borough were 
required to provide, but it was felt that it did not recognise the difficulties enough. 

The Head of Planning Policy advised that it was mindful to consider that good communities 
required a mix of open space, employment and residential land. As a result there were 
limited sites available for development. 

Members welcomed the efforts made to try and get the sites needed to provide properties 
with the limited availability of suitable areas. 

Members acknowledged that the nitrates issue had impacted on development, not only 
within the Borough but for the Solent region creating a large backlog of planning 
applications. The Council had been lobbying Government for a pause on the  Housing 
Delivery Test requirements until such time the nitrates issue can be resolved. 

It was acknowledged that the MOD properties were complex and that there was often 
contamination, listed buildings, access issues and lack of services, which made them 
problematic sites to develop as a result of the investment required. The Borough also only 
had brownfield sites for developments. 

In answer to a Member’s question the Board was advised that the Local Plan determined 
the location of build sites and that this would be reviewed as the Plan was developed. It 
was recognised that there was a balance between creating jobs and providing houses. 



Economic Development Board
1 July 2020

3

The Planning Policy Manager advised the Board that when the last Local Plan had been 
considered, representation had been made that the Council could not meet the 
requirements set out by the objectively assessed housing need evidence (similar to the 
current standard methodology).  The Council made the case that the Local Plan made best 
use of the land on brownfield sites and that retention of other land was required for open 
space and employment. Consequently the Planning Inspector agreed with the Council’s 
position and the housing figures accepted. 

Resolved That the Board approves the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Annex 1) for 
publication and submission to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) by August 2020, and that any minor amendments be delegated to the Manager of 
Planning Policy. 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

RESOLVED: That in relation to the following item the public be excluded from the meeting, 
as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the public were present during this item there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information within Paragraph 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all circumstances of the case, 
the public interest in maintaining the exemptions outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information, for the reasons set out in the report.

8. PRIDDY'S HARD RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS 

Consideration was given to a confidential report of the Borough Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer. 

RESOLVED: That the recommendations in the report be agreed. 

9. GOSPORT LEISURE CENTRE COFFEE SHOP & DRIVE-THRU 

Consideration was given to an exempt report of the Borough Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer. 

RESOLVED: That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

10. NEW LETTING OF 1 PHOENIX WAY, GOSPORT (UPDATE) 

Consideration was given to an exempt report of the Borough Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer. 

RESOLVED: That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 7.41 pm



Economic Development Board
1 July 2020

4



Board/Committee: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD
Date of Meeting: 23rd SEPTEMBER 2020
Title: 2021-31 DRAFT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

STRATEGY AND EVIDENCE BASE
Author: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & REGENERATION 

MANAGER
Status: FOR DECISION 

Purpose

To request the Economic Development (ED) Board consider the contents of the 
2021-31 Draft Economic Development Strategy and the Draft Evidence Base 
supporting it and gives its approval to carry out a full public consultation exercise

Recommendation

i) that the ED Board note the contents of the 2021-31 Draft Economic 
Development Strategy and the Draft Evidence Base 

ii) that the ED Board agree to the commencement of a full external 
consultation involving Members, residents, local businesses, community 
groups and regional/sub-regional stakeholders on the basis of the agreed 
draft documents.

 

1.0 Background

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

The Council currently has no Economic Development Strategy (EDS) in 
place and therefore has no framework upon which to plan, develop or 
deliver policy supporting growth within the Borough economy.

The Council is committed to a policy of securing growth in employment 
as the primary strand of its economic development efforts, however, 
lacks serious engagement with local businesses and other key 
stakeholders as a consequence of having no agreed ED ‘framework’ or 
strategy document.

Over recent years there has been a reduction in the resource capacity to 
interact with the business community, including town centre retailers, 
market traders and major employers across the Borough.

The effects of the recent Covid pandemic have highlighted the need to 
re-appraise how the Council best delivers its support to the local 

Agenda Item 6



1.5

1.6

1.7

economy, plus the relationships that it has or needs to be put in place 
with Government, regional and sub-regional partners in order to secure 
external resource capable of transforming the local economy and 
creating greater opportunity for local residents

Success in securing High Street HAZ (HSHAZ) status and Historic 
England funding has highlighted the benefits of closer regional/sub-
regional partnership working and represents a transferable model 
capable of being rolled-out in seeking to secure further national funding 
via schemes such as ‘Future High Street’ and ‘Town Deal’ of a scale far 
greater than HSHAZ.

As we emerge from the Covid pandemic it is increasingly important that 
the Borough develops both short and medium term plans capable of 
stimulating economic growth, encouraging greater levels of company 
investment, driving enterprise and skills development, increasing job 
density locally and providing local residents with greater opportunity.

The Draft 2021-31 Economic Development Strategy provides a strong 
framework for aligning ALL potential audiences and interest groups 
behind a mix of short, medium and longer term ED plans & proposals 
designed to address well documented historical economic weaknesses or 
threats, thus placing the Borough in a better place to target future 
opportunities.

2.0 Draft 2021-31 Economic Development Strategy (EDS)

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Gosport Borough Council is developing a 2021-2030 Gosport Economic 
Development Strategy in order to provide the framework for future growth 
and the diversification of Gosport’s economy. 

In preparation for the main Strategy development work, the Council 
previously commissioned the Economic Intelligence and Business 
Service at Hampshire County Council to produce an economic profile of 
Gosport

The starting point for the development of this Strategy was the 
engagement of consultancy Mickledore, following a rigorous procurement 
process, to advise it on the development of a new EDS.

A thorough review was undertaken of existing reports and evidence base; 
including the Solent and Gosport Economic Profiles and the Gosport 
Infrastructure Investment Plan. This review also considered the LEP’s 



2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

emerging Solent 2050 Strategy priorities.

In addition, consultation was undertaken with a number of stakeholders 
(a full list is included in the Evidence Base Report) including the Solent 
LEP, Hampshire County Council as well as local stakeholders.  

The Council now intends to use the draft Strategy as it seeks to extend 
consultation further so as to develop a Strategy to meet the needs of as 
many stakeholders as possible and to identify the main local priorities. 

The consultation will be open for four weeks and will utilise a mix of social 
media, print and online access. Hard copy versions of all documents and 
the response survey will be made available upon request and through 
selected interest groups, for return using the Town Hall post box.

The consultation will be carried out in keeping with the Council's 
Statement of Commitment to Equality and Diversity

Consultation documents will include the statement; “Gosport Borough 
Council is committed to equal opportunities for all: If you need this 
document in large print, on tape, CD, in Braille or in other languages, 
please ask”.

     3.0

     3.1

    3.2

     3.3

Outcomes

The Draft 2021-31 Gosport Economic Development Strategy is set within 
the context of a significant evidence base and consultation. 

The Draft Strategy has been derived by following a logic chain, set out in 
a table which follows fours steps: 

 Identifying the key issue
 Assessing the importance of that issue by projecting the outcome 

if nothing is done  
 Identifying the strategic response that is required
 Setting out the recommended practical steps that need to be 

undertaken if the Strategy is to be pursued

The Draft Strategy sets out recommendations which are pulled together 
in themes. 

 Increasing job density & creating diverse employment 
opportunities

 Strengthening the Marine, Maritime & Defence Industries 
 Employment Land –MOD (Ministry of Defence) 
 Commercial property



    3.4

    3.5

 Town Centre & High Street 
 Tourism & Capitalising on Gosport’s Waterfront
 Skills development
 A changing demographic
 Access 
 Organisational structure & resources 
 Building a strong narrative to government

Recommendations are set out in the following broad timescales: 
 short-term (1-2 years); 
 medium-term (3-5 years) and 
 long-term (beyond 5 years).

Within the Evidence Base, Mickledore has used its broad UK knowledge 
of economic development in an attempt to benchmark Gosport against a 
number of other UK locations having a similar economic or spatial profile. 
This will allow the Borough to position itself and make coherent 
arguments to Government in support of future funding bid opportunities

    4.0 Proposed Funding

    4.1

    
    4.2

    4.3

The costs of developing the Strategy have been fully funded within the 
Economic Development Budget agreed by Council.

There will be no other significant costs incurred in delivery of the public 
consultation, which will use a mixture of PR, email and social media 
contacts, backed up by the use of a Survey Monkey response 
mechanism.

There may be additional costs in developing and delivering those 
recommendations in the Strategy prioritised by the Council. These will, 
however, be considered and resourced by the Council in future Financial 
Years.

   5.0

   5.1

   
  5.2

Risk Assessment

The consultation will not progress as currently planned if the ED Board 
does not agree the contents of the Draft Strategy or Evidence base for 
consultation purposes.

Any delays in agreeing the content of the draft documents or the timing of 
the consultation process would extend the delivery of the final Strategy 
beyond October 2020, introducing a degree of uncertainty regarding 
budget funding for 2021/22 priority recommendations within it.



   6.0

   6.1

    6.2

Conclusion

The Draft 2021-31 Economic Development Strategy provides a strong 
framework for aligning ALL potential audiences and interest groups 
behind a mix of short, medium and longer term ED plans & proposals 
designed to secure the future economic growth of the Borough

Through a series of recommendations, it establishes a ‘logic model’ 
easily adaptable to help form a ‘Covid 19 Economic Recovery Plan’ for 
the Borough, in an attempt to secure a stronger economic future

Financial Services 
comments:

-

Legal Implications None
Equality and Diversity: As contained in the report 
Corporate Plan:
Risk Assessment:
Background papers: Appendix ‘A’ – Draft 2021-31 Gosport 

Economic Development Strategy
Appendix ‘B’ – Draft Evidence Base

Appendices/Enclosures:



This page is intentionally left blank



1



The purpose of this 
Strategy is to provide a 
framework for the future 
growth and diversification 
of Gosport’s economy

Introduction and Background

Introduction

Gosport Borough Council is developing its 2021-
2031 Gosport Economic Development Strategy. 
This Strategy will provide the framework for 
future growth and the diversification of Gosport’s 
economy. 

The starting point for the development of this 
Strategy was undertaking a review of existing 
reports and evidence base; including the Solent 
and Gosport Economic Profiles and the Gosport 
Infrastructure Investment Plan. The review also 
considered the LEP’s emerging Solent 2050 
Strategy priorities.

In addition, consultation was undertaken with a 
number of stakeholders (a full list is included in 
the Evidence Base Report) including the Solent 
LEP, Hampshire County Council as well as local 
stakeholders.  

This draft Strategy seeks to extend the 
consultation further so as to develop a Strategy 
to meet the needs of as many stakeholders as 
possible and to identify the main local priorities. 

2

Key Findings

Over the last few years there have been a 
number of local and sub-regional 
consultations. This Strategy builds on 
previous consultations as well as garnering 
more recent feedback particularly relating to  
economic development and regeneration. 

To summarise, at a high-level Gosport has: 

▪ A very constrained urban form for both 
employment land and housing.

▪ Considerable opportunities presented by 
the sites owned by the MOD in the area, 
but these have been slow to progress.

▪ Significant strengths in marine, maritime, 
engineering and defence.

▪ An outstanding waterfront which is not 
maximised.

▪ Local business growth but this has been 
stymied by the shortage of commercial 
premises. 

▪ Low median gross workplace and 
decreasing levels of resident earnings.



Partnerships and a 
collaborative approach is 
key to developing an 
effective Economic 
Development Strategy

Gosport Economic Development Strategy

▪ High levels of outbound commuting which 
exacerbates congestion in/out of the town.

▪ Low levels of educational attainment 
compared to the regional/sub-regional 
average.

▪ A retail function across the town centre which 
has suffered decline.

The Economic Development Strategy is therefore 
set within the context of a significant evidence 
base and consultation. It has been derived from 
following thorough a logic chain. 

This logic chain is set out in a table below which 
follows fours steps: 

▪ Identifying the key issue
▪ Assessing the importance of that issue by 

projecting the outcome if nothing is done  
▪ Identifying the strategic response that is 

required
▪ Setting out the recommended practical steps 

that need to be undertaken if the Strategy is to 
be pursued

The Draft Strategy for Gosport is therefore set 
out in recommendations which are developed in 

3

the following tables pulled together in themes. 

1. Increasing job density & creating diverse 
employment opportunities

2. Strengthening the Marine, Maritime & 
Defence Industries 

3. Employment Land – MOD (Ministry of 
Defence) 

4. Commercial property
5.  Town Centre & High Street 
6.  Tourism & Capitalising on Gosport’s      

Waterfront
7.   Skills development
8.   A changing demographic
9.   Access 
10. Organisational structure & resources 
11. Building a strong narrative to government

Recommendations are set out in the following 
broad timescale: short-term (1-2 years); 
medium-term (3-5 years) and long-term 
(beyond 5 years).

Without exception, partnership-working and 
strong relationships are key to the delivery of 
the themes set out in this document.



4

Gosport Strategy

Marine, defence and  
engineering supported by 
industrial tech can 
increase job density. 
Tourism jobs can also grow

The town centre must 
provide a range of 
opportunities – and 
reconnect to the waterfront

More local employment 
opportunities can limit out-
commuting and mitigate 
transport issues

The MEZ, more research 
collaboration and the School 
of Marine Engineering must 
support marine and 
defence sectors

There is  need to work with 
the MOD to understand 
employment land 
supply and possibilities for 
use intensification

Increasing commercial 
property for job growth 
relies on redevelopment and 
ensuring industry retains 
deep water access

The visitor economy offers 
heritage and 
waterfront tourism
assets which should be 
maximised

Resident skills are a key 
issue but there are strong 
opportunities in skills 
development for 
engineering and marine

Against the backdrop of a 
declining working age 
population, Gosport can offer 
a career route map for 
young people

Significant economic and 
redevelopment issues 
suggest the need for a 
change of structure for 
economic delivery

There is a need and the 
potential to put forward 
shovel ready sites and an 
influential narrative to 
Government



5

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy 

Gosport has a low employment density and 
lacks a diverse employment base. 

The marine sector (i.e. component 
manufacturing, refit & maintenance) is strongly 
represented. A proposition for high-tech support 
businesses and greater servicing in the leisure 
market would strengthen the sector.  The 
industry often requires direct water access. 
Valuable waterfront sites (including the potential 
at Fort Blockhouse) risk being lost to other uses 
but have the potential to underpin future 
employment for the area. 

The consultation process highlighted the lack of 
a consistent approach to attracting investment 
into South Hampshire and the Solent.  The 
approach has been managed in the past by 
PfSH (Partnership for South Hampshire) and the 
Solent LEP, but has not been particularly 
successful. 

Over the years, the Solent has attracted a 
smaller proportion of FDI than neighbouring 
areas and for the region as a whole.

Low employment density means that 
many Gosport residents have to 
commute in order to access job 
opportunities. There is an overall net 
out-flow of 13,400 resident workers to a 
place of work beyond Gosport (2011 
Census).

In addition, the lack of diverse work 
opportunities means that there is less 
employment choice, with Gosport 
residents earning more by out-
commuting to neighbouring authorities. 

If nothing is done to increase the levels 
of job density; the on-going reduction of 
MOD activity in Gosport is likely to 
further reduce employment density and 
increase both out-commuting and 
congestion.

Most investment projects are undertaken by 
existing businesses (rather than by new 
investors). There is a need to develop 
relationships with key players at a local and 
HQ level (when the business has an HQ 
outside the area). 

Attracting investment is competitive and a 
consistent sub-regional approach setting out 
the proposition for the wider area is important. 
Gosport is very unlikely to attract new 
investment by acting alone. Within a sub-
regional approach, Gosport’s positioning and 
differentiation as part of the whole will need to 
be clear. 

Where possible, those Gosport assets used by 
national / international businesses should be 
highlighted. 

The government’s current review of the UK’s 
defence industry including how it is impacted 
on by new technology and the ensuing need 
for more innovation, partnerships and 
collaborations could help to establish a 
stronger supply chain in Gosport. 

1. Increasing Job Density & Creating Diverse Employment Opportunities



6

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

The Government’s Maritime 2050 Strategy 
launched in 2019, places considerable 
emphasis on innovation and digitisation. 
The Defence Technology Framework and 
defence industry review with a focus on 
new technologies is likely to lead to more 
collaboration between industry and HE/ 
research bodies. 

The Solent LEP ‘Solent 2050 Strategy’ 
sets out an ambition to ‘create a world-
leading marine and maritime economy’ 
and has launched ‘Solent Maritime’; 
bringing together marine & maritime 
strengths to champion the region as a 
maritime hub.

The Solent Maritime Enterprise Zone 
(MEZ) presents a significant opportunity to 
position Gosport for future marine 
investment; including in property, skills and 
innovation. 

Gosport already has technology related 
companies in the area of maritime and 
defence but there is an opportunity to build 
on this sector further.

The Government’s support for encouraging 
innovation in the maritime industry resulted in 
an Innovation Hub at the Port of Tyne. This is 
a lost opportunity for the Solent. Gosport and 
the Solent needs to position itself effectively 
in order not to lose out on similar investments 
in the future.

Gosport can set-out its strengths and its 
position within the Solent to strengthen its 
own and the overall case.

Gosport’s high value employment is based 
on marine technology, defence plus the MOD 
and without continued development Gosport 
could be side-lined as a lower value location. 

As the development of the MEZ is at an early 
stage, Gosport should maximise the 
opportunities that would make the greatest 
difference to Gosport. 

This should include as is stated in the MEZ 
Vision, the ‘repurposing of land or surplus 
defence estate’; improving the 
educational/skills offer(e.g. securing the 
future of the HMS Sultan School of Marine 
Engineering) and increasing levels of 
innovation through stronger links with 
universities. 

The industry’s drive in the take-up  of new 
digital technologies is likely to lead to 
increased collaborations between business / 
research bodies and the MOD.  

Gosport’s existing strengths in maritime 
defence could be enhanced with a focus on 
high value technologies, for example 
autonomous systems. This would also help 
to maximise opportunities around Gosport’s 
waterside frontage, deep-water access and 
testing facilities to position the area as a test 
bed for autonomous water (and sub-sea) 
based systems. 

2. Strengthening the Marine, Maritime & Defence Industries 



7

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

Gosport’s densely developed footprint 
means that available employment land is 
limited. The various surplus MOD sites 
could become new employment sites once 
vacated; there is however still no definite 
timescale as to when the sites will be 
available for development.

There is also a continuing balance to be 
struck between providing employment 
sites and making sites available for 
housing need.

The uncertainty as to if and when MOD sites 
will be fully or partially vacated is creating 
uncertainty for planning and businesses 
meaning that Gosport risks missing out on 
employment growth opportunities.  

Whilst the focus should be on employment, 
the cost of remediation of some of the sites 
will no doubt need mixed-uses including 
housing. This is particularly the case at Fort 
Blockhouse which requires substantial 
infrastructure investment (including sea wall 
defences) for it to become a viable 
redevelopment site. 

If nothing is done to ensure a mixed 
development including substantive 
employment uses, there is a risk that the 
sites with attractive waterfrontages will be 
dominated by housing. 

Where there are unique assets such as 
deep-water access, these must be 
maximised so that the opportunity is not lost 
to attract businesses requiring such 
infrastructure. 

The need to better understand the defence 
disposal timetable will require strategic 
approaches towards developing relationships 
at the highest level with the MOD and the 
DIO (Defence Infrastructure Organisation).

The Gosport Task Force established by the 
local MP could be key to developing these 
stronger linkages both at a local level and 
within HQ, but the Task Force lacks 
resources.  The identification of resources 
and structuring the organisation to help 
deliver positive outcomes for Gosport should 
be a key part of the Strategy. 

The pressure to use available land (including 
MOD land) for housing will continue to 
increase as Gosport struggles to meet its 
housing targets. A strategy of developing a 
collaborative cross-regional approach should 
be exploited, particularly with in terms of the 
potential to share housing allocations.  

The repurposing of land / surplus defence 
estate could allow intensification of 
employment whist still retaining the MOD 
presence. 

3. Employment Land – MOD



4. Commercial Property 

8

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

In recent years there has been strong 
demand for employment units within 
Gosport. This is  predominantly for 
industrial (B2 and B8) stock.  The fall in the 
volume of transactions in 2018 and 2019, 
is considered to be primarily due to a lack 
of available stock on the market rather 
than low levels of demand. 

Demand is for both smaller units, mid 
(1,000-2,000 sqm) and larger units (+3,000 
sqm).

Property shortages are most acute for 
industrial rather than office units. 

Gosport also has a level of old commercial 
stock which does not meet modern 
business requirements but which would 
require substantial investment / 
redevelopment to secure re-use. 

The tightness of the commercial property 
market is impacting on Gosport’s ability to 
create employment opportunities for local 
expansion projects as well as to attract 
new projects. This is leading to a lack of 
capacity for growth, with limited choice of 
built premises and lack of vacant 
employment land. 

With more employment space available in 
neighbouring authorities; businesses with 
expansion projects and requiring modern 
premises are likely to relocate out of the 
Borough.

The impact of a lack of appropriate space 
on the growth of employment in Gosport 
has already been felt in recent years and 
this will be become more acute if further 
supply is not provided.

Experience from elsewhere suggests that stock 
deterioration and reducing attractiveness is 
generally not reversed by market forces. Where 
stock is held by long-term tenants there is a 
disincentive for incremental investment by 
landlords who are receiving a steady rental 
stream which is not enhanced by investment 
over anything other than the long term.

The on-going shortage of modern units will 
make it difficult to attract new businesses to the 
area as well as retain employment. As a result a 
strategy to improve the existing stock in addition 
to creating opportunities for new build (see 
employment land) is key. The shortage of units 
for manufacturing uses should be considered in 
planning terms to help to ensure that uses are 
not too orientated towards out-of-town retail or 
low value storage activity. 

Whilst the impacts of Covid-19 on demand for 
units is likely to be significant in the short-term, 
with the return to market normality dependent on 
the broader economic health and recovery; there 
is still a need to ensure there are suitable 
commercial premises available.  



5. Town Centre & High Street 

9

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

Gosport’s town centre is in need of 
substantial regeneration with better links to 
the waterfront to draw in more local and 
tourist visits and provide a greater range of 
property uses.

At present The town centre only has a 
limited B-class employment role (B1 
offices) and there is also a lack of evening 
economy activity making the town feel less 
safe and empty after 6pm. 

The low levels of growth within the micro 
and small business size bands in Gosport 
could be in part addressed by creating a 
flexible workspace offer to also encourage 
collaboration and create more animation in 
the town centre. 

The High Streets Heritage Action Zone 
(HSHAZ) is a positive opportunity; building 
on the town’s heritage assets and helping 
to provide better signage/pedestrian flow 
to and from the waterfront. 

The HSHAZ also includes the repurposing 
of Gosport Old Grammar School with the 
reinstatement of the local museum and 
gallery, a STEM based adult education 
programme. 

At present there is limited appeal within 
the town centre for the visitor market. 
Whilst the HSHAZ may make a difference; 
the considerable impact of Covid-19 on 
the retail and hospitality sector means that 
interventions are needed to stop further 
decline. 

The evening, office and visitor economy is 
extremely limited and without intervention 
is unlikely to grow and less likely to 
survive the on-going economic shock. 

The lack of flexible workspace in Gosport 
will further flatten the growth levels of 
business start-ups and micro businesses. 

There is a need to improve the towns connection 
to the waterfront. An important element of this is 
the Bus Station site which was long been 
highlighted as a constraint. There is a continuing 
need to promote the redevelopment of this site 
for an attractive mixed-use commercial, leisure 
and residential scheme.

In addition, there are is also the potential for 
developments around the Ferry Terminal, 
including linking to the town centre and the Bus 
Station redevelopment. 

The High Street HAZ will help to  maximise the 
town’s historic assets, creating more of a 
different and independent town centre. 

Flexible workspace will help to attract more 
people to the town centre who in turn would use 
the facilities at lunch-time or after work. 

Further High Street residential development can 
also support the retail sector and develop a 
much needed evening / leisure economy offer



10

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

The waterfront, harbour and naval heritage 
are key assets and can attract more visitors 
and create an attractive environment for 
local residents. 

Gosport is in a good geographic position in 
the Solent for increasing harbour and 
marina usage for leisure vessels as well as 
supporting major maritime events. The 
marinas could provide growth opportunities; 
most likely through mixed-use schemes that 
broaden uses on the sites and increase 
values.

The anticipated drop in overseas visitors to 
the UK during summer 2020 and maybe into 
2021 is likely to put considerable pressure 
on tourism and support sectors.  However, 
with an expected increase in domestic 
visitors, there is an opportunity to position 
Gosport more strongly for the domestic 
market.

Following Covid-19, the leisure and tourism 
sector in Gosport may require considerably 
more support than other sectors.

Attracting tourists is a competitive business. 
As a result, there is a need to offer a range of 
quality products, from accommodation to 
eating establishments. The lack of a good offer 
will limit Gosport’s ability to attract more 
visitors especially those involving overnight 
stays. 

Whilst the marinas in Gosport attract high-net 
worth individuals, there are limited retail and 
leisure services to encourage significant visitor 
expenditure. With limited disposable income in 
Gosport, increasing expenditure through the 
visitor base is key to supporting the growth of 
existing businesses. 

Visitor spend and footfall is critical to the 
regeneration of the town centre and to also 
retain resident spend in Gosport rather than it 
leaking to neighbouring authorities. 

Without putting in place physical 
improvements to the waterfront, marinas and 
diversifying the offer; total spend is likely to 
decrease further leading to a spiral of more 
business closures. 

The strategy should focus on improving the 
‘product’; by providing a better range of 
hospitality and leisure offer and improving 
the connectivity and signage for the 
different heritage assets / attractions. This 
includes the coastal assets / beaches.

Gosport’s existing strategy of working in 
partnership with Portsmouth on joint 
tourism initiatives is considered 
advantageous and the consultation 
highlighted that Portsmouth Harbour (with 
Gosport) should be promoted as one single 
entity which could help significantly 
improve Gosport’s positioning externally.

The considerable naval heritage assets in 
Gosport are not fully maximised, and a 
number of them are mothballed. There is 
considerable potential for better exploiting 
the military history of the town – and 
ensuring greater protection and access to 
the historic assets. 

6. Tourism & Capitalising on Gosport’s Waterfront
Capitalising on the Gosport Waterfront



11

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

The proportion of Gosport’s resident 
population (16-64) educated to degree 
equivalent (NVQ4) is well below the sub-
regional and national average. 

Gosport’s educational assets include the 
Defence School of Marine Engineering 
and St Vincent College. In addition, the 
Centre of Excellence for Engineering, 
Manufacturing and Advanced Skills 
Training (CEMAST) is within very close 
proximity of the Gosport LA boundary and 
is viewed as a local asset. 

In the future, the repurposed Gosport Old 
Grammar School will include a  centre for 
engagement in STEM based science 
subjects as well as delivering adult 
education programmes.

With 3 universities (Portsmouth, 
Southampton & Solent) in close proximity 
to Gosport, these institutions are key in 
supporting higher level skills. Solent 
University is home to the Warsash School 
of Maritime Science and Engineering

Employees with appropriate STEM skills 
are difficult to find and retain.  Difficulties 
in recruiting skilled and local staff leads 
to employers recruiting more from 
outside the area, contributing to peak 
time travel difficulties.

Importantly, difficulties in recruiting may 
stymie local employment growth and 
lead companies to relocate in the search 
for new talent and deter new investors to 
Gosport. 

Improving local skills outcomes is also 
important to help address low 
productivity levels locally.  If not 
addressed, productivity levels in Gosport 
are less likely to improve. 

The Defence School of Marine 
Engineering at HMS Sultan is a 
considerable educational asset and is 
also used by the private sector.  The 
future departure of the Royal Navy from 
the site may impact on the on-going 
presence of this School.  The loss of 
such an asset would be of huge 
detriment to Gosport.

A close relationship with employers can help to 
develop stronger linkages between employers 
and education (at all levels). This includes in 
areas such as work readiness and ensuring the 
curriculum keeps up with the needs of industry, 
particularly as it becomes increasingly digital. 

Other areas where closer collaboration is 
required between employers and education is in 
‘work-readiness’ and placements. Positive and 
planned placements can help increase levels of 
skills and aspiration. This is an opportunity to 
build on the work of the Solent Careers Hub.

Whilst CEMAST was perceived as an important 
educational asset  bordering Gosport, the 
consultation highlighted that more could be 
delivered in terms of marine engineering, design 
engineering and software development skills -
presently there is more focus on automotive and 
aerospace. 

Increasing employability of local residents and 
the ability to attract new investors is key. The  
Defence School of Marine Engineering is a 
considerable educational asset which can be built 
on to increase skills levels and help deliver the 
Maritime EZ. 

7. Skills Development



12

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

A key challenge for Gosport in the years 
ahead is the projected increase in the 
population aged 65 and above.  This is 
also likely to lead to more requirements for 
expenditure on social and care services.

In addition the ‘flattened profile’ of the 
estimates of the Working Age population in 
Gosport in the years ahead will also have 
an impact on the locally based available 
workforce. 

Gosport’s ageing population is likely to 
further impact on local levels of economic 
productivity which are already low. 

The low growth rate of Gosport’s Working 
Age population (1%)  may impede the ability 
of employers to recruit from a sustainable 
pool of labour. A lower proportion of a  
Working Age population is also likely to have 
a negative effect on local retail expenditure. 

The strategy to mitigate the effects of a 
declining Working Age Population is to 
ensure there are greater diverse career 
opportunities (particularly digital tech related) 
for young people in Gosport in terms of both 
housing and employment. A long-term 
approach is required to address this problem. 

The potential to attract young people to move 
to Gosport will be based on creation of the 
types of employment opportunities locally 
they aspire to as well as providing 
appropriate housing. 

In parallel to attracting young people to 
Gosport, the older members of the workforce 
should be encouraged to stay in the 
workforce through support programmes, 
flexible working arrangements, etc. 

8. A Changing Demographic



13

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

Poor access to and from Gosport was 
mentioned frequently throughout the 
consultations and also has been raised in 
previous consultations; the Stubbington Bypass 
was seen as key in helping to ease this issue.

Gosport’s waterfront access has been 
mentioned frequently as providing the 
opportunity for creating additional water bourne 
transport in addition to the existing 
Portsmouth/Gosport ferry. 

The issues raised relating to poor 
access have been cited as 
discouraging business investment in 
the Borough. In addition, the issue is 
compounded by Gosport’s high levels 
of out-commuting.

The considerable increase in 
home/flexible working as a result of 
Covid-19 is likely to continue as a long-
term trends. 

This is not a transport strategy and as a 
result highways measures are not part of the 
recommendations, but there is clearly a need 
to improve access in and out of Gosport. 

The use of water based transport has been 
cited in the Gosport Infrastructure Investment 
Plan and Coastal Communities Investment 
Plan and should be  examined further.  In 
addition, the Solent LEP’s Delivery Plan 
2020-21 Strategy highlights a private sector 
led proposal for water taxi use on 
Southampton Water. 

9. Access



14

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

Gosport is the smallest local authority in the 
Solent by population size and a small entity in 
its own right. As such, a collaborative approach 
with relevant partners is more likely to make an 
impact than acting in isolation. 

The absence of a sub-regional approach to 
attracting inward investment to the area means 
that Gosport is unlikely to attract new 
investment to the Borough unless a co-
ordinated and joint approach is undertaken. 

There are considerable benefits in having a 
joint CEO with Portsmouth Council. However,  
establishing a new ‘vehicle’ that can help to 
shape and influence economic policy and 
develop stronger links with national 
organisations  should be explored. 

The existing  Gosport Task Force is an 
opportunity to ascertain how this ‘vehicle’ could 
be resourced in order to ensure a greater level 
of influence and deliver a programme of activity 
to benefit the locality. 

Without more resources and 
establishing more formal collaborations 
on joint projects (e.g. areas such as 
inward investment and meeting 
housing targets) there is a risk that 
Gosport will miss out on opportunities 
to not only attract new businesses to 
the area but that land allocation will be 
used for housing instead of 
employment uses. 

The perception of Hampshire and the 
wider South East as being an area of 
affluence means that Gosport may find 
it harder to be successful in bidding for 
government and other funding. 

The lack of resources to undertake 
strategic business engagement activity 
is likely to lead to opportunities for 
growth and further investment being 
missed as well as potentially the impact 
of more businesses moving out of the 
Borough. 

Gosport’s collaborative approach with 
partners such as those on the Solent EZ and 
on tourism activity with Portsmouth as well as 
housing initiatives with PfSH have worked 
well. The strategy should be to ensure a 
collaborative approach is taken where 
possible. 

Whilst a collaborative approach is 
fundamental, there is also a need for Gosport 
to have a mechanism for delivering economic 
and regeneration programmes. The existing 
organisational structure may not provide the 
most effective delivery route and as such the 
strategy should be to examine the most 
effective delivery mechanisms. 

10. Organisational Structure & Resources 



15

Issue & Opportunity Impact & Do Nothing Strategy

There is an opportunity for Gosport to 
present a stronger and clearer voice not 
only within the Solent LEP but to 
government in order to ensure Gosport 
maximises funding and investment 
opportunities.

Issues such as levels of deprivation and 
employment opportunities can get lost at a 
Hampshire and Solent level within the 
wider context of the perception of regional 
affluence in the South East.

If Gosport does not make its ‘voice’ 
heard, it is likely that future government 
funding will continue to be focussed on 
wider geographic areas of deprivation 
(for example the North East) and that 
Gosport will become an even more 
deprived and overlooked area in the 
South East. 

Gosport needs to ensure it has a strong position 
within the Solent to help influence investment 
decisions as well as supporting the case at a 
national level. 

Gosport needs to create a strong narrative 
relating to its economic disadvantages in order to 
ensure that as funding opportunities become 
available, the Council and its partners can readily 
make a strong business case for investment.

The narrative should focus on the rebalancing of 
the economy following the on-going displacement 
of the MOD. This can highlight the strong 
potential for growth and clear benefits of targeted 
investment in the MOD sites after the military 
uses. 

Maximising Gosport’s potential could also include 
working with high profile business people born in 
Gosport. These include: Stuart Rose, former 
Exec Chair of M&S;  Nicholas Baldwin, former 
CEO of E.ON & Chair of the Office for Nuclear 
Regulation and Sir Christopher Gent, former CEO 
of Vodaphone.

11. Building a Strong Narrative to Government



16

1. Increasing Job Density & Creating Diverse Employment Opportunities

Short-Term 1. A strategic account management programme needs to be established and resourced by Gosport Council. Key companies 
to include in this programme include: QinetiQ, StandardAero and STS Defence.

2. The defence industry is more likely to be resilient to economic shocks and as such exploring opportunities with these 
employers to identify new investment opportunities is critical. 

3. Gosport Council has sought to protect waterfront employment sites and this needs to continue to ensure that there are 
on-going opportunities for marine sector businesses, without encroachment from incompatible uses. 

Medium-Term 4. Gosport Borough Council should explore opportunities to re-vitalise a sub-regional inward investment approach.
5. Gosport assets used by companies outside the area present the Council with an opportunity to develop wider 

relationships with businesses with a view to attracting them to Gosport. Assets such as the marine testing facilities at 
QinetiQ are already used to attract international customers to the area in partnership with DIT.  Private sector businesses 
with training linkages with CEMAST (in Fareham) and the Defence School of Marine Engineering should be identified and 
these relationships maximised. 

2. Strengthening the Marine, Maritime & Defence Industries 

Short-Term 6. Ensure Gosport is well represented in Solent Maritime, the MEZ Consortium as well as Maritime UK and others. 
7. Where priorities for Gosport are identified in the MEZ; ensure clarity and analysis is available for progressing projects 

(e.g.  a Master Plan for the relevant sites such as Fort Blockhouse - see following page)
8. Ascertain how the Gosport Task Force can be maximised to provide a stronger voice not only locally but nationally. 
9. Identify influential and well connected individuals who can provide a stronger ‘voice’ in relation to Gosport’s marine and 

maritime industry. This should include the Royal Navy as well as high profile relevant business personalities (see later 
section). 

10. Support the development and growth of the MEZ and encourage research and investment in Gosport through this 
programme. Gosport’s waterfront assets can be key sites within the MEZ.

11. The 3 Solent LEP universities are key in supporting innovation and the take-up of new technologies, with other important 
organisations including the Defence and Security Accelerator. Gosport Council should establish strong relationships with 
each of these organisations.

12. Build on existing relationships with employers such as QinetiQ, and  Advanced Marine Innovation Technology Subsea to 
position Gosport’s expertise in cutting-edge technologies. 

Medium-Term 13. The take-up of digital technologies by the defence industry could facilitate Gosport Council’s engagement with non-
traditional defence suppliers (i.e. digital companies) in creating local supply chain opportunities. 

Recommendations



17

3. Employment Land – MOD

Short-Term 14. The existing Gosport Task Force which includes representatives from the MOD (Ministry of Defence), DIO (Defence 
Infrastructure Organisation), One Public Estate and the Ministry of Justice should be considered in terms of how it could 
be supported with more resources and a new structure to help establish it as a more influential group to help ensure the 
delivery of employment use at MOD sites.  

15. The MOD and DIO should be considered as a key part of the Council’s strategic business engagement activity. This 
means not only the existing relationships with the MOD’s individual site Commanders but also relationships with the 
MOD and DIO at a Head Office level. 

16. Masterplans of the MOD sites should be developed, which includes identifying opportunities for co-location of uses, as 
well as options for the sites if the MOD leaves. In particular there is an urgent need for a strategy and masterplan for the 
Fort Blockhouse site, with the MOD potentially reducing its presence in 2021.

17. Encourage the MOD sites to incorporate appropriate non-military employment uses on site, including collaborations with 
private sector partners to develop further floorspace and repurpose existing space.

18. The Government’s major review of the defence industry (March 2020) which will also address how defence ‘might better 
drive investment and prosperity across the UK’ is an opportunity for Gosport to strengthen linkages with the MOD. 
Gosport Council needs to keep up-to-date with how this review is developing in order to identify potential opportunities 
for Gosport. 

19. Whilst other neighbouring Local Authorities may also find it difficult to allocate housing land (particularly given the 
nitrates issue), there is an opportunity for closer collaboration on housing allocation through PfSH. 

4. Commercial Property 

Short-Term 20. Map the ownerships, lease lengths of units across Gosport. Engage with owners (particularly where there is ageing or 
difficult to let stock) and understand the opportunities for investment or willingness of owners to dispose of freehold 
interests.

21. Identify leases coming to an end and which are held by warehousing and retailing occupiers that could be re-purposed 
for manufacturing use.

22. Private sector investment into the built estate should be tracked (not just occupancy rates) and become an area of 
focus. This will help to ensure that Gosport becomes an area for which management information is consistently 
reported, with the appropriate objectives set and actions taken.

23. The interest in serviced office/shared space stock in recent years (typically for less than 200 sq. m.) is an opportunity to 
identify suitable space in the town centre and other locations. 

Recommendations



18

4. Commercial Property cont.

Medium-Term 24.  Explore the opportunities and identify potential funding for repurposing older buildings at the Solent EZ. In 
collaboration with Homes England, the  Council should look at means of addressing the viability constraints of 
developing the brownfield Solent EZ land within Gosport’s boundaries. 

Long-Term 25.  Gosport could develop stronger relationships with developers and agents in order to help put Gosport ‘on the map’ so 
as to attract more investment. In addition the potential for a joint stand at MIPIM UK with PfSH for example could be 
explored. 

5. Town Centre & High Street 

Short-Term 26.  Gosport Council is in the process of identifying the town centre landlords. Developing a relationship with these 
landlords provides an opportunity for identifying vacant units that could provide local workspace, drop-in-support 
centres and pop-up shops. The latter will help in creating the environment for a stronger and more varied retail offer.

27.  Retail uses should where possible be positioned for the town centre rather than out of town.  
28.  Whilst the High Street HAZ will create a programme of events, opportunities to tie in with major events in Portsmouth 

and provide a ‘fringe’ and smaller offer should also be considered in partnership with Portsmouth Council. 
29.  The programme of HSHAZ related events has the potential for evening activity, but this will need to be considered in 

the context of ensuring effective evening public transport and discussed with local operators.  Evening services are 
also more likely to encourage the growth of restaurants, bars etc. 

30.  The opportunities for creating a small residential offer on the bus station site should be re-examined as part of a 
mixed-use scheme. 

31.  Revitalisation opportunities within the town centre are likely to be led by uses other than B-class employment uses 
(e.g. leisure, residential, retail), though Gosport Council should look to encourage some B1 offices within a mixed-use 
scheme. In addition, collaborative and flexible workspace should be considered as part of an office offer. 

Medium-Term 32.  Gosport lacks a broad range of visitor accommodation. Gosport Council could identify suitable sites, develop a hotel 
proposition and proactively target mid-market hotel brands. 

Long-Term 33.  Gosport Council’s town centre assets should be reviewed to identify consolidation opportunities that could release 
more development sites within the town centre.

Recommendations



19

6. Tourism & Capitalising on Gosport’s Waterfront

Short-Term 34. There is a limit to how much Gosport’s considerable heritage assets are currently ‘packaged’ and so Gosport does not 
fully maximise opportunities for attracting tourists from Portsmouth and beyond. This should be explored with the area’s 
attractions and services. 

35. Examine the potential for putting in place public transport facilities / cycling / walking routes between the different 
attractions and from the ferry terminal. 

36. Gosport’s naval heritage is an important differentiator and as such Gosport Council’s relationship with the MOD and 
DIO (see MOD Sites section) should be used to its full advantage in terms of further facilitating the relationship with 
Historic England to ensure the that these assets can be maximised.

37. Low season visitors could be increased by further promotion of assets that do not rely on warmer weather (e.g. 
museums).

38. There is an active base of volunteers supporting the heritage attractions and museums, but this important resource 
needs to be structured more effectively to maximise these valuable resources.  Examine how this has worked 
effectively in other locations (e.g. Amble, Northumberland – see case study in evidence base report) and put in place a 
more effective structure.

Medium-Term 39. The visitor offer at Lee-on-the-Solent should be broadened to increase the array of cafes, restaurants, leisure retail 
and accommodation facilities (which are presently limited) to support day visitor and overnight visitor markets, taking 
advantage of its attractive beachside location.

7. Skills Development

Short-Term 40. Ascertain from local employers gaps in the local/nearby educational offer and then identify how these could be 
delivered locally.

41. Use existing linkages with educational establishments as well as developing new linkages with those outside the 
Borough to gain an understanding of the training courses provided, apprenticeships (including Higher 
Apprenticeships) delivered etc. 

42. Work with CEMAST to identify openings for developing a wider training offer to meet the needs of engineering based 
employers. 

43. An understanding needs to be gained of the potential position of the Defence School of Marine Engineering once the 
Royal Navy vacates or reduces its presence HMS Sultan. Work with the MOD to ensure the School’s on-going future 
(particularly given the School’s existing links with private companies) should be a priority for the Council. This could be 
explored within the context of the Maritime EZ’s ambitions to establish a Maritime Enterprise Academy for example. 

Recommendations



20

7. Skills Development cont.

Medium-Term 44. Work with local schools and colleges to promote local career opportunities (i.e. industry career factsheets, work 
placements etc) to residents, such as those in marine engineering and defence.

45. Develop relationships with the careers offices at the three neighbouring universities, not only for work placements to 
support graduate employment locally. 

46. Where there are gaps in local provision, explore opportunities to working with the neighbouring universities to create 
a small but tailored educational offer to build on local delivery. 

8. A Changing Demographic

Short-Term 47.  The increasing trend in the defence, marine and manufacturing/engineering industries to take-up new digital 
technologies is an opportunity for Gosport to attract related businesses to the area and this should be addressed as 
part of Gosport’s inward investment and business engagement strategy.

Medium-Term 48. There is the opportunity for Gosport Council to work more closely with its technology led businesses and local 
universities in Portsmouth and Southampton to increase the take up of student work placements by local employers. 

49. The potential for creative attractive but affordable apartments on the seafront should be explored further in relation to 
market interest and planning issues.

9. Access

Short-Term 50. The Gosport Infrastructure Investment Plan has highlighted the potential for an expanded water based transport 
offer, serving multiple waterfront locations in Gosport and potentially joining up with elsewhere along the Solent. 

51. As the LEP’s 2020-21 Delivery Plan highlights the opportunity for a pilot water taxi programme in Southampton 
Water, this could be an opportunity for Gosport and other coastal local authorities to influence the broadening out of 
this pilot to serve a larger geography.

10. Organisational Structure & Resources 

Short-Term 52.  The Gosport Task Force clearly represents a key opportunity for Gosport to grow its influence within the MOD and 
other government bodies at a national level. As such the opportunities should be explored within the Council as to 
how this could be better resourced and structured more effectively to deliver long-term positive outcomes for the 
Borough. 

Recommendations



21

10. Organisational Structure & Resources cont.

Short-Term 53. Identify different delivery models (e.g.  Urban Development Corporations or a variation on an Urban Regeneration 
Company) that would be most appropriate for delivering economic development and regeneration programmes. 

54. Gosport’s limited resources means that opportunities need to be identified for working more collaboratively with the 
Solent LEP, Hampshire County Council and use of more joint resources through Portsmouth Council for example. 

55. Identify existing funding streams (e.g. HAZ) that could be used for building resources as well as opportunities for 
secondments (e.g. Hampshire County Council, Maritime UK etc).  

56. Identify resources that could be re-directed to provide an effective strategic account management process.

Medium-Term 57. Establish the potential for creating a collaborative approach to delivering inward investment activity at a PfSH, 
Hampshire County Council or Solent LEP geography. Structures, protocols and resources will need to be 
considered and agreed

11. Building a Strong Narrative to Government

Short-Term 58. Set-out the Gosport narrative (accompanied by the relevant data) so that all partners and influencers are clear on 
the messages and the information can be readily available to provide context to projects developed for funding calls 
(see below). 

59. Develop a number of projects which are ‘oven-ready’ for funding calls.  This could include a number of key projects 
such as those listed below:

▪ Fort Blockhouse Masterplan
▪ HMS Sultan Masterplan 
▪ Bus Station redevelopment
▪ Build on the Defence School of Marine Engineering at HMS Sultan to secure its future
▪ Improvements to coastal defences
▪ Improving linkages to the water front
▪ Improved connectivity between the different tourist/heritage attractions

60. Identify potential Gosport ‘alumni’ who could support the Council to create a stronger voice and increase national 
connections. An alumnus with naval or wider MOD links should also be identified. 

Recommendations



Proactive and longer-term 
economic development 
and regeneration is 
difficult to undertake 
within a structure that 
must deal with 
continuous short-term 
cycles

Appendix 1 – Agency Structure

Economic Development Delivery

In the current economic environment there is a 
need for business engagement to understand 
opportunities and pro-active project development 
in order to ensure that ‘oven-ready’ schemes are 
in a position to gain Government / private funding 
as the economy shifts to a recovery approach 
(post Covid-19).

Semi-autonomous structures

Proactive economic development and 
regeneration activity is difficult to prioritise within 
a standard Local Authority structure. In many 
cases an economic development department is 
identified as a conduit for a wide variety of tasks 
and the urgent can often detract from identified 
longer term strategic work.

To deal with such a scenario, it is common for 
economic development and regeneration delivery 
to be placed within an agency type structure, but 
still remain wholly within the Local Authority.

The key difference is that longer term objectives 
are set (generally annually) and the ‘agency’ then 
focuses on their delivery.

22

The agency has day-to-day autonomy, but 
key decisions (especially in areas requiring 
expenditure) are still made by the Council.

In many cases such a structure will also 
involve a private sector board for oversight 
and to help develop and deliver strategic 
aims.

Other benefits include:
▪ Branding can elevate the importance of the 

economic development and regeneration 
functions

▪ The agency approach is often perceived as 
demonstrating a ‘can do’ approach by 
private investors

▪ Clear targets can create a focus for activity
▪ Economic development is better defined 

within an area and its economic priorities
▪ Economic development and regeneration 

are removed from the vagaries of short 
term political & electoral cycles

▪ Regional and sub-regional partners can be 
“tied-in” to the agency at governance, 
delivery and project/funding levels

▪ Budgets have greater security through 
presence of a multi-year ‘service level 
agreement’ approach



FINAL 
 Economic Development Strategy 

Evidence Base 

Gosport Borough Council 

August 2020 

1 



Contents   

2 

Chapter Subject Page 

1 Introduction and Approach 4 

2 Data Review 5 

3 Educational Attainment & Skills, FE & HE 17 

4 Key Sectors & Industry Trends 20 

5 Property Market 28 

Appendices 

I Comparators – Employment by Industry & Profiles 33 

II Consultation Feedback 41 

III Consultees 50 

IV Commuting – Labour Market Patterns 51 



The purpose of this 
Strategy is to provide a 
framework for the future 
growth and diversification 
of Gosport’s economy 
 
 
 

Chapter 1: Introduction and Approach  

Introduction & Approach 
 
Gosport Borough Council is developing its 2021-
2031 Gosport Economic Development Strategy. 
This Strategy will provide the framework for 
future growth and diversification of Gosport’s 
economy. Delivery priorities will be set within the 
context of the Solent 2050 Strategy and Gosport 
Infrastructure Investment Plan. 
 
The starting point of this commission was to 
undertake a review of the existing evidence base; 
identify gaps in the data and then secure a better 
understanding of economic performance, drivers 
of growth and causal factors by undertaking a 
detailed stakeholder engagement exercise (see 
Appendix).  
 
A large amount of the data is already available 
and a number of reports have informed the work.  
These include:  
  
 Gosport Economic Profile 2019 
 Solent Economic Profile 2019 
 Solent LIS Emerging Evidence Base 2019 
 Gosport Infrastructure Investment Plan 2019 
 Economic Development Land Study 2018 

3 

In order to avoid duplication this report updates 
existing data where required and includes new 
data such as the Index of Multiple Deprivation.  
This report also includes data at more detailed 2 
and 4 digit SIC Codes.  
 
Comparators  
 
In order to provide a benchmark for Gosport, key 
data is included on four comparator locations to 
help indicate in which areas Gosport is 
performing/under-performing so as to provide 
context to some of the local issues.  
 
The following Local Authorities have been 
chosen due to their coastal locations combined 
with a larger urban centre nearby. These are: 
 
 Wirral 
 South Tyneside 
 East Riding of Yorkshire 
 Medway 
 
In addition, Kirkcaldy and Amble are included as 
case studies due to the recent launches of 
waterfront initiatives to reconnect these 
significant assets to their town centres.  



Gosport is a densely 
developed location with a 
marine heritage – 
employment land is at a 
premium although the 
Daedalus site offers both 
housing and employment 
land – with further 
potential at  Fort 
Blockhouse/ Haslar 
 
 

Chapter 2: Data Review  

Overview 
 
Chapter 2 sets out the detailed data as well as 
key findings from recent reports. However, to 
summarise, at a high-level Gosport has:  
 
 A very constrained urban form for both 

employment land and housing. 
 A retail function across the town centre which 

has suffered decline. 
 Low median gross workplace and resident 

earnings with a recent decrease in earnings. 
 Residents who will earn more by out-

commuting with Gosport’s median annual 
gross workplace earnings having decreased 
by 2% compared to 2014 earnings. 

 High levels of outbound commuting. 
 Low levels of educational attainment 

compared to the regional/sub-regional 
average, as well as one which ranks Gosport 
number 47 out of 317 local authorities in the 
education domain of the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation. 

 A  number of local businesses unable to grow 
in the Borough due to space constraints with 
some loss of businesses to Fareham.  

 A very high occupancy rate for commercial 
premises. 

4 

Whilst there is a high occupancy rate for 
commercial premises and resident 
unemployment is lower than the national 
average; employment within Gosport 
workplaces has declined and there is a strong 
outbound commuting pattern – predominantly 
to Portsmouth and Fareham. This commuting 
pattern and the road infrastructure leads to 
congestion in and out of the town. 
 
Sector employment strengths include paper 
(Huhtamaki); engineering related employment 
(StandardAero and also the engineering 
facility at HMS Sultan) and marine related 
activities.  
 
A graph showing sector size, relative 
strengths and employment growth in the wider 
economy is shown overleaf. 



5 

Sector employment 
strengths include paper 
(Huhtamaki), 
engineering related 
employment  
(StandardAero and the 
engineering training 
facility at HMS Sultan) 
and marine related 
activities 

Data Review 

Graph: Productive 
sectors employing 
>350 people in 
Gosport 
 
Key: LQ compares 
proportion of 
employment to 
English average; size 
of bubble refers to 
total employment 



The low growth rate of 
Gosport’s working age 
population (1%) may 
impede the ability of 
employers to recruit from 
a sustainable pool of  
local labour 

Demographics 

In 2018 Gosport’s estimated population totalled 
85,300 of which 52,335 were of working age (16-
64). The estimated population of the Solent is 
1.26m which increased by 6.1% since 2010 
compared to Gosport which only grew by 3.6%.  
By comparison, the populations of the South East 
and UK grew at rates of 7.1% and 6.3% 
respectively.  
 
A key challenge for Gosport in the years ahead is 

6 

the projected increase in the population aged 
65 and above.  This increase in the ageing 
population is likely to impact on the levels of 
economic productivity locally. 
 
The flattened profile of the estimates of the 
working age population in Gosport with an 
estimated reduction from 2028 could also 
make it more challenging for employers to 
recruit from the local resident base.  
 

Population Projections by Age, Gosport 

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

Source: Population Estimates Local Authority by Single Year, NOMIS, 2019 



The low growth rate of 
the working age 
population in Gosport 
combined with the  
decreases in all the 
neighbouring authorities 
apart from Portsmouth 
and Southampton is likely 
to further impact on the 
ability of employers 
outside of the cities to 
easily recruit staff 

Demographics 

The chart below (Solent Economic Profile, 2019) 
indicates the change in working age population 
between 2010 and 2018 within the Solent Local 
Authorities; with the size of the bubble relating to 
the proportion of change within the total working 
age population.  
 
Of note is the contrast between the small rate 

7 

of growth of the working age population in 
Gosport compared to the cities of Portsmouth 
and Southampton.  However, the contrast is  
even more notable with Havant, Isle of Wight 
and the New Forest – all of which had a 
decrease in their working age Population.  

Solent LEP Local Authorities Working Age Population 

Source: Solent Economic Profile, Lichfields, 2019 



Gosport’s number of total 
employee jobs remained 
stable between 2015 and 
2018, compared to 6.3% 
growth in Eastleigh and a 
decrease of 1.7% in 
Southampton 
 

The Business Base – Total Jobs 

There is a total of 20,000 employee jobs in 
Gosport, a number which remained constant 
between 2015 and 2018 apart from in 2016 when 
there were an additional 1,000 employees. The 
industries that increased the most in employment 
were: manufacturing of paper; architecture & 
engineering activities; and food & beverage. By 
contrast, the most significant sub-regional 
changes in employee jobs were in Eastleigh 
which increased by 6.3% (from 63,000 to 67,000) 
and Fareham which decreased by 5.9%. 

8 

Total Employee Jobs, % Change 2015-18, 
Gosport, Solent LEP & other Comparators 

The 2019 Gosport Economic Profile sets out the 
area’s strengths at a broad industry level through 
Location Quotients (LQs). LQs help to ascertain 
an area’s sector strengths in terms of density of 
employment relative to the national position so as 
to provide a better understanding of the 
comparative advantage of a locality. LQs of over 
2.00 indicate that Gosport has double the 
proportion of employees in a particular industry 
compared to the national average for England.  
 
At a broad industry level, the top 3 industries 
highlighted in the Gosport Economic Profile as  
representing the highest LQs are: manufacturing 
(1.7); construction and accommodation & food 
sectors (both at 1.4).   
 
The report highlights that ‘ICT’ and ‘professional, 
scientific & technical’ are relatively under 
represented in Gosport relative to the Solent, 
South East and UK averages and so may be 
impacting on the Solent’s lower GVA rate. 
 
Examining industry strengths at a 2 digit 
Standard Industrial Classification provides a 
more detailed understanding of Gosport’s 
strengths (see following page).  

Source: BRES from NOMIS, 2018 
-8%

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

C
ha

ng
e 

20
15

-2
01

8 



Gosport has a nationally 
significant proportion of 
employment in the 
manufacture of paper & 
paper products – over 15 
times higher than the 
national average. Also of 
note is scientific R&D 
which represents over 4 
times a higher rate of 
employees than the 
average for England 

The Business Base – Concentration of Industries 

Industries Representing Over 2% of Total Employees in Gosport, 2018  

9 

Industries at 2 Digit SIC (Standard Industrial Classification) Gosport No.  % Employees 

25 : Manufacture of fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment 500 2.5 

33 : Repair and installation of machinery and equipment 700 3.5 

43 : Specialised construction activities 600 3.0 

46 : Wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles 500 2.5 

47 : Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles 2,000 10.0 

52 : Warehousing and support activities for transportation 400 2.0 

56 : Food and beverage service activities 1,750 8.8 

71 : Architectural and engineering activities; technical testing and analysis 450 2.2 

72 : Scientific research and development 400 2.0 

84 : Public administration and defence; compulsory social security 1,250 6.2 

85 : Education 2,500 12.5 

86 : Human health activities 1,000 5.0 

87 : Residential care activities 1,250 6.2 

88 : Social work activities without accommodation 500 2.5 

Industries at 2 Digit SIC (Standard Industrial Classification) Gosport LQ Solent LQ 

13 : Manufacture of textiles 4.5 0.8 
17 : Manufacture of paper and paper products 15.9 0.8 
18 : Printing and reproduction of recorded media 2.9 0.9 
25 : Manufacture of fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment 2.3 1.0 
33 : Repair and installation of machinery and equipment 9.3 3.0 
50 : Water transport 2.4 13.4 
72 : Scientific research and development 4.2 1.6 
87 : Residential care activities 2.6 1.0 

LQs of >2.0, Gosport & Solent, 2018  

The three industries by 2 digit SIC code that represent the highest proportion of employees in Gosport 
are: retail trade; education and public administration and defence.  

Sources: BRES from NOMIS, 2018 



The proportion of micro 
and small businesses in 
Gosport has increased at 
much lower rate (13%) as 
the average for the Solent 
and England  (27% and 
28% respectively) 

The Business Base – Business Profile 

10 

Total Local Units by Employment Size Band, Percentage Change 2010-2019 

The considerably smaller proportion of growth in 
micro businesses in Gosport compared to the 
Solent and England may indicate a lack of 
entrepreneurship locally. It is also likely to be 
compounded by the lack of available start-up 
business space as well as a shortage of 
business support generally.  
 
The Gosport Economic Report (2019) sets-out 
business survival rate trends for start-ups from 
2012. Survival rates for start-ups in Gosport, the 
Solent and the UK were high in Year 1, but by 
Years 3 and 5, Gosport business survival rate 
declined in contrast to the comparators.  In Year 
5, the number of businesses surviving in Gosport 
was 41.3% compared to 44.4% for the Solent as 
a whole.  

Sources: UK Business Counts, NOMIS  

Employment Size Band Gosport No. 2019 Gosport % Change Solent % Change England % Change 

Total 2,345 12% 24% 25% 

Micro (0 to 9) 1,955 13% 27% 28% 

Small (10 to 49) 320 0% 12% 13% 

Medium-sized (50 to 249) 60 20% 11% 11% 

Large (250+) 5 0% 0% 6% 

The table below indicates the number of 
business units in Gosport by employment size 
band and change since 2010. A local unit is an 
individual site associated with an enterprise.   
 
The growth of total units in Gosport represents a 
growth rate that is half that of the Solent’s. Whilst 
there has been an increase in the number of 
business units, the largest increase in the 
number of local units in Gosport has been by 
medium sized units - unlike the Solent and 
England as whole. Gosport has a considerably 
higher proportion of its medium sized units 
represented by the public sector (42% compared 
to 26% in the Solent) and the large units in 
Gosport are all represented by the public sector.   



Total GVA is calculated 
at the national level and 
then estimated by 
apportioning output to the 
local level – as a result, 
this data   
needs to be treated with 
caution when developing 
an economic strategy 

Total GVA (Gross Value Added) in Gosport is around £1bn (2017). GVA measures the contribution to 
the economy of each industry and is calculated at the national level and then estimated by apportioning 
output to the local level. This results in the data effectively being a local estimate and as such should 
be treated with caution in determining the conclusions drawn in developing an economic strategy. Both 
the Gosport Economic Profile 2019 and the Solent Economic Profile contain considerable information 
on GVA and as such, only key points from each report have been included in the following two pages.  
 

11 

Gosport Total Output (GVA) by Broad Industrial Sector, as Proportion of Total GVA 
  

Source: Gosport Economic Profile 2019  

GVA £1bn in 2017 



Economic Output and Productivity 

12 

Gosport’s total output is £1bn (2017) with the 
sectors representing the most significant 
proportion of output (GVA) being ‘real estate 
activities’ and manufacturing (Gosport Economic 
Profile, 2019). Gosport’s economic output 
represents the smallest output in the Solent LEP 
area as a whole (£30.5bn). 
 
The Gosport Economic Profile notes that the real 
estate sector which accounted for over £250 
million (over a quarter) of the economy is mostly 
made up of owner occupiers’ imputed rents and 
not activities associated with real estate 
businesses. In 2017, Gosport’s manufacturing 
industry accounted for just over 15% of GVA. 
 
With a total GVA of around £1bn in 2017 Gosport 
was the smallest economy in the Solent LEP area 
but this is also reflected by it being the smallest 
local authority in the Solent in terms of both 
residents and employees.  
 
Small areas, such as local authorities, can be 
subject to very large distortions and this should 
be borne in mind when interpreting the statistics 
as an indicator of relative economic prosperity.  

GVA Per Head  
 
GVA per head relates the value added by 
production activity in a region to the resident 
population of that region. This can be subject to 
distortion due to the effects of commuting and 
variations in the age distribution of the population. 
However, it does provide a measure for 
comparative analysis. Gosport has the lowest 
GVA per head by local authority in England.  
 
 
 
Local Authority, 
England 

GVA Per 
Head 

Total 
Population  

Gosport 
South East £13,620 84,672 

East Northamptonshire 
East Midlands £14,281 89,746 

Weymouth & Portland 
South West £14,311 65,166 

South Tyneside 
North East £14,341 148,671 

Gedling 
East Midlands £14,441 115,889 

Source: Regional Gross Value Added (Income Approach, ONS 2015  

GVA Per Head by Lowest 5 Local  Authorities,  
England   

In relation to GVA per 
head, Gosport is the local 
authority in England with 
the lowest GVA per head –  
whilst this provides a 
comparative measure, this 
data should also be 
treated with caution 



Resident Occupations 

13 

In relation to the occupations of Gosport’s 
residents; professional occupations are less well 
represented locally compared to all the other 
comparators apart from Portsmouth.  Whilst the 
proportion of ‘associate professional and 
technical’ occupations is similar to the average for 
England; this proportion is higher than for the 
Solent as a whole.  Gosport has a higher 
proportion of employees in ‘skilled trade 
occupations’ (e.g. metal, electrical & electronic 
and construction supervisors) category than all 
other comparators. 

Whilst Gosport has a 
lower proportion of 
residents in ‘professional 
occupations’ than the 
majority of comparators; 
the proportion within this 
grouping increased 
locally from 12.1% in 
2011 to 18% in 2019 

 
 
In comparing percentage change in occupational 
groupings since 2011, the categories that 
increased the most were:  ‘professional 
occupations’ (5.9 percentage points); caring, 
leisure etc (3.1 percentage points); and skilled 
trades (2.9 percentage points). 
 
There was a slight decrease in the number of 
occupations within the groupings of ‘managers, 
directors etc’ and ‘plant operatives’ of 1 and 1.3 
percentage points respectively. 

Occupations  Gosport Fareham Porstmouth Winchester Solent South  
East England 

1: managers, directors and 
senior officials 

4,700 11.1 8.8 10.5 19.8 10.1 13.3 11.7 

2: professional occupations  7,500 18.0 23.1 17.8 25.1 19.6 22.8 21.5 

3: associate prof & tech 6,100 14.6 16.8 14.4 18.1 13.9 16.2 14.7 

4: administrative and 
secretarial occupations  

! ! 13.4 9.7 8.1 10.1 9.5 9.6 

5: skilled trades occupations 6,200 14.8 7.4 10.9 8.0 10.4 9.0 9.9 

6: caring, leisure and other 
service occupations  

5,200 12.5 7.5 8.5 5.5 10.2 8.7 8.9 

7: sales and customer service 
occupations  

4,800 11.5 7.7 8.5 2.6 7.6 6.7 7.0 

8: process, plant & machine 
operatives 

3,200 7.6* 2.9 9.1 3.8 6.7 4.8 6.2 

Occupations by Standard Occupational Classification (SOC2010),Gosport Neighbouring Authorities 
and Regional Comparators, 2019 

! Estimate and confidence interval not available since the group sample size is zero or disclosive (0-2). * Estimate and confidence interval 
unreliable since the group sample size is small (3-9). Source: Annual Population Survey 2019  



Resident & Workplace Median Annual Gross Earnings 

14 

In considering earnings in Gosport and 
neighbouring authorities, 2018 data has been 
used instead of 2019 d. This is because the 2019 
figures for Gosport and Fareham are suppressed 
due to them being ‘statistically unreliable’. The 
data has been considered for the neighbouring 
authorities of Fareham, Portsmouth and 
Winchester as these are the ones representing 
the highest level of out-commuting from Gosport.  
 
Whilst Gosport residents’ median salaries are 
similar to those in Portsmouth, resident earnings 
in neighbouring Fareham are 12.5% higher than 
those in Gosport.  Median workplace annual 
gross earnings are higher in all of the three local 
authorities representing the largest number of 
Gosport net out-commuters, with the most 
significant differentiator being in Winchester 
where workplace earnings are 21.7% higher than 
in Gosport.  On average, median workplace 
earnings in the Solent are 6.4% higher than those 
in Gosport. 
 
In terms of median workplace earnings between 
2014 and 2018, Gosport salaries in 2018 
decreased to £27,372 from £27,998 in 2014. This 
is in contrast with the median workplace salary in 
Fareham which increased by 10.2% for example. 

Gosport residents will 
earn more by out-
commuting and Gosport’s 
median annual gross 
workplace earnings in 
2018 decreased by 2% 
compared to 2014 - from 
£27,998 to £27,372 in 
2018 

0
5,000

10,000
15,000
20,000
25,000
30,000
35,000
40,000
45,000

Source: Annual survey of hours and earnings  - resident 
& workplace analysis, NOMIS 

Median Annual Gross Earnings,  
Residents 2018  

0
5,000

10,000
15,000
20,000
25,000
30,000
35,000

Median Annual Gross Earnings,  
Workplaces 2018  

£ 

£ 



Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 

15 

The IMD ranks Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) in England from 1 
(most deprived area) to 32,844 (least deprived area). The adjoining map 
illustrates the LSOAs in Gosport and the IMD rank and decile is 
included below. 1 represents the 10% most deprived (the darkest blue) 
and 10 being the least 10% deprived (the palest blue).  
 
Gosport is ranked no. 130 out of 317 local authorities (with no. 317 
being the least deprived) in England with the most significant 
deprivation domain (ranked at 47) relating to ‘Education, Skills & 
Training’. This domain measures the lack of attainment and skills in the 
local population and reflects the ‘flow’ and ‘stock’ of educational 
disadvantage within an area respectively. 

Education, Skills & 
Training ranks as the 
domain representing the 
highest level of 
deprivation in Gosport – 
ranked no. 47 out of 317 
English Local Authorities 
(No.1 being the most 
deprived) 

Map Indicating Deprivation by 
LSOA, Gosport 

Note: IDACI Rank – Income Deprivation Affecting Children     IDAOPI – Affecting Older people 

Index of Multiple Deprivation – Gosport Dashboard, 2019 



Chapter 3: Educational Attainment & Skills 

16 

The IMD highlights Gosport’s high levels of 
deprivation relating to skills ‘Education, Skills & 
Training’. The proportion of Gosport’s resident 
population (16-64) educated to degree equivalent 
(NVQ4) and above is the lowest of all the local and 
regional comparators. This is also the case for the 
comparators in other regions (see Appendix 1). 

At 18.9%, Gosport has 
the lowest proportion of 
working age residents 
educated to NVQ4+ 
compared to selected 
neighbouring local 
authorities and regional 
comparators 

 
 

The Gosport Economic Profile (2019) indicates 
that school performance in Gosport at 
Progress 8 (a measure of school performance)  
is below the national and Hampshire average. 
Under Progress 8 any positive value implies 
that the school as a whole does on average 
better at Key Stage 4 than the national 
(England) average.   

Location % with  
NVQ4+ 

% with  
NVQ3+ 

% with  
NVQ2+ 

%  
with NVQ1+ 

% with other 
qualifications 

(NVQ) 

% with no 
qualifications 

(NVQ) 

Gosport 18.9 46.3 69.8 88.4 4.7* 6.9* 

Fareham 39.7 60.9 80.9 90.7 7.4 1.9 

Havant 22.1 40.5 64.9 82.2 9.9 7.9 

Portsmouth 35.6 57.7 75.6 86.6 6.5 6.9 

Southampton 38.1 62.2 77.9 88.0 6.2 5.8 

Winchester 47.6 71.0 85.1 94.1 3.8 2.2 

Solent 35.7 58.0 76.5 88.9 5.9 5.2 

South East 42.2 61.8 78.9 89.2 5.2 5.6 

England 39.0 57.7 75.0 85.6 6.8 7.6 

* Estimate and confidence interval unreliable since the group sample size is small (3 to 9). 
Source: Annual Population Survey, NOMIS, 2019 

Educational Attainment by Working Age Population (16-64), Gosport, Selected Neighbouring Local 
Authorities, Solent LEP, Regional & National Comparators, 2018 



FE and HE 

17 

Further Education 
 
Gosport’s local FE provision includes St. Vincent 
College and Fareham College’s CEMAST (Centre 
of Excellence for Engineering, Manufacturing and 
Advanced Skills Training) located at the Daedalus 
airfield in Lee-on-the-Solent. The latter’s training 
and facilities (Ofsted rated as  ‘Outstanding’ in 
2017) are focused on amongst other areas: 
aeronautical & aerospace; electrical & electronic 
engineering; marine engineering; manufacturing 
and CAD/CAM.  
 
Industry partners include: BAE Systems, GE 
Aviation and Wartisila (smart technologies and 
lifecycle solutions for the marine and energy 
markets).  
 
St Vincent College has been steadily improving 
over the last few years, and achieved a ‘Good’  
rating in the 2018 Ofsted inspection.  
 
The College is now ranked in the top 10% of all 
colleges for Vocational Level 3 provision in each of 
the past four years. The College offers BTEC Level 
3 in Applied Science but not in engineering 
disciplines. The College offers Foundation 
Degrees in Early Years Care and Education and 
Learning Support. 

CEMAST’s ‘outstanding’ 
rated engineering training 
centre which has 
partnerships with BAE 
Systems, GE Aviation 
and others, could provide 
Gosport opportunities to 
engage with notable 
engineering companies 

 
 

In addition, Gosport based HMS Sultan is 
home to the Defence School of Marine 
Engineering and the Royal Naval Air 
Engineering and Survival School. The former 
delivers the Institute of Marine Engineering, 
Science & Technology (iMarEST) HE 
accredited courses.  
 
Higher Education 
 
There are three universities in close proximity 
to Gosport.  
 
University of Portsmouth 
 
The University was rated TEF ‘Gold’ in the 
2019 Teaching Excellence Framework. 
Schools include: 
 School of Mechanical & Design Engineering 
 School of Energy & Electronic Engineering 
 School of Computing 
 School of Mathematics & Physics 
 
In the REF (Research Excellence Framework 
2014); 61% of its Aeronautical, Mechanical, 
Chemical and Manufacturing Engineering 
research was assessed as ‘world-leading or 
internationally excellent’.  
 
 



FE and HE continued… 

18 

The University also has a Future Technology 
Centre with research expertise in additive 
manufacturing.  
 
Southampton University 
 
Southampton is a Russell Group university located 
within a 45 minute drive time of Gosport. Over 96% 
of their research was assessed as ‘world-leading’ 
and ‘internationally excellent’ in the REF 2014. 
 
Ocean and Earth Science, based at the National 
Oceanography Centre was Ranked 2nd in the UK 
for its proportion of research recognised as world-
leading (4*) and 93% of the overall submission was 
judged as world-leading or internationally 
excellent. 
 
Southampton University is home to the Lloyd's 
Register Foundation University Technology Centre 
in ship design for enhanced environmental 
performance. 
 
Other research centres include: 
 Centre of Excellence for In-situ and Remote 

Intelligent Sensing 
 Southampton Marine and Maritime Institute 

 

Local university R&D 
expertise in engineering, 
electronics, computing as 
well as testing and 
simulation facilities 
presents openings for 
Gosport to build strong 
relationships in order to  
support local businesses 
to innovate   

 
 

 Zepler Institute for Photonics & 
Nanoelectronics 

 
In addition, the Wolfson Unit provides 
consultancy services to the marine and 
industrial aerodynamics sector including: 
experimental model testing; marine design 
software and full scale trials. 
 
Solent University, Southampton 
 
Solent University is home to the Warsash 
School of Maritime Science and Engineering. 
The latter has the UK's largest ship and port 
simulation centre in addition to an engine room 
simulator. 
 
Other areas of research include materials 
science and additive manufacturing; acoustics; 
computer networks, immersive technologies, 
multimedia communication, and software 
engineering. 



Chapter 4: Key Sectors - Marine and Maritime Industries 

19 

The marine and maritime sector is a key strategic 
sector for the Solent LEP.  The Solent LEP 
Evidence Base (July 2019) highlights that 
estimates of the economic impact of the Solent 
maritime sector comprises at least £5.5 billion GVA 
in 2015, equivalent to 19.3% of the Solent LEP 
economy, 2.2% of the South-East economy and 
0.3% of the entire UK economy.  
 
The LEP’s Progress Update (December 2019) on 
its Solent 2050 Strategy has as a key priority to: 
‘enhance the marine and maritime cluster, 
attracting innovative engineering and advanced 
manufacturing industries to the area’. 
 
Gosport has three marinas and boatyards. It is 
home to both Clipper Ventures and Alex Thomson 
Racing.  
 

Enhancing the marine &  
maritime sector in the 
Solent is a key priority in 
the LEP’s emerging  
Solent 2050 Strategy  

 
 

The marine and maritime industry in Gosport 
(excluding defence) employs an estimated 115 
employees in total (see table below).  
 
This small number of employees is likely to be 
an under-representation of the local marine 
and maritime industry and may omit marine 
engineering related businesses registered 
under another SIC Code for example.  
 
The following page highlights a selected 
number of marine and maritime related 
employers as well as local units by size band. 
Employers range from manufacturers of 
marine underwater systems to sail makers; 
and from indigenous businesses to foreign 
owned companies.  The industry is 
characterised by micro-businesses.  

Industry Gosport No. and % of Total 
Employees 

Solent 
 % 

England 
 % 

3011: Building of ships and floating structures 20 0.1 0.1 0.1 

3012: Building of pleasure and sporting boats 75 0.4 0.1 0.0 

5010: Sea and coastal passenger water transport 20 0.1 0.5 0.0 

5020: Sea and coastal freight water transport 0 0.0 0.1 0.0 

Source: BRES, NOMIS 

Marine Related Employment, Proportion of Total Employees, 4 Digit SIC Code, Gosport & Comparators 2019 



Marine and Maritime Industries 

20 

Gosport has a diverse 
base of marine and 
maritime related 
businesses – ranging 
from the manufacture of 
underwater engineering 
systems to sail 
manufacturers 

 
 

Company Name Activity 
Advanced Marine Innovation 
Technology Subsea  

Development of innovative marine and underwater engineering systems for the marine, 
oceanographic and offshore oil and gas industries.  

Marine Tech Engineering  Marine engineering services covering all aspects of custom design, installation, refit, service, 
maintenance, repair and diagnostics. 

Mathison Engineering Precision engineering and manufacturing to the marine industry. 

AC Marine and Composites  Manufacture of composite components for boat building and manufacture of tidal turbine blades 
and tidal flow buoys. 

Crewsaver  Manufacturer of lifejackets and other safety equipment. Part of the multinational Survitec Group. 

Marina Projects  Specialist marina consultancy with clients worldwide and an office in Hong Kong to support its 
Asia Pacific operations. 

S.W. Marine Engine installation from 16metre ocean going ribs to complete build power sending boats 
installed with engines such as Caterpillar engines, Cummins and Perkins. 

Clarence Marine 
Engineering  Marine engineering & maintenance. 

North Sails Making of sails for one-design and Olympic classes and it also manufactures more cruising sails 
than any sailmaker in the world.  It has operations in 29 countries with its UK HQ in Gosport. 

Palfinger Marine  Austrian owned manufacturer of deck equipment and handling solutions. 

Selden Masts  UK production operation of the Seldén Group – one of the world’s leading manufacturer of 
masts, spars and rigging systems in carbon and aluminium for dinghies, keelboats and yachts. 

Clipper Ventures HQ, training centre and the base of the Clipper Race fleet.  
Marine Power & Servicing Small marine engineering company with a branch workshop & servicing operation in Gosport.  

Selected Marine and Maritime Related Employers, Gosport 

Industry Total Micro (0 to 9) 

3011 : Building of ships and floating structures 5 5 

3012 : Building of pleasure and sporting boats 5 5 

5010 : Sea and coastal passenger water transport 5 5 

Column Total 15 15 
Sources: UK Business Counts, NOMIS 

Selected Local Units by 4 Digit SIC Code and Employment Size Band, 2019 



Marine & Maritime – Industry  Trends 

21 

Autonomous Systems & Digital Transformation 
 
Big Data and analytics are clearly key in helping 
to address decarbonisation measures. Other 
technologies such as robotics, Artificial 
Intelligence, Augmented/Virtual Reality all present 
opportunities for improving efficiencies such as in 
optimising supply chains and for use in predictive 
maintenance. Autonomous systems and digital 
transformation are highlighted as opportunities for 
building on existing strengths in the Hampshire 
2050 Vision For the Future.  
 
The growth of autonomous shipping is also a new 
trend; with the UK Hydrographic Office (UKHO) 
estimating that by 2030 the global autonomous 
shipping sector will be worth £111bn and 
employing 554,000 people.  
 
The trends in digitisation are likely to encourage 
tech companies and start-ups to bring digital 
innovation into the industry.  An example of an 
organisation working to support this is ‘Start-up 
Wharf’ (based in London).  This represents an 
independent virtual hub devoted to maritime 
innovation which is encouraging tech 
entrepreneurs from a wide range of backgrounds 
to support the maritime industry.  

The main trends 
impacting on the marine 
& maritime industry are 
targets to reduce the 
industry’s greenhouse 
gas emissions by at least 
50% by 2050 and 
increase the take-up of 
digital technology  

The main trends affecting the marine and 
maritime industry are the pressures to reduce 
carbon omissions and increasing the uptake of 
new technologies, particularly in the digital field.  
 
Decarbonisation 
 
The International Maritime Organization (IMO) 
target is to reduce the industry’s greenhouse 
gas emissions by at least 50% by 2050.  
 
This target is putting pressure on the industry to 
reduce emissions not only by using different 
fuels but also by using digital technologies to 
manage data more accurately to measure 
efficiency, fuel consumption and emissions. 
Batteries in short-sea markets and on-shore 
power supply are seen as playing an important 
role in reducing the dependency on fossil fuels.  
 
In the UK, the Lloyd’s Register (based in 
Southampton) is leading on decarbonising the 
industry with the UK’s University Maritime 
Advisory Services and other partners. This 
includes areas such as energy development, 
digitisation and vessel design. 



Marine & Maritime Industry Trends 

22 

UK Maritime 2050 Strategy  
 
The importance of the UK maritime industry and 
the need for transformation to meet challenges 
and opportunities such as decarbonisation and 
Brexit,  is highlighted in the Department for 
Transport’s (DfT) Maritime 2050 Strategy 
(launched January 2019). The trends outlined in 
the previous page such as digitisation are 
recognised in Maritime 2050 and as such the DfT 
has put a considerable emphasis on technology 
within its Maritime Strategy. Key plans are to: 
 
 Transition to zero-emissions shipping 
 Diversify the workforce (due to over reliance on 

labour from Eastern Europe) 
 Set out a commitment to ship automation and 

remote operation 
 
As part of the Government’s support for 
encouraging innovation in the maritime industry, it 
launched the UK’s first Maritime Innovation Hub 
at the Port of Tyne in July 2019. The purpose of 
this ‘Hub’ is to encourage collaborations to meet 
technological industry challenges. Partners 
include Port of Tyne, PD Ports, Nissan, the 
Connected Places Catapult, Accenture, Royal 
HaskoningDHV and Ubisoft.  

The MEZ is a key 
opportunity for Gosport 
and the Solent to 
maximise their maritime 
strengths and to 
‘underpin the Solent as 
the leading global 
maritime region’  

 
 

Sub-Regional Context  
 
The Solent LEP has positioned the marine and 
maritime industry as a priority sector. The 
economic contribution of the Maritime Sector in 
the Solent LEP (CEBR, 2019) indicates that in 
2017 the Solent’s Maritime sector and 
Portsmouth Naval Base supported £12bn in 
turnover, £5.8bn in GVA; representing 152,000 
jobs and £2.5bn in employee compensation’. 
 
The importance of the marine and maritime 
sector is also highlighted in the Hampshire 2050 
Vision and the Portsmouth Economic 
Development & Regeneration Strategy (2019-
36).  
 
The  Solent Maritime Enterprise Zone (MEZ) is 
positioned as providing the ‘development of the 
coastal estate and the renaissance of coastal 
communities’, bringing together local maritime 
assets and creating an opportunity for Gosport.  
 
In July 2019, the  Solent LEP launched Solent 
Maritime, a new body established to bring 
together the Solent’s marine and maritime 
strengths and assets and champion the region 
as a globally significant maritime hub. 



The Defence Industry 

23 

The defence industry in Gosport according to 
BRES (4 Digit Sic Code) data employed 600 staff 
in 2018; representing 3% of total employees 
compared to the average for the Solent of 0.6% 
and Portsmouth 1.4%.  
 
Between 2015 and 2018, defence employment in 
Gosport grew by 20%, remained at the same level 
in Portsmouth (3,000 employees) and increased 
by 50% for the Solent as whole. However, with  
the potential downsizing of MOD naval activity in 
Gosport, levels of employment in this sector could 
reduce in the near future. 
 
In terms of business units, by the four digit 8422 
‘Defence Activities’ SIC code, the data indicates 
that Gosport has 5 local business units, a number 
that has stayed constant at 5 for every year 
between 2010 and 2019.  However, it is important 
to note that businesses may use different SIC 
Codes to register their local operations and as 
such may not figure under the 8422 SIC Code.  
 
Defence Activities  
 
The Gosport Economic Review 2019 notes that 
according to Ministry of Defence (MOD) figures 
for April 2019, there were 1,710 service personnel 
in Gosport. MOD civilian figures were 580.  

Gosport’s defence 
industry represents a 
higher proportion of total 
employees than 
Portsmouth; indicating 
the importance of this 
type of employment in the 
Borough 

 
 

The MOD at HMS Sultan is the primary 
defence employer. HMS Sultan is also home 
to the Defence School of Marine Engineering 
and the Royal Naval Air Engineering & 
Survival School.  The centre also provides 
engineering training for a number of private 
sector companies including Railtrack.  
 
The Nuclear Department within HMS Sultan  
has a range of training facilities including a 
Basic Principles Simulator (to illustrate the 
dynamic response of the plant) plus  
laboratories used to provide practical training 
in radiation science, chemistry, materials and 
thermal hydraulics. 

Defence Employment as a Proportion of Total 
Employees, 4 Digit SIC Code, 2019 

8422 : Defence activities 

Gosport 3.0 

Portsmouth 1.4 

Solent 0.6 

South East 0.2 

England 0.2 

Source: BRES, NOMIS 



The Defence Industry – Private Sector Employers 

24 

The main private sector defence related 
employers in Gosport include US owned 
StandardAero (following the acquisition of Vector 
Aerospace in 2017) QinetiQ and STS Defence.  
 
StandardAero’s site represents Military, Energy 
and General Aviation activities. The Gosport site 
is a large maintenance, repair and overhaul 
(MRO) facility and has 7 helipads. Capabilities 
include: plating, refinish/paint, composites and 
non-destructive testing. In order to facilitate the 
expansion of on-site activity, the company has 
been working with local universities and colleges 
to establish technician-training programs as part 
of their recruitment drive.  
 
QinetiQ has their Marine Consultancy and Test & 
Evaluation facility based at Haslar Marine 
Technology Park. The Haslar operation employs 
500 staff in the design, integration and operation 
of systems and equipment in surface ships and 
submarines.  
 
Facilities include a Diving & Hyperbaric Test 
Centre, Quiet Water Tunnel, Ship Tank and 
Ocean Basin – one of the largest tanks of its kind, 
used to test scale models of submarines, 
warships, commercial ships and yachts.   

Gosport has unique 
marine testing facilities 
which attract international 
customers to the area 

 
 

The Haslar facilities are managed by QinetiQ in 
a long-term partnership with the MOD. These 
unique facilities are being used to support the 
government’s defence export activity and to 
attract overseas customers to use the facilities.  
 
Another notable defence company STS  
Defence (owned by Key Technologies Group), a 
design and manufacturing electronics company 
headquartered in Gosport.  Local specialisms 
include: communications, electronics and 
intelligent systems for the defence, marine, 
aerospace and nuclear industries. The company 
has recently opened (2019) Research and 
Technology Centre in Gosport. STS Defence 
uses AI (Artificial Intelligence) in intelligent 
monitoring systems and industrial applications.  
There are 150 staff based at facilities in Gosport 
and Great Yarmouth (the latter being a 
manufacturing site).  
 
The Key Technologies Group states on its 
website that the company ‘is actively seeking 
acquisitions in its core markets, Defence and 
Homeland Security’. Further acquisitions by this  
Group could provide an opportunity for Gosport 
to attract consolidation projects and build on the 
company’s existing local presence.  



Defence Industry Trends 

25 

Global & Domestic Outlook 
 
The global aerospace and defence market is 
estimated to be valued at US$1600bn by 2025; 
growing at a CAGR (Compound Annual Growth 
Rate) of 3.5% in the period 2019 to 2025. (Global 
Newswire, January 2020).  
 
Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the industry 
outlook for 2020 was positive due to increased 
spend on military modernisation. Given the 
considerable increase in government funding 
around the world to address the impact of Covid-
19; analysis by firms such as PwC and Global 
Data anticipate that whilst there will be some 
impact; budgeted spending by governments is 
likely to safeguard the defence industry.  
 
However, a number of key defence contractors 
are putting in place measures to respond to any 
potential downturn in defence budgets. This  
includes QinetiQ who recently announced fiscal 
measures to reduce the impact of COVID-19, 
including postponing dividend announcements. 
 
In terms of global spend, the US drives the  
defence industry. The Middle East and Asia are  

Planned MOD 
expenditure from 2019 to 
2029 is £176.2bn; with  
£24bn allocated to 
‘Information & Services’ 

 
 

increasing defence expenditure, with Japan 
expected to be a key market. In Europe, a 
number of NATO members (e.g. France) are 
reportedly targeting to increase defence 
spending to 2% of GDP (2020 Global 
Aerospace and Defense Industry Outlook  
Deloitte). 
 
UK Expenditure 
 
For 2020/21, the MOD’s allocated budget is 
£41.5bn and contribution to NATO is at 2.1% of 
GDP.  The UK is the 2nd largest defence 
exporter in the world (source: Defence 
Industries in Numbers, MOD, 2019). 
 
Planned expenditure from 2019 to 2029 is 
£176.2bn, with the two largest categories of 
expenditure allocated to Submarines (£46.7bn) 
and ‘Information & Services’ (£24bn). 
 
In March 2020, the government announced a 
major review of the defence industry (led by  
MOD) to ‘revitalise the UK’s defence and 
security industrial sectors and improve 
productivity’. In addition, the review will also 
suggest how defence ‘might better drive 
investment and prosperity across the UK’.  



Defence Industry Trends cont/… 

26 

Technological Drivers 
 
This major government review of the UK’s 
defence industry includes an examination of how 
the industry is being impacted on by technological 
change and the ensuing need for greater 
innovation, partnerships and collaborations. 
 
This emphasis follows on from the government’s  
Defence Technology Framework (September 
2019) which emphasised the need for the industry 
to adopt new technologies such as Artificial 
Intelligence, Big Data analytics, robotics and  
autonomous systems. 
 
The Defence Technology Framework and the 
current review of the UK’s defence need to 
increase the use of new technologies is likely to 
lead to more emphasis on collaboration with 
industry, universities and international partners.  
 
The need for innovation is also likely to 
encourage more engagement with non-traditional 
defence suppliers (i.e. digital companies). The 
local universities such as Southampton University 
are likely to be key to help support such 
engagement as well as other organisations such 
as the Defence and Security Accelerator (DASA). 
 

The drive to encourage 
the adoption of new  
technologies within the 
defence industry is likely 
to lead to stronger 
collaborations with 
universities and 
innovative SMEs. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Chapter 5: Property Market - Overview 

27 

This chapter builds on the earlier work 
undertaken for the Joint Economic Development 
Needs Assessment and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment (2018) which provided 
an assessment of the commercial property 
market in Gosport.  
 
The 2018 analysis found that the commercial 
property market in Gosport was very tight. In 
particular, the need for good quality commercial 
units was urgent in Gosport. This shortage was 
most acute for industrial premises, rather than 
office units.  

The on-going shortage of 
modern industrial  
property is impacting on 
the ability of local 
businesses to expand 

Node Comments 

Solent EZ (Daedalus) A major node on the boundary of Fareham and Gosport. Most employment growth within the EZ 
has occurred within the Fareham site, though the Daedalus Park scheme is within Gosport and 
provides a range of new-build industrial/warehousing units.  

Fareham Rd Corridor A large range of industrial and warehouse units are located along this corridor, particularly in the 
north-west. This is not a single industrial estate, rather a range of premises attracted to the major 
road corridor. Units include larger premises (+5,000 sqm) 

Waterfront Employment units are located in several locations along the waterfront, including marine 
enterprises requiring direct access to the water, other engineering and office spaces. Pressures 
for other uses on valuable waterfront sites are likely to continue. 

Town Centre and 
Surrounds 

The town centre includes some B1 office space, including public sector offices and small private 
sector units. However, demand is lower than for dedicated business parks in surrounding local 
authorities.  

Good quality units that have become 
available have quickly been taken up.  
 
It is considered that many of the issues in 
place in 2018 are still prevalent in 2020. 
Overall vacancies appear to still be low for 
commercial premises, particularly modern 
units, with transaction volumes dampened 
due to lack of supply.  
 
The table below lists the key employment 
areas in Gosport.  

Gosport Employment Areas 



Property Market - Issues 

28 

The overarching issue impacting the commercial 
property market is the lack of capacity for 
growth; with limited choice of existing premises 
and lack of vacant employment land. This is 
impacting on businesses as they are unable to 
find premises to meet their requirements. With 
greater availability of commercial property in 
neighbouring authorities, there is a risk that 
businesses will relocate out of Gosport. 
 
The densely developed footprint of Gosport 
means that expansion options are limited. 
Recent new build has emerged at Daedalus 
Park within the Solent EZ but additional existing 
units within the Gosport boundary require 
substantial investment to repurpose older 
buildings. The MOD sites in Gosport are seen as 
potential areas for employment growth once they 
are vacated or the MOD reduces their on-site 
presence. However, there is uncertainty as to if 
and when this will happen, which means 
uncertainty for planning and businesses. 
 
Fort Blockhouse is in the shorter-term the site 
most likely to become partially available, and 
represents an opportunity for a mixed-use site 
with direct water access. HMS Sultan is likely to 

The overarching 
commercial property 
issue in Gosport is the 
lack of capacity to expand 
with the risk that 
businesses will relocate 
out of the Borough 

remain within the control of the MOD until the of 
the decade. There may however be the potential 
for incorporating non-military, private sector 
employment uses within surplus land/buildings 
whilst the site is still occupied by the MOD.  
 
The Gosport Infrastructure Investment Plan 
reviewed the key potential development 
opportunity sites at Daedalus, Fort Blockhouse, 
Victoria Quay (Royal Clarence Yard), Haslar 
Barracks, HMS Sultan and Royal Hospital 
Haslar. The review of sites included a summary 
of the opportunities and constraints for each site. 
in summary, the report stated that in many 
cases:  
“detailed technical work is required to more 
accurately determine site conditions and 
constraints, whilst initial masterplanning work is 
needed to test the potential feasibility of different 
uses and forms of development (particularly in 
relation to heritage issues which are relevant on 
all sites). Notwithstanding, it is clear that there 
are some significant barriers to delivery and 
viability challenges present on all sites, and that 
initial investment is needed to help unlock and 
accelerate their potential and ultimately leverage 
private sector investment.” 



Property Market - Issues 

29 

Additionally, the Gosport Infrastructure 
Investment Plan highlighted that the likely land 
values achievable in Gosport would not be 
sufficient to match the abnormal costs relating to 
infrastructure, in particular the heritage assets in 
poor condition. The Investment Plan highlighted 
a number of required potential infrastructure 
investments, including: tidal flooding defence 
works at the Gosport waterfront and improving 
vehicle access to and from the Gosport 
Peninsula. 
 
The Marine Industry 
The marine industry is of significant importance 
to Gosport and includes component 
manufacturing, refit and maintenance. Parts of 
the industry require direct deep water access so 
as to be able to lift vessels in and out of the 
water; undertake refits and servicing and for 
testing. Waterfront sites are valuable and rare; 
with pressure for other uses that could achieve 
higher values. 
 
Gosport Borough Council has sought to protect 
waterfront employment sites and will need to 
continue to ensure that there are opportunities 
for marine sector businesses to continue to work 
within such sites, without encroachment from 

Likely land values 
achievable in Gosport 
would not be sufficient to 
match the abnormal 
infrastructure and 
remediations costs 

incompatible uses.  
 
Gosport Town Centre 
The town centre is under-performing and only 
has a limited B-class employment role (B1 
offices). Revitalisation opportunities within the 
town centre are likely to be led by uses other 
than B-class employment (e.g. leisure, 
residential, retail), though the Council should 
look to encourage some B1 offices within a 
mixed-use scheme.  
 
Property Demand 
The demand for employment units within 
Gosport in recent years has been predominantly 
for industrial (B2 and B8) stock, as is illustrated 
in the graph overleaf. This graph indicates the 
overall volume of occupational transactions 
(leases and sales) since 2007 in square metres.  
 
It is noted that the volume of transactions has 
fallen in 2018 and 2019, which is considered to 
be primarily due to lack of available stock. 
During these two years, the transacted units 
were new premises at Daedalus Reach and a 
small number of larger secondary units at 
Fareham Reach and Fareham Business Park.  
 



Property Market – Demand 

30 

Importantly, the market has seen a wide range of unit sizes being transacted. While the bulk of demand 
is for smaller units, mid (1,000-2,000 sqm) and larger units (+3,000 sqm) have also been transacted 
and form critical parts of the property market. The demand for office units is for very small premises, 
typically less than 200 sqm. There has been good interest in serviced office/shared space stock in 
recent years.  
 
The impacts of Covid-19 on demand for units is likely to be significant in the short term, both for 
industrial and office space, with the return to market normality dependent on the broader economic 
health and recovery.  
 

The decrease in the level 
of transactions in 2018 
and 2019 are considered 
to be primarily due to lack 
of available stock 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

sq
m

 

Office Industrial

No. of All Property Transactions, 2007 – 2019 



31 

 
 

Appendices 



32 

Appendix I: Comparators – Employment by Industry 

Wirral, Medway, South Tyneside and the East 
Riding of Yorkshire are included as comparators 
to Gosport as they all have coastal towns and an 
adjacent large urban centre.  Whilst these 
comparators have a larger population than 
Gosport’s, they provide a useful benchmark in 
terms of indicators such as unemployment, 
proportion of working age population and 
educational attainment. Kirkcaldy is also included 
as it recently launched a regeneration project to  

revitalise the High Street by maximising its seafront. 
 
Gosport has the 2nd highest proportion of employees 
in manufacturing amongst the comparators; as well 
as the 2nd highest proportion of employees in ‘public 
administration & support services’.  Gosport has a 
higher proportion of employees in ‘professional, 
scientific & technical than three of the comparators 
and a considerably higher proportion of employees 
in education compared to the average for England.  

Industry Gosport South 
Tyneside 

East Riding 
of Yorkshire Medway Wirral England 

1 : Agriculture, forestry & fishing  0.0 0.1 2.8 1.1 0.2 0.6 
2 : Mining, quarrying & utilities  0.2 0.5 1.8 1.9 1.2 1.2 
3 : Manufacturing  12.5 11.9 15.2 7.4 7.9 8.0 
4 : Construction  4.5 6.0 4.0 6.4 4.0 4.6 
5 : Motor trades  1.5 2.4 1.8 2.1 1.7 1.8 
6 : Wholesale  2.5 3.0 3.6 3.7 3.0 4.2 
7 : Retail  10.0 9.5 9.6 9.6 11.9 9.4 
8 : Transport & storage (inc postal) 3.5 4.8 4.8 6.4 3.5 4.9 
9 : Accommodation & food services  8.8 7.1 8.8 6.4 6.9 7.5 
10 : Information & communication  2.5 1.7 2.4 2.4 1.5 4.4 
11 : Financial & insurance  0.8 0.8 1.0 3.2 1.0 3.5 
12 : Property  1.2 2.1 1.2 1.3 1.5 1.7 
13 : Professional, scientific & technical  7.5 4.2 6.4 4.8 7.9 9.0 
14 : Business administration & support services  5.0 8.3 6.4 8.5 6.9 9.2 
15 : Public administration & defence  6.2 4.8 6.4 4.3 5.0 4.0 
16 : Education  12.5 10.7 8.8 11.7 9.9 8.9 
17 : Health  15.0 16.7 12.0 14.9 22.8 12.7 
18 : Arts, entertainment, recreation & other services  4.5 4.8 3.6 4.3 5.0 4.5 

Proportion of Total Employment by Broad Industry, Gosport & Comparators, 2018  

 
Source: BRES from NOMIS, 2018  

Of all the comparator 
areas, Gosport’s resident 
population has the lowest 
proportion of educational 
attainment at NVQ Level 
4+   



Wirral Profile 

33 

Wirral’s maritime heritage is maximised via Wirral 
Waters, a 500 acre regeneration mixed scheme 
led by Peel (a property group). This includes 
plans for a Maritime Knowledge Hub; a £23m 
skills, training, commercial and cultural project 
which includes a business accelerator. 
 
Skills development has been critical to positioning 
the area for investment.  As well as Wirral Met 
College located at Wirral Waters (a new campus 
which opened in 2015); Liverpool John Moores 
University has its Maritime Centre in the Wirral, 
delivering maritime training including maritime 
simulation. This simulator is also being used for 
research activity. 
 

Gosport Wirral 

Total Population 85,300 323,200 

Aged 0 - 15 18.6% 18.7% 

Aged 16 - 64 61.4% 59.7% 

Aged 65 and over 20.0% 21.6% 

% with NVQ4+ - aged 
16-64 (2018) 

18.9% 35.1% 

Sources: Population Estimates, 2018 & Annual Population Survey, 
NOMIS, 2019  

Demographic Profile, Gosport & Wirral 

Whilst Wirral has a considerably larger population 
than Gosport’s it is a useful comparator given its 
peninsula location directly opposite Liverpool, 
with its major port and Post-Panamax Deep 
Water Container Facility.  Wirral has its own Ro-
Ro Terminal.  
 
Wirral has a similar unemployment rate to 
Gosport’s and is ranked lower (i.e. higher levels 
of deprivation that Gosport) in the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation.  Wirral has a considerably 
higher proportion of its residents educated to 
degree level and above that of Gosport. 
 
Employers include  include Cammell Laird (ship 
building & repair) and Orsted Operations & 
Maintenance. 

Gosport Wirral 

Total Employee Jobs 
(2018) 

20,000         101,000  

Job Density (2018) 0.50 0.61 
Unemployment Rate 
16-64 (Oct 2018-19) 4.8% 4.3% 

Economic activity rate 
(16-64) Oct 2018-19 

81.3% 79.9% 

IMD Local Authority 
Ranking 2019 130 77 

Total Employee Jobs; Job Density;  
Unemployment & Economic Activity; IMD 

Sources: BRES, Annual Population Survey & IMD 2019  

Local capacity in skills 
development has been a 
local driver in the Wirral 



Medway Profile 

34 

After South Tyneside and Wirral, Medway is the 
lowest ranking local authority in terms of its 
position in the IMD ranking. Despite Medway 
ranking as 98th of most deprived Local Authorities 
in England (compared to 130 for Gosport), the 
Medway has a lower unemployment rate than 
Gosport in addition to a higher proportion of 
residents educated to degree level and above.  
 
The Medway ports include Sheerness and 
Chatham which are run by Peel Ports. In 
December 2019 Peel L&P announced the expiry 
of leases in 2025 of industrial businesses based 
at Chatham Docks including Peel Ports. Chatham 
Docks port was becoming financially unviable due 
to the investment required in the infrastructure for 
the long-term. Peel Ports has plans to create a 

The lack of financial 
viability for the future of 
Chatham Docks has led 
to the decision to close 
the docks and re-develop 
it as a mixed-use site 

mixed-use scheme on the site including a mix 
of housing and employment uses as well as 
apartments; waterfront dining, shopping and 
high-tech new office and conference suites.  
 
The first phase of the Chatham Waters 
development (26 acres) represented an 
investment of c. £50m over 5 years. This 
phase included a new University Technical 
College (UTC), an ASDA superstore and a 
chain restaurant and pub. There are currently 
400 homes for rent and private sale under 
construction. The remaining part of the 
Chatham Docks Estate, is c75 acres. 

Gosport Medway 

Total Population 85,300 277,900 

Aged 0 – 15  18.6% 20.8% 

Aged 16 – 64 61.4% 63.2% 

Aged 65 and over 20.0% 15.9% 

% with NVQ4+ - aged 
16-64 (2018) 

18.9% 28.1% 

Gosport Medway 

Total Employee Jobs 20,000 94,000 

Job Density (2018) 0.50 0.63 

Unemployment Rate 
16-64 4.8% 3.6% 

Economic activity rate 
- aged 16-64 

81.3% 81.8% 

IMD Local Authority 
Ranking 130 98 

Demographic Profile, Gosport & Medway 
Total Employee Jobs; Job Density;  
Unemployment & Economic Activity; IMD  

Sources: Population Estimates, 2018 & Annual Population Survey, 
NOMIS, 2019  

Sources: BRES, Annual Population Survey & IMD 2019  



South Tyneside Profile 

35 

Of all the comparators, South Tyneside 
represents the most deprived Local Authority, 
ranked no. 26 in the IMD. South Tyneside has the 
highest rate (7.3%) of unemployment of all the 
comparators. Whilst the proportion of working age 
population is similar to that of Gosport’s, 
educational attainment in South Tyneside is 
considerably higher than in Gosport, with over 
30% of residents educated to NVQ4+ compared 
to 18.9% in Gosport.  
 
South Shields coastal town centre has suffered 
considerably over the last 10 years with a notable 
number of store closures. In order to address this 
reversal, the Council initiated the ‘365 Project’.  

The downturn in South 
Shield’s town centre has 
led the Council to 
develop a number of 
initiatives to revert its 
decline; including 
investment in 
infrastructure and cultural 
facilities 

 
 

Gosport South 
Tyneside 

Total Population 85,300 150,300 

Aged 0 - 15 18.6% 17.9% 

Aged 16 - 64 61.4% 62.1% 

Aged 65 and over 20.0% 20.0% 

% with NVQ4+ - aged 
16-64 (2018) 

18.9% 30.2% 

Gosport South 
 Tyneside 

Total Employee Jobs 20,000 42,000 

Job Density (2018) 0.50 0.51 
Unemployment Rate 
16-64 4.8% 7.3% 

Economic activity rate 
- aged 16-64 

81.3% 75.1% 

IMD Local Authority 
Ranking 130 26 

Sources: Population Estimates, 2018 & Annual Population Survey, 
NOMIS, 2019  

Demographic Profile, Gosport & South Tyneside 
Total Employee Jobs; Job Density; 
Unemployment & Economic Activity; IMD 

Sources: BRES, Annual Population Survey & IMD 2019  

This represents a £100m (Phase 1)  
redevelopment of South Shields town centre. 
Developments include The Word, National Centre 
for the Written Word (a cultural venue) and a 
public art installation celebrating South 
Tyneside's maritime connections with the rest of 
the world.  
 
In addition there has been investment in 
infrastructure.  The South Shields Transport 
Interchange which opened in July 2019 includes 
the expansion and refurbishment of the current 
Metro Station and a new Bus Station interchange 
facility linked to the centre of the South Shields 
Town Centre regeneration scheme. 



East Riding of Yorkshire Profile 

36 

Of all the Gosport comparators, the East Riding of 
Yorkshire is the location with the lowest level of 
deprivation in the Local Authority Index of Multiple 
Deprivation. It has an older population than 
Gosport and a lower unemployment rate.  
 
The administrative boundary of the East Riding of 
Yorkshire does not include Kingston upon Hull but 
includes the towns of Bridlington, Hornsea and 
Beverley. Bridlington is a notable shellfish port, 
with landings valued at c£7m per year.  
 
This comparator has a considerably larger 
population than Gosport and represents an  

The East Riding of 
Yorkshire has diversified 
into renewable energy 

 
 

Gosport East Riding 
of Yorkshire 

Total Population 85,300 339,600 

Aged 0 - 15 18.6% 16.4% 

Aged 16 - 64 61.4% 57.8% 

Aged 65 and over 20.0% 25.8% 

% with NVQ4+ - aged 
16-64 (2018) 

18.9% 33.4% 

Gosport East Riding 
of Yorkshire 

Total Employee Jobs 20,000 125,000 

Job Density (2018) 0.50 0.76 

Unemployment Rate 
16-64 4.8% 3.2% 

Economic activity rate 
- aged 16-64 

81.3% 80.3% 

IMD Local Authority 
Ranking 130 217 

economy mainly based on agriculture and 
tourism. The rural and maritime aspects and lack 
of major urban development have led to 
investment in energy generation schemes from 
renewable sources. 
 
Employment levels fluctuate over the course of 
the year with lower levels of unemployment 
during the summer months due to increased 
employment in the tourism and food production. 
However, over 1,000 civilians are employed at the 
Defence School of Transport at RAF Leconfield 
which trains 14,000 personnel from the Army, the 
Royal Air Force and the Royal Marines.  
 
  

Sources: Population Estimates, 2018 & Annual Population Survey, 
NOMIS, 2019  

Demographic Profile, Gosport & East Riding of 
Yorkshire 

Sources: BRES, Annual Population Survey & IMD 2019  

Total Employee Jobs; Job Density; 
Unemployment & Economic Activity; IMD 



Kirkcaldy, Fife Case Study 

37 

Kirkcaldy (population of 50,180) is a town in the 
unitary authority of Fife (population of 371,910) 
and is located 12 miles north of Edinburgh.  
Unemployment is 3% compared to 4.1% for 
Scotland as a whole.  50.6% of Kirkcaldy’s 
working age population is educated to NVQ4+ 
compared to 45.6% for Fife as whole and 43.9% 
for Scotland.* 
 
The town is a major service centre for the central 
Fife area with facilities including a leisure centre, 
theatre, museum & art gallery and ice rink. The 
service sector dominates the economy and 
manufacturing represents 11.7%* of total 
employment. Manufacturing businesses include 
Smith Anderson (paper packaging), Forbo 
Flooring and Whitworth Flour Mills.  
 
The town’s working harbour re-opened in 2011 
with financial support from the Scottish 
Government following 20 years of closure. This 
investment was to enable the delivery of wheat 
from ships to the Whitworth Flour Mills. 
 
Between April 2014 and April 2018, the town 
centre’s vacancy rate based on retail floor space 
increased by 11.5 percentage points* and this 
combined with the loss of major tenants such as 

Fife Council has recently 
launched a regeneration 
project to connect the 
High Street with the 
seafront in order to attract 
more visitors and 
increase town centre 
vitality 

 
 BHS and loss of vitality in the town led to in 
2019, the launch of the Kirkcaldy’s Waterfront 
Regeneration Project.  This £1.6m council 
funded project was established to improve the 
streetscape to make the area between the High 
Street and the waterfront more inviting. The 
project was developed with the Kirkcaldy 
Waterfront Group, the Kirkcaldy’s Ambitions 
Partnership, Kirkcaldy 4 All, residents and 
businesses. The scheme includes: 
 
 New road layout/signal-controlled pedestrian 

crossings to provide more pedestrian and 
cyclist friendly access 

 Altering the Esplanade to encourage more 
use of the outdoor space around key 
buildings 

 Constructing raised viewing platforms with 
shelters and seating 

 Improved public spaces offering outdoor 
seating and available for pop-up businesses 

 New street furniture, planting, lighting and 
better signage 

 
It is anticipated that this regeneration project will  
encourage more visitors to the town whilst  
creating a bustling and attractive waterfront with 
a retail offering. 

*Source: Kirkcaldy Economic Profile 2018 



Amble, Northumbria Case Study 

38 

Amble is a harbour town with a population of  
circa 6,000 people.  Amble’s prosperity originated 
from its role in serving local coalfields.  Sea 
fishing, ship building/repair were also important 
industries. By 1969, the port was no longer 
exporting coal and around the same period, the 
nearby airbase of RAF Acklington closed.  
 
These changes led to the decline of the town and 
in 1994 the Amble Development Trust was 
established with a mission to: ‘take a lead in most 
aspects of economic, social and community 
regeneration in partnership with other agencies’.  
 
Over the years, the Trust has worked with local 
partners to access funding including from the 
European Regional Development Fund, Defra 
and Northumberland County Council. The Trust 
has 300 members and five salaried staff and also 
works to improve digital skills, support the fishing 
industry and boost volunteering.  
 
Projects have included:  converting a pub into 
offices;  refurbishing the pier; Northumberland 
College locating to the town; the creation of a new 
town square as well as a new small apartment 
development.  The harbour development includes 
a restaurant & hotel (The Amble Inn) and 15 

The establishment of a 
community trust and a 
well organised volunteer 
network in Amble has 
been fundamental in 
changing its fortunes and 
reconnecting the town 
centre to the harbourside.  

attractive wood constructed ‘pods’. The latter 
are small spaces specifically for independent 
retailers. The quayside also includes the 
Northumberland Seafood Centre & Market. This 
incorporates a hatchery, where young lobsters 
are reared and then returned to the sea, both to 
support the fishing fleet and as a visitor 
attraction. 
 
These developments located on the quayside 
with its attractive coastal views have been used 
to encourage footfall from visitors with 
directional signage to explore the high street. 
Funding from the Coastal Community Fund was 
also used to link the harbour area to the town 
centre’s main thoroughfare to the harbour area 
so as to encourage visitor footfall to the high 
street.    
 
Following the loss of some major retailers from  
Amble over the last decade and local initiatives 
to make the town more attractive;  the majority 
of business in Amble town centre are now 
represented by independent traders.  In 2015,  
Amble was named the UK’s best coastal 
community in the Great British High Street 
Awards 2015.  



39 

 
 

Comparators – Conclusion 

The comparators of the Wirral, Medway, South 
Tyneside and the East Riding of Yorkshire all 
have a lower (i.e. more deprived) Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) Local Authority Ranking than 
Gosport apart from the East Riding of Yorkshire. 
 
Despite these lower rankings in relation to levels 
of deprivation; all these comparators have a 
higher level of educational attainment within their 
working age population than Gosport.  
 
Gosport has the lowest job density of the 
comparators. Job density is defined as the 
number of jobs in an area divided by the resident 
population aged 16-64 in that area (e.g. a job 
density of 1.0 would mean that there is one job for 
every resident aged 16-64. Apart from South 
Tyneside, Gosport also has the highest 
unemployment rate.  
 
The comparators also provide interesting 
examples of local initiatives.  The Wirral which 
was working to improve education outcomes, in 
2015 opened a new campus for Wirral Met 
College (offering degrees and foundation 
degrees) at the Wirral Waters. In addition, 
Liverpool John Moore’s University recently 
opened a Maritime Training Centre.  

The Wirral as well as Medway are both local 
authorities that are maximising their coastal 
locations to re-purpose sites for mixed-uses. The 
recently announced closure of Chatham Docks 
has been positioned as creating more housing, 
commercial, restaurants and retail developments. 
The 1st Phase of the Chatham Waters 
regeneration scheme was used to establish a 
University Technical College in Engineering, 
Construction and Design. 
 
The case studies of Kirkcaldy and Amble provide  
examples of towns which maximised their coastal 
positions to encourage more footfall to their high 
streets. This has been done by providing a 
stronger and more attractive physical connection 
between the high street and waterfront so as to 
attract more residents and visitors to help  
increase town centre vitality. 
 
In the case of Amble’s regeneration, a well 
organised group of volunteers came together to 
establish the Amble Development Trust (a 
registered charity). The Trust works with local 
partners to access funding including from Europe, 
Defra and the County Council. It now provides a 
structure for managing local volunteers and 
increasing local volunteering activity. 
 

Well organised voluntary 
groups can be effectively 
mobilised to drive local 
regeneration activity as 
has been the case in 
Amble 



The feedback from the 
consultation has been set 
out in a number of 
themes including 
employment land and 
partnership & 
collaboration 

Appendix II: Consultation 
  

The consultations were undertaken via one-to-
one telephone interviews. The consultations 
covered a range of topics and were not a rigid 
question and answer format, rather they were a 
semi-structured discussion relevant to the 
consultee’s background. A full list of consultees 
is included in Appendix III.  
 
It was widely considered among respondents that 
Gosport has a low profile in the sub-region, this is 
due to its geographic position at the of the 
peninsula and perceived as being in the ‘shadow’ 
of Portsmouth. 
 
The perception of Hampshire more broadly as a 
relatively affluent area, hides local pockets of 
deprivation, such as in parts of Gosport, which 
means that Gosport is missing out on support 
and investment.  
 
It was suggested that the Strategy should look to 
support and promote the environmental assets in 
Gosport, identifying ways that they can be 
enjoyed and visited in a sustainable, low-impact 
way.  
 
It was felt that there a lack of aspiration in the 
town – both by residents and the Council and as 

40 

such an ambitious vision was required.  
 
The following pages provide a summary of the 
findings that emerged from the consultations.  
These have been grouped together in a 
number of themes that were most frequently 
referred to during the course of the 
consultation:  
 

 Employment Land/Commercial 
Premises 

 MOD Sites 
 Housing 
 Access 
 Town Centre & High Street 
 Maximising Waterfront Assets 
 Tourism 
 Employment Growth  
 Skills 
 Partnership & Collaboration 

 
Access 
 
The poor access in and out of Gosport was 
mentioned frequently as has been raised in 
previous consultations. However, the 
Stubbington Bypass (construction has already 
commenced) was seen as a potential catalyst 



A significant number of  
consultees highlighted 
the need to ensure that 
land was focussed more 
on employment use 
rather than housing 

Consultation 
  

Access cont/… 
 
for growth in Gosport, including the Solent EZ. 
 
Access in and out of Gosport is seen as 
problematic, not helped by high levels of 
congestion. Broadband remains poor in some 
areas of Gosport, which discourages business 
investment in the Borough. 
 
Concerns were raised regarding the financial 
impact on the Gosport ferry due to the 
considerable reduction in passengers following 
restrictions imposed as a consequence of Covid-
19.  
 
A number of references were made to the 
potential for water taxis along the Solent which 
would help to link up Gosport more effectively 
with other centres. The Solent LEP’s 2020 
Strategy highlights a private sector led proposal 
for water taxi use on Southampton Water and it 
was felt this could also be explored for Gosport.  
 
This was also highlighted in the Gosport 
Investment Plan as well as an expanded bus 
rapid transport system 
 
 

41 

Housing 
 
Many consultees raised the issue of the 
pressure to release land to meet housing 
targets which it was felt should be used for 
employment use. 
 
The issue of nitrates in the Solent which has 
led to Natural England advising councils to 
refuse housing schemes which were not 
nitrate neutral is affecting neighbouring areas 
of Fareham, Gosport, Portsmouth, 
Southampton and Winchester. This makes it 
more challenging to collaborate with 
neighbouring local authorities in terms of 
sharing allocation of targets.  
 
It was also mentioned by a number of 
respondents that more housing would further 
exacerbate congestion caused by the area’s  
limited transport infrastructure.  
 
 



The need to ensure that  
land should be allocated 
for employment rather 
than housing use was 
frequently raised as a 
critical issue 

Consultation 
  

Employment Land/Commercial Premises 
 
The shortage of development land led to a 
significant number of consultees raising the 
critical issue of ensuring that where land is 
available that it should be allocated for 
employment use rather than for housing.  
 
Other points raised include:  
 
 A shortage of existing commercial premises, 

particularly quality, new-build premises. When 
such units become available, they are taken 
up very quickly. 

 Quality employment spaces are required to 
encourage new businesses to the area and 
retain existing businesses. 

 There is a need for more employment land at 
the marina for marine based businesses. 

 The growing shortage of employment land in 
Portsmouth presents an opportunity for 
Gosport to attract new businesses to the area. 

 The potential for creating additional flexible 
workspace should be explored as it was felt 
there was demand for this type of space. The 
impact of Covid-19 may make residents less 
willing to commute to Portsmouth and take-up 
local workspace instead.  

42 

MOD Sites 
 
Given the shortage of employment land it was 
felt imperative by many consultees that the  
economic leverage of the MOD sites due to 
be vacated in the future must be maximised. 
Additional points are noted below: 
 
 The MOD sites represent potential 

redevelopment opportunities, but the 
unknown elements of the timing of the 
release of any land, how much will be 
released, and the slow process are 
frustrating planning and frequently cited as 
a huge obstacle. 

 Fort Blockhouse was referred to as being 
an excellent potential mixed-use 
redevelopment site, with its waterfront 
position providing the potential for marine 
related employment. There is some 
concern that the MOD may want to keep 
the deep water access for its own use. The 
site also requires substantial infrastructure 
investment including to the sea walls. 

 HMS Sultan’s release to the market is now 
scheduled for 2029 which has the benefit 
of retaining the military use, but limits 
planning for any uses beyond the MOD.  



The Heritage Action Zone 
was viewed as a 
considerable opportunity 
to create a more 
attractive town centre 

Consultation 
  

MOD Sites cont/… 
 
 Some consultees suggested that private 

sector employment uses could expand on the 
HMS Sultan site while the MOD is still on-site 
to take-up surplus land/existing buildings.  

 Daedalus EZ provides further opportunities for 
growth. The Homes England site requires 
substantial investment to bring it forward and 
was seen as not being viable as a standalone 
development.  Public sector funds would be 
required to realise any development on this 
site. 

 
Town Centre & High Street 
 
Gosport’s town centre was perceived as being  
lacklustre and in need of substantial 
regeneration. It was felt that the town centre  
could be better linked to the waterfront and that 
this would also help to draw in more visitors. At 
present there is limited appeal within the town 
centre for the visitor market. 
 
The Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) for Gosport’s 
town centre was viewed very positively. This was 
seen as an opportunity to maximise the historic 
assets, creating more of a different and 

43 

independent town centre. The future 
programme of cultural events also has the 
potential to animate the town. 
 
Other feedback included:  
 
 The lay-out of the High Street was seen as 

being too ‘strung-out’ and that it  needed to 
be condensed to help make it more 
attractive.  

 The lack of a evening economy could be 
addressed if there was a residential offer in 
the town.  

 The paucity of evening public transport was 
also viewed as discouraging the evening 
economy.  

 Retail uses should be where possible 
positioned for the town centres.  

 The lack of performance space in the town 
centre also reduces the opportunity for 
attracting more visitors to the locality. 
 



The huge potential of 
Gosport’s waterfront 
assets was mentioned by 
almost every consultee 

Consultation 
  

High Street cont/… 
 
The repurposing of existing buildings such as the  
Gosport Old Grammar School with the re-
instatement of the local museum and gallery as 
well as the creation of social space and café 
(opening 2021); reconnecting it to the High Street 
was viewed very positively.  
 
The centre will also be used for engagement in  
STEM based science base as well as delivering 
adult education programme. It is hoped that 
these activities will also lead to the need to take 
further space for pop-ups for example in un-
occupied town centre units. 
 
Maximising Waterfront Assets 
 
The Gosport waterfront was mentioned by almost 
every consultee in relation to it being a 
considerable asset which was not maximised.  
 
The redevelopment of the bus station site was 
raised as being a challenge to make the scheme 
viable with housing use due to the limited 
footprint of the area.  
 
 

44 

Other comments included: 
 
 Some consultees felt that rather than 

seeing Gosport’s peninsula location as  
negative in relation to its potential as a 
business location, its coastal amenities 
should be promoted to relevant industries. 

 The waterfront and harbour are key assets 
for Gosport and should be promoted.  

 Gosport’s position on the Solent means 
that it has the best part of the harbour for 
leisure vessels and marinas.  

 The Council needs to be more ambitious in 
its plans to create an attractive 
marina/waterfront. 

 The Ferry and Bus terminal sites represent 
a strong redevelopment opportunity and 
Gosport should continue to investigate 
opportunities for improving these areas.  



The collaborative tourism 
activity with Portsmouth 
was viewed very 
positively but it was felt 
that more could be done 
to capitalise on the  
Portsmouth Harbour 
brand 

Consultation 
  

Tourism  
 
The consultation highlighted that the tourism 
industry should be maximised to increase visitor 
numbers/spend to the area by growing tourism 
assets and establishing year-round visitor assets. 
It was also suggested that given the impact of 
Covid-19, the leisure and tourism industry in 
Gosport may require considerably more support 
than other sectors. Other areas raised included:  
 
 Heritage assets are not ‘packaged’ and so do 

not maximise opportunities for attracting 
tourists from Portsmouth. 

 Gosport lacks a broad range of visitor 
accommodation. Respondents considered that 
there are opportunities for growth in brand 
name hotels, including in the mid-market.  

 Portsmouth Harbour should be promoted as 
one single entity with Gosport part of it. 
Consider  developing smaller events to 
complement the large events held in 
Portsmouth.  

 Gosport’s branding does not capitalise on 
proximity to Portsmouth.  

 Deliver a quirky/independent offer that can 
complement Portsmouth.  

 Gosport has good beaches that are presently 
under-utilised. 

45 

 Heritage assets ‘mothballed’ by the MOD 
should be capitalised on but working with 
the MOD is a slow process. Gosport’s 
naval heritage and assets should be 
promoted further.  

 The marinas could provide growth 
opportunities; most likely through mixed-
use schemes that broaden uses on the site 
and increase values.  

 The marinas attract high-net worth 
individuals, but there are limited retail and 
services to encourage significant visitor 
expenditure. An improved offer for this  
market would help to increase spend. 

 Post lockdown, there will be opportunity to 
attract the domestic visitor market back to 
Gosport if people are limited in travelling 
abroad. About 80% of Gosport’s visitors 
are from the UK so this is a key market. 

 The international visitors were seen as 
being a medium term growth opportunity, 
with key markets being Europe and USA. 

 A number of references were made to the 
valuable joined-up tourism activity being 
undertaken in partnership with Portsmouth. 

 The tourism sector is perceived as a low-
wage sector, and so continually struggles 
to attract and retain staff. 



Most business investment 
comes from existing 
businesses  rather than 
from attracting 
businesses from outside 
the area – as a result, 
business engagement is 
critical to supporting local 
economic growth 

Consultation 
  

Business Growth & Diversification 
 
Low employment density and the lack of 
employment diversity were consistently 
highlighted during the consultation process.  
A number of consultees suggested that the 
Strategy should look to further grow Gosport’s 
key sectors but also allow for the emergence and 
growth of other industries, particularly those 
complementary to the Borough’s and sub-
regions’ strengths.  For example tech/digital 
companies serving the defence and marine 
industries. Points raised included:  
  
 Activities should include increasing 

employment opportunities through: new 
business start-ups, expanding existing 
businesses and attracting businesses from 
elsewhere to Gosport. 

 Gosport Borough Council could undertake 
more business engagement activity (though it 
is recognised that some is already 
undertaken), and that the Strategy should 
provide a catalyst for expanding this.  

 It was suggested that the contacts with 
businesses obtained through the Covid-19 
support programmes should be followed-up 
and built upon.  
 

46 

 Business engagement with key employers 
should be undertaken on a strategic basis, 
with the most significant employers in the 
Borough engaged with both locally and at a  
Head Office level.  

 Attracting new business investment to the 
area is an opportunity for creating a wider 
employment base but any activity in this 
area should be undertaken collaboratively 
with sub-regional partners.  

 The Strategy should address specific 
sectors (e.g. marine, tourism, 
manufacturing) and specific geographies 
(e.g. coastal, Daedalus, MOD sites, town 
centre). 

 Maximising Gosport’s water frontage 
including using it as test bed from 
autonomous water systems.  

 Ensure that the range of commercial 
premises also includes flexible workspace 
to encourage new business start-ups. 

 The need to develop stronger relationships 
with the University of Southampton (there 
are already relationships with Portsmouth) 
in order to further facilitate collaborative 
R&D support to locally based businesses. 



CEMAST was perceived 
as a valuable training 
asset but with the 
potential to deliver more 
to meet local needs, 
particularly in relation to 
marine engineering 

Consultation 
  

Skills 
 
The issue relating to Gosport’s poor level of skills 
attainment was raised on frequent occasions.   
 
 The lack of skills in the area means more 

businesses are recruiting from outside the 
area and this compounds congestion 
problems further.  

 School leavers are not entering the market 
‘job-ready’ as they lack the soft skills required 
by businesses (phone skills, organisation, 
etc.). Education and local businesses should 
work more closely to prepare students. 

 Local employees with appropriate STEM skills 
are difficult to find and retain.  

 The CEMAST campus of Fareham College 
within the EZ was seen as a key educational 
asset, though two respondents suggested that 
the curriculum for aviation and automotive was 
better than for the marine sector, which would 
be of particular importance for Gosport. 

 Additionally, it was also suggested that 
CEMAST could not only deliver more in the 
area of marine engineering but also in design 
engineering and software development for 
example.  

 

47 

 In some areas it was seen that educational  
attainment is improving and St Vincent 
College is now rated ‘Good’ by Ofsted. 

 Whilst the Colleges were felt to be good 
educational assets, it was also commented 
on that it would be beneficial for Gosport to 
have more such assets including the 
potential for a small university training 
facility. 

 HMS Sultan is perceived as very valuable 
asset due to its Defence School of Marine 
Engineering which is also used by the 
private sector.  

 Hampshire County Council was seen as 
‘resting on its laurels’ in terms of overall  
education attainment in the county, but that 
this masked deeper attainment issues in 
Gosport. As such, it was felt more could 
done to work with the County Council to 
improve educational outcomes in Gosport.  

 



A number of existing 
collaborative partnerships 
have worked well in 
Gosport and developing 
this approach further was 
seen as being key to 
Gosport’s success 

Consultation 
  

Partnerships & Collaboration 
 
A number of existing collaborations with 
neighbouring local authorities and partnerships 
were seen as having worked well and it was felt 
that developing more collaboration and 
partnerships was key to achieving better 
outcomes for Gosport, particularly as it is a small 
entity on its own.  
 
A number of points raised during the consultation 
process are listed below: 
 
 The collaboration between Gosport and 

Fareham on the Solent Enterprise EZ was 
seen to have worked well and resulted in good 
outcomes for Daedalus.  

 The collaboration between Gosport and 
Portsmouth on tourism marketing and 
promotion was cited as an example by some 
respondents of success. 

 Collaboration with neighbouring authorities in 
the past included the development of a united 
and ‘virtual’ FDI team approach to inward 
investment but as yet this has not developed 
into a proper structure and as such needs to 
be re-explored and discussed with partners.  

48 

 Gosport Borough Council’s work with the 
MOD was seen as a strength, but it was felt 
that relationships should also be developed 
with key MOD HQ staff in addition to local 
staff.  

 The Gosport Task Force was seen as an 
opportunity to raise the game for Gosport 
and that the Task Force needed more 
resources to drive it forward.  Presently the 
Task Force meets every 3 months.  As well 
as the local MP it includes the MoD, One 
Public Estate Ministry of Justice (Haslar 
Barracks) and HMS Sultan.  

 Given the pressures on Gosport and 
neighbouring areas on meeting housing 
targets, it was felt that a collaborative, 
cross-region approach would be more 
effective. The housing issue has also been 
impacted on by the high levels of nitrates in 
the Solent leading to a moratorium on 
planning permission relating to new 
housing. Other neighbouring issues such 
as the National Park in New Forest are 
also creating constraints to housing growth.  



Appendix III: Consultees 
  

Gosport Borough Council 
 
 Andrew Sugden, Economic Development & Regeneration Manager 
 Jayson Grygiel, Planning Policy Manager 
 John Gibbs, Tourism Officer 
 Ian Bridges, Economic Development Officer – representing Coastal Communities Alliance 
 Debbie Gore, Head of Planning and Regeneration 
 Cllr June Cully 
 Cllr Peter Chegwin 
 Cllr Mark Hook 
 Cllr Stephen Philpott 

 
Other 
 
 Mark Pembleton, Portsmouth City Council 
 Ross McNally Hampshire Chamber 
 Paul Sapwell and Rebekah Wait, Hampshire Cultural Trust 
 Andy Pringle, Enterprise South 
 Nichola Bailey, Federation of Small Businesses 
 Marion Brinton, Historic England  
 Caroline Dinenage, Member of Parliament for Gosport, Stubbington, Lee-on-the-Solent and Hill Head 
 Claire Upton-Brown, PfSH 
 David Fletcher, Hampshire County Council 
 Siobhan Flynn, Solent LEP 
 Lynsey Skaskiewicz, St Vincent College 
 Claire Burnett, Fareham Borough Council 
 John Till, Thinking Place 
 Captain Allan Youp, Royal Navy, Solent Maritime Enterprise Zone Team Leader 
 Mark Bowden, Portsmouth Harbour Marine 
 Andrew Bateman, Hampshire County Council 

 
49 

 



Appendix IV: Labour Market - Commuting: geographical barriers 
and limited transport links (Gosport Economic Profile2019) 

Source: ONS 2011 Census. Notes 1. KPMG (2015)  2. Gosport Borough Council Local Plan (2014) and BPP Regenerations 

(2015) 3. KPMG (2015)  4. For No fixed place it is assumed that people remain within the geographical area i.e. Gosport. 

65+ 

65+ 

65+ 

• Gosport has been historically disadvantaged from 

limited transport connections, that in part simply 

reflects a peninsula geography but also sits 

alongside insufficient jobs to support the resident 

population. This has seen significant out-commuting 

although recent infrastructure investment in Gosport 

has already seen some modal shift to bus travel1 

while future housing and commercial developments2 

will seek to further reduce commuting and 

congestion through local job creation. 

• The only local commuter data available is the 2011 

Census and this pre-dates recent improvements. 

This needs to be borne in mind when interpreting the 

data as there is no new evidence to show any major 

shift in commuter flow patterns since 2011. There is 

limited evidence of some change in recent studies3, 

while innovations in technology and transportation 

will continue to transform the workplace and as new 

commuting habits continue to evolve.  

• With reference to the Census 2011 Gosport was on 

the one hand characterised by high workplace self-

containment, with approximately 3 in every 4 

workers living in the Borough (72%), and on the 

other by fluid resident self-containment (48%) where 

just over half of all residents commuted to a place of 

work outside of the Borough.  

• In 2011 Gosport had 19,400 residents that both lived 

and worked in the Borough (including 3,400 of no 

fixed place4) and fewer than the estimated 20,800 

out-commuters. As in-commuters numbered just 

7,400 there is an overall net out-flow of 13,400 

resident workers to a place of work beyond Gosport. 

• The focus for commuter flows in 2011 in either 

direction is within South Hampshire but firmly biased 

to Fareham and Portsmouth; notably for out 

commuting, although down in relative terms on 

2001. There was an absolute and relative increase 

in out-commutes to Winchester (2001-11), that could 

be down to the expansion of Solent Business Park. 

Hart 
57 

Rushmoor 
65 

New Forest 
236 

Southampton 
893 

Eastleigh 
1,058 

Fareham 
7,090 

Basingstoke &  
Deane 

99 

London 
340 

Test Valley 
186 

East  
Hampshire 

261 

Portsmouth 
5,942 

Winchester 
1,661 

Havant 
947 

20,784 

Test Valley 
53 

Winchester 
353 

Havant 
525 

East  
Hampshire 

130 

Hart 
7 

Rushmoor 
3 

New Forest 
84 

Southampton 
346 

Eastleigh 
323 

Fareham 
2,878 

Basingstoke &  
Deane 

23 

Portsmouth 
1,318 7,398 

Resident Worker Population: 

40,213 

Live & Work Locally: 16,013 

No fixed place: 3,4161 

Out-commute: 20,784 

Resident Self-Containment Ratio: 48% 

In-commute 

Out-commute 

Workplace Population: 26,827 

Live & Work Locally: 16,013 

No fixed place: 3,416 

In-commute: 7,398 

Workplace Self-Containment Ratio: 72% 

Net outflow 13,386 

Out-commuting 
To known destinations with 300+ residents  
& all Hampshire LAs 

In-commuting 
From known origins with 300+ 
residents  & all Hampshire LAs 

From rest of UK  
Origins 
= 1,355  workers 

To rest of UK  
Destinations 
= 1,718 resident workers. 
Offshore Installations  
& Outside UK = 231 



1

   

Board/Committee: Economic Development Board
Date of Meeting: 23rd September 2020
Title: ‘Planning for the Future White Paper’ (August 2020)
Author: Manager of Planning Policy
Status: For Decision

PURPOSE
To brief Members regarding the content of the Government’s ‘Planning for the 
Future’ White Paper (August 2020) and set out key matters to form the basis of a 
formal response.

RECOMMENDATION
That this Council makes the following representations to the Government: (as 
expanded upon within sections 4-9  of this Report) 

 The Council strongly objects to the following proposals for reasons set 
out in the Report:

- the proposed lack of involvement of the local community at the detailed 
planning application stage; 

- the significant reduction of the role of locally elected Councillors in 
determining planning applications at the detailed proposal stage; and

- the proposed statutory 30 month timetable for preparing a new style 
Local Plan and the proposal for sanctions to be imposed by central 
Government should this timetable not be met. 

 That the Council raises concerns over other proposals in the White Paper 
in the absence of sufficient detail being provided at this stage (as set out 
in detailed in the Report) including:

- the lack of any information about the proposed transitional arrangements 
and at what stage local planning authorities should consider preparing a 
plan under the new arrangements instead of continuing with the current 
process;

- the lack of information regarding alternative arrangements to the Duty to 
Cooperate to ensure cross-boundary matters including infrastructure 
provision are appropriately addressed;

- further clarification  regarding additional resources from the Government 
to enable the proposed reforms to be undertaken;

- the potential risks and uncertainties relating to the proposed changes to 
the developer contributions system which could have significant 
implications.

 That the Council supports the following measures for reasons set out in 
the report (together with any specific reservations): 

- the removal of the Sustainability Appraisal system to be replaced by a 
simpler system;

Agenda Item 7



2

- removal of the complex viability assessment process;

- abolition of the tests of soundness;

- a more proportionate approach to the level of evidence required; 

- the principle of increased use of design codes with local engagement 
(albeit with a number of concerns outlined in the report).

 That delegated authority be granted to the Manager of Planning Policy 
in consultation with the Economic Development Board Chairman to 
respond to the Government’s proposed consultation questions based on 
the comments within this report.  

1 Background

1.1 On 6th August 2020 the Government published its White Paper, ‘Planning For the 
Future’1.  Comments are required to reach the Government by 29th October 
2020.

1.2 The Prime Minister describes these reforms as, ‘radical reform unlike anything 
we have seen since the Second World War.’

2 Report

2.1 The proposed changes to the planning system are significant and are likely to 
have far-reaching consequences in how this Council as a local planning authority 
(LPA) will operate its planning services in the future.  The report is divided into 
the following sections:

Section 3: Government’s Overall 
Approach

8:  Sustainability and the Environment

4: A Standard Methodology for 
Establishing Housing Requirements

9: Developer Contributions and 
Resourcing Arrangements

5: Proposed Changes to Local Plans 10: Next Steps
6: Proposed Changes to 
Development Management

11: Risk Assessment

7:  Increased emphasis on design

2.2 The White Paper contains 24 proposals which are considered in this report and 
these have been grouped together in a manner that is more understandable from 
a local planning authority perspective and consequently it has been necessary to 
consider some of them out of sequence.  The order of the proposals as they 
appear in the White Paper are set out in Appendix 1 together with a set of 
corresponding questions.  The responses to these questions will be completed 
based on the comments in this report and will be sent with a covering letter as 
the Council’s formal response to the Government.

2.3 In summary the Government is considering a number of wide-ranging reforms:

1) A new standard method for determining housing figures for each local 
authority.

2) A streamlined Local Plan system, with plans prepared in 30 months and 

1 www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future



3

sanctions on those local authorities that do not meet this timetable. Key 
elements include:

- Map-based approach identifying Growth, Renewal and Protection 
areas with site specific policies on appropriate uses and design.  
These would be shaped by community involvement with binding 
design codes and masterplans; 

- Less emphasis on detailed evidence, although some will still be 
required to justify plans;

- Removal of: the current Tests of Soundness, detailed viability 
assessment, the Sustainability Appraisal and the Duty to Cooperate.

3) Stream-lined development management system including:

- Outline permission automatically granted for those sites identified in 
the Local Plan for development;

- Sites that meet detailed design codes in Growth and Renewal areas 
will be granted automatic permission;

- Permission will only be required: where there are outstanding issues 
to resolve; or where a development proposal does not comply with 
the Local Plan proposal in a Growth or Renewal areas; or is in a 
Protected area as designated by the Local Plan; and

- Public involvement will be focussed at the Local Plan stage rather 
than the planning application stage if a proposal accords with the 
proposals in a Local Plan.

4) Increased emphasis on design and design codes including:

- There will be significant emphasis on the use of design codes and 
guidance linked to Local Plans in consultation with the community;

- This will be used to fast-track those planning proposals which meet 
the matters set out in approved design codes and masterplans;

- Government templates on design codes and other support will be 
provided to increase the capacity of local planning authorities to shift 
the emphasis towards design and design codes in particular.

5) Environment and heritage proposals including:

- Government will look to streamline the environmental  assessment 
processes used in planning but continue to meet international and 
domestic legal obligations;

- Continue to explore appropriate mechanisms to move towards net-
zero carbon homes;

- Considers ways to enable heritage building specialists outside of 
local authorities to determine listed building consent.

6) Development contributions reform including:



4

- Wholesale reform of the development contribution system with the 
abolition of the existing Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 
106 Agreements; and 

- Introduction of a new Infrastructure Levy based on a standard 
nationally set tariff (or tariffs) based on the proportion of uplift in 
development value above a certain threshold.

2.4 In addition to the above, throughout the White Paper there is significant focus on 
the use of digital technology by local planning authorities and open and 
interactive access to planning documents. 

3 Government’s Overall Approach

3.1 The White Paper includes a forward from both the Prime Minister and the 
Secretary of State and an introduction outlining the Government’s perceived 
problems with the current planning system introduced in 1947. This includes a 
statement that the system is too complex which creates uncertainty and delay.  
This complexity is considered to penalise smaller companies and individuals 
without resources to navigate the system.  The Government contends that the 
system heightens risk, increases the cost of development and discourages 
innovation and land coming forward for development. 

3.2 As a result of this complexity Local Plans take too long to produce and the sheer 
amount of evidence required is too opaque and open to challenge. The planning 
application process takes too long to deliver development and is shaped by a 
minority of voices.  The process of negotiating development contributions is 
arduous, there is insufficient focus on design and not enough homes are being 
built. The Government asserts that the public have lost faith with the whole 
system. 

3.3 The document recognises ‘that planning is central to our most important national 
challenges’ such as providing sufficient levels of good homes and employment 
opportunities, rebalancing the economy, combating climate change and 
improving biodiversity.

3.4 The document  sets out five overarching ambitions  which are summarised below:
 Streamline the planning process 
 Radical, digital-first approach to modernise the planning process.  
 New focus on design and sustainability
 Reform to infrastructure delivery
 Ensure more land is available for  homes and development

3.5 These ambitions are then broken down into 24 proposals which are grouped 
together and discussed in the following sections.

4 A standard methodology for establishing housing requirement 

4.1 Local Plans will continue to identify the housing requirement for the area. The 
2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduced the standard 
method for calculating housing requirements for each local authority.  The 
method is based on the Office for National Statistics’ (ONS) 2014 household 
projections and includes a formula which incorporates a rolling 10 year average 
of household change and an affordability ratio based on the ratio between 



5

median house price and workplace earnings.  

4.2 Based on this method the Council’s current housing requirement is 344 dwellings 
per annum. The Government is now consulting on a revised method which is 
subject to a separate consultation and contained within the ‘Changes to Current 
Planning System (August 2020)’ report also on the agenda for this Board 
meeting which considers this method in further detail.  The new standard method 
will allow local authorities to use the latest ONS household projections (2018-
based) but also introduces other elements to the formula including taking into 
account a proportion (0.5%) of existing household stock.  This proposed 
methodology results in a housing requirement figure of 309 dwellings per annum.

4.3 The ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper consultation is looking to refine this 
methodology still further.  It seeks to establish a system whereby the 
Government target of 300,000 new homes annually is distributed across 
England.

4.4 This new standard method figure would be binding but will take into account the 
following factors which do not directly form part of the current or proposed 
interim methodology: 

 The size of urban settlements so that development is targeted at areas 
that can absorb the level of housing proposed;

 The relative affordability of places- so the least affordable area, where 
historic under-supply has been chronic take a greater proportion of future 
development;

 The extent of land constraints in an area to ensure that the requirement 
figure takes into account the practical limitations of an area (such as 
environmental and heritage designations, the Green Belt and flood risk);

 The opportunities for development on brownfield land.

 The need to make an allowance for land required for other (non-
residential) development;

 The inclusion of an appropriate buffer to ensure enough land is provided 
offering sufficient choice to the market.

4.5 It will be the responsibility of each local authority to allocate land suitable for 
housing to meet the centrally set requirement.  It would be possible for 
authorities to agree an alternative distribution of their requirement within a 
geographical area as part of a joint planning arrangement.

4.6 As part of the system the current test to demonstrate a five year housing supply 
will be removed as this new system should enable sufficient land to be available.  
The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) however will remain and should the HDT not 
be met, penalties will still apply including the presumption in favour of 
development.

Comment on standard method proposal
4.7 The Government remains committed to the standard method approach for 

establishing local housing requirements. The proposals in the White Paper do at 
least allow adjustments to take into account local characteristics.  It will therefore 
be essential for local authorities to be consulted on how the proposed formula 
will work as it does appear very complex.  Each input into the methodology has 



6

the potential to have significant consequences for local authorities.

4.8 The proposals are currently vague and raise a number of questions. It will be 
necessary to understand how each factor will influence the standard method and 
the number of houses a local authority will need to plan for.

4.9 It is clear that the methodology will need to take into account how much land is 
physically available for development to determine how many dwellings can 
actually be built.  This has always been a key consideration of this Council when 
producing its Local Plan which has aimed to deliver the high quality regeneration 
of sites to meet employment and housing needs.  However the Government 
considers that it can use a national formula to distribute its housing target based 
on a centralised methodology. This will be fraught with difficulties and may not 
fully account for local issues.

4.10 It will be important for the Government to consult with local authorities on what 
forms of land are included in the ‘land required for other non-residential 
development’ category.  The Government will need to include Country Parks and 
Operational Defence Land.  For example, sites such as the Alver Valley and 
extensive MoD sites such as DM Munitions and HMS Sultan are significant 
areas of land that are not available for residential development despite looking 
like they may have potential from those unfamiliar with Gosport Borough.

4.11 The category will also need to take into account the land required for 
employment uses particularly in areas where there is low job density.  Gosport 
has the lowest job density (with 0.5 jobs per resident aged 16-642) in the SE 
England and one of the lowest in England. This has a detrimental effect for out-
commuting rates, congestion and air pollution.  Consequently it has been a long 
term strategy of the Council to ensure that there is a sufficient amount of 
employment land coming forward to increase the number of jobs available.  It will 
be imperative that such considerations are taken into account in the 
Government’s proposed changes to the Standard Method.

4.12 Understanding how the land constraints issue will be considered is also 
important in terms of how designations such as natural habitats and historic 
parks and gardens are taken into account.  

4.13 The Council also strongly objects to the retention of the HDT which penalises 
local communities for the under-delivery of new homes by developers. Gosport 
Borough has a proven track record of facilitating new development and achieving 
higher rates of housing delivery than set out in previous development plans.  
This is against a background of working with developers on difficult-to-deliver 
brownfield sites.  The HDT penalises local authorities and their communities for 
non-delivery rather than the developers (not developing land the Council has 
granted permission for) or landowners (by selling land with unresolved legacy 
issues).

4.14 Gosport Borough Council strongly objects to the principle of the Housing 
Delivery Test which significantly weakens the plan-led system by increasing 
uncertainty and reducing public confidence that the adopted Local Plan can be 
relied upon, particularly as housing delivery is largely driven by developers, 
rather than the local planning authority.

2 ONS jobs density (latest data: 2018)



7

4.15 In Gosport Borough the majority of sites that come forward with significant 
development potential are Ministry of Defence or other defence-related sites.  
These are heavily constrained with  a number of complex issues including:

 presence of nationally significant heritage assets which are difficult to 
convert due to their original function and the  lack of on-going 
maintenance  and neglect of buildings;

 significant flooding issues;
 significant and widespread contamination
 internationally important habitats; and
 access issues associated with the peninsula location

4.16 In addition there are often significant delays in the release of sites due to the 
complexity of relocating existing military functions, changing defence priorities 
and competing internal MoD interests. Consequently there are many factors that 
can delay both the release of sites and their eventual development which are far 
beyond the control of the local authority. It is clear that such sites have a 
complex legacy that cannot simply be resolved by a Housing Delivery Test. Yet 
the HDT continues to be simplistic in its approach to these issues and fails to 
take account of the reality on the ground.

4.17 It is therefore impossible to maintain a consistent flow of development over the 
whole plan period. The resulting peaks and troughs in supply are not sufficiently 
accounted for in the Housing Delivery Test which measures housing supply over 
a three year period. This exacerbates uncertainty in the system and leaves areas 
vulnerable to facing penalties resulting from not meeting the HDT.  

4.18 The Council also strongly objects to the established methodology of the Housing 
Delivery Test which penalises estate renewal by calculating the test result using 
only the net gain in houses over the preceding three years.  Such complex 
projects take place over a much longer period of time and there will inevitably be 
a three year period where significant demolitions take place. Local authorities 
should not be penalised for programmes which involve demolitions particularly 
as these projects deliver improved homes, create attractive new communities,  
and can assist in the Government’s ambition of ‘levelling up’. This is an 
increasingly challenging problem in urban authorities where the majority of 
development land is previously developed. The Government should therefore 
strongly reconsider its methodology which ultimately promotes development on 
greenfield land and runs counter to the Government’s stated aim of ‘brownfield 
first’.

4.19 The Government states that the alternative to using the Standard Methodology 
would be to leave the calculation to the local authority with the clear stipulation 
that this should be sufficient to address the development needs of each area 
(subject to recognised constraints).  This method would also require the retention 
of the five year housing supply. However the Government does not think this 
method would have the same benefits of clarity and simplicity as its preferred 
option.

4.20 It is considered that it would be preferable for the Council to have greater control 
over its proposed housing figure based on the availability of sites, infrastructure 
capacity and environmental constraints. There is significant concern that a 
centralised figure would not have the capacity to provide an appropriate figure 
for every local authority area in England and therefore the figure should 



8

ultimately be determined by the local authority in consultation with the 
community it serves and other stakeholders. The figure being proposed by the 
local authority will still be scrutinised at an Examination in Public.

5 Proposed Changes to Local Plans 

5.1 The Government recognises that the current system of land use planning in 
England is principally based on Local Plans brought forward by local planning 
authorities on behalf of their communities. The White Paper recognises that 
Local Plans are a good foundation on which to base reform but change is 
needed.  It recognises that layers of assessment, guidance and policy have 
broadened the scope of Local Plans requiring a disproportionate burden of 
evidence to support them.  As a result Local Plans take increasingly long to 
produce, have become lengthier, are underpinned by vast swathes of evidence 
documents and include unnecessary repetition of national policy.

5.2 The White Paper states Local Plans should focus on the following:
 Identify appropriate levels of, and location for, development that provide 

certainty;

 Communicate key information clearly and visually so that plans are 
accessible and easily understandable and communities engage more 
fully;

 Be developed using a clear, efficient and standard process;

 Radically re-invented engagement with local communities; and

 Set clear expectation on what is required on land that is identified for 
development so plans give confidence in the future growth of areas and 
facilitate the delivery of beautiful and sustainable places.

5.3 There are at least five main proposals that primarily address Local Plan reforms 
(in addition to the standard method discussed in Section 4 above).  These are:

 Land use plans should be simplified with Growth, Renewal and 
Protection Areas (Proposal 1).

 Development management policies be established at a national scale 
(Proposal 2).

 Local Plans should be subject to a single sustainable development test 
replacing the existing text of soundness (Proposal 3).

 Local Plans should be visual and map based, standardised, based on the 
latest digital technology and supported by a new template (Proposal 7).

 Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through 
legislation to meet a statutory timetable and the Government will consider 
what sanctions there would be for those who fail to do so (Proposal 8).

5.4 Each of these proposals are summarised below, followed by a comment of all 
five proposals covering the main issues.



9

Land use plans should be simplified (Proposal 1) 
5.5 It is proposed that Local Plans focus on identifying all areas of land within three 

categories of:
 Growth areas- suitable for substantial development and where outline 

approval for development would be automatically secured for forms and 
types of development specified in the Plan. Areas of flood risk would be 
excluded from this category (as would other important constraints) unless 
any risk can be fully mitigated.

 Renewal areas- this would cover existing built areas where smaller scale 
development is appropriate.  It could include gentle densification and infill 
of residential areas and development in town centres. 

 Protected areas- where development is restricted due to environmental 
or cultural characteristics. This would include Conservation Areas, nature 
conservation sites, areas of significant flood risk and important areas of 
green space. It even states that at a smaller scale it can include gardens.  
Some areas would be defined nationally and others locally on the basis 
of national policy. These would all be clearly shown on Local Plan maps 
and clearly signposted to the relevant development restrictions defined in 
the NPPF.

5.6 The new-style Local Plan would comprise an interactive web-based map of the 
administrative area where data and policies are easily searchable with a key and 
accompanying text.  Areas and sites would be annotated and colour-coded with 
their Growth, Renewal or Protected designation with explanatory descriptions.  
Plans should be significantly shorter in length and limited to no more than 
setting-out site or area-specific parameters.

5.7 In Growth and Renewal areas, the key and accompanying text would set out 
suitable development uses as well as limitations on height and/or density as 
relevant.  These could be specified for sub-areas with each category, determined 
locally but having regard to national policy. For Protected areas the key and 
accompanying text would explain what is permissible by cross-reference to the 
NPPF.

5.8 The Government does set out alternative proposals including just dividing the 
plan into two areas Growth/Renewal (as a combined area) and Protection areas.   
‘Permission in principle’ (see section 6 below) would be extended to Renewal 
areas as well as Growth areas. A further alternative approach would be to limit 
automatic ‘permission in principle’ for Growth areas whilst other areas would, as 
now in the current Local Plan, be identified for different forms of development 
and subject to the existing development management process.

Development management policies established at a national scale and an 
altered role for Local Plans (Proposal 2)

5.9 The White Paper states that Local Plans should set out clear rules rather than 
the current general policies for development.  Development management 
policies will be set out nationally in the NPPF and there would be no provision for 
the inclusion of generic development management policies which simply repeat 
national policy in Local Plans such as the protection of listed buildings.  This 
would allow Local Plans to focus on identifying sites and area-specific 
requirements, alongside locally produced design codes. Plans would therefore 
be significantly shorter as they would not include a long list of policies just a core 
set of standards and requirements for development in defined areas.



10

5.10 The Government also sets out alternative proposals relating to development 
management policies:

 An alternative proposal allows Local Plans to include general 
development management policies but limit the scope of such policies to 
specific matters and standardise the way they are written, where 
exceptional circumstances necessitate a locally defined approach.

 Another approach would be to allow local authorities a similar level of 
flexibility to set development management policies as under the current 
system with the exception that policies which duplicate the NPPF would 
not be allowed.

Local Plans should be subject to a single sustainable development test 
replacing the existing text of soundness (Proposal 3)

5.11 The White Paper recognises that the achievement of sustainable development is 
an existing and well-understood basis for the planning system and it is proposed 
that it is retained. However a simpler test to assess sustainable development 
would be introduced with fewer requirements for assessments that add 
disproportionate delay to the plan-making system.

5.12 This specifically includes:
 The abolition of the Sustainability Appraisal system and development of a 

simplified process for assessing the environmental impact of plans, which 
would continue to satisfy the requirements of UK  and international law;

 The Duty to Cooperate will be removed. Although the Government 
recognises that further consideration will need to be given to the way in 
which strategic cross-boundary issues such as major infrastructure or 
strategic sites can be adequately planned;

 slimmed down assessment of deliverability (including viability testing) 
which would be incorporated into the simpler sustainable development 
test.

Local Plans should be visual and map based, standardised, based on the 
latest digital technology, and supported by a new template (Proposal 7)

5.13 The Government will produce a guide to the new Local Plan system, the required 
data standards and digital principles including clearer expectations around the 
more limited scope of evidence that will be expected to support Local Plans.  
These will be produced well in advance of the legislation being brought into 
force.

5.14 The Government consider that its proposals, with a shift from documents to data, 
will make it easier for people to understand what is being proposed and allow 
people to make comments through social networks and via mobile phones.  A 
series of pilot studies are being proposed.

Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through 
legislation to meet a statutory timetable and the Government will consider 
what sanctions there would be for those who fail to do so (Proposal 8)

5.15 Under the Government’s proposals a local planning authority will be required to 
produce a Local Plan in 30 months.  Under the transitional arrangements this will 
be 30 months from the legislation being brought into force or 42 months for local 



11

planning authorities who have adopted a Local Plan within the previous three 
years or where a Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State for 
examination.  The 42 month period would commence from the point the 
legislation is brought into force or upon adoption of the most recent plan 
whichever is later.  

5.16 Local planning authorities that fail these requirements would be at risk from 
government intervention.

5.17 The Local Plan will then need to be reviewed at least every five years or sooner 
where there have been significant changes in circumstances. It is envisaged that 
a new Local Plan system will allow reviews to be completed in less time.

5.18 The new stages of the Local Plan would be as follows
 Stage 1 [6 months] the local planning authority calls for suggestions for 

areas under the three categories (Growth, Renewal, Protection) involving 
comprehensive public engagement of where development should go and 
what it should look like;

 Stage 2 [12 months] the local planning authority draws up its proposed 
Local Plan and produces any necessary evidence to inform and justify 
the plan;

 Stage 3 [6 weeks] the local planning authority simultaneously: 

i) Submits the Plan to the Secretary of State for Examination 
together with a Statement of Reasons why it has drawn up the 
plan it has; and

ii) Publicises the plan for the public to comment on.  Comments 
seeking change must explain why the plan should be changed 
and why.  

 Stage 4 [9 months] A Planning Inspector appointed by the Secretary of 
State considers whether the categories shown in the Local Plan are 
sustainable as per the statutory text and accompanying national 
guidance and makes binding changes which are necessary to satisfy the 
test.  All those that have made comments have a right to be ‘heard’ 
(through attendance, by video, phone or in writing).

 Stage 5 [6 weeks] Local Plan Map, key and text are finalised and come 
into force.

Comment on proposed changes to the Local Plan system
5.19 There is merit in simplifying the existing Local Plan system and there is 

recognition for many involved with plan-making that the process at times can be 
laborious and unwieldly, requiring significant evidence to support proposals and 
principles. The comments below provide an overview of those aspects where the 
Council have objections, significant concerns and requires clarification as well as 
those proposals which are supported.

5.20 Use of zoning to potentially determine detailed planning proposals
The main area of objection, which is commented in more detail in Section 6 
(Development Management), relates to the use of the proposed Growth, 
Renewal and Protection areas being used to determine a significant proportion 
of planning applications.  This process will remove public consultation at the 



12

detailed planning application stage where a proposal complies with the Local 
Plan and associated design code.

5.21 The Council also strongly objects that the White Paper proposals will result in a 
reduced opportunity for detailed development schemes being fully considered by 
a democratically and locally accountable Planning Committee (see Section 6 on 
Development Management for further details).

The  30 month statutory requirement to produce Local Plans with sanctions if this 
timetable is not met

5.22 The 30 month deadline is considered wholly unrealistic particularly taking into 
account the Government’s proposals to expand public consultation and produce 
detailed design guidance/codes for Growth and Renewal areas.  Whilst it is 
acknowledged from other sections of the White Paper that the requirement for 
evidence is reduced there is still a requirement in the process which states that it 
will be necessary to inform and justify the plan.  The White Paper does not 
include any details on the likely evidence necessary and therefore this stage of 
plan preparation could take significantly longer than the allotted 12 months.  
Indeed there is also the requirement to produce a Statement of Reasons for the 
Inspector.  No details are provided on these arrangements nor on the level of 
detail required, this could also be onerous particularly as the statement will form 
a key part of any examination.

5.23 The Council proposes that a statutory timetable is not introduced at this early 
stage of planning reform and is instead considered at a later date when it can be 
shown consistently that Local Plans from across the country can realistically be 
prepared with effective public engagement within the 30 month period.  The 
statutory timetable may have unintended consequences, reduce the quality of 
new Local Plans and undermine the ability of local people to genuinely shape 
their area.

5.24 It is completely inappropriate of the consultation to ask consultees (question 12 
in Appendix 1) about the introduction of a statutory 30 month timescale without 
also providing a greater understanding of the detailed requirements of the new 
Local Plan format, how much evidence will be required, what additional 
resources will be made available (particularly for design coding work), how the 
new technology works, and how the Government will require local authorities to 
deal with outstanding objections.

5.25 The Government makes it very clear that public engagement in the Local Plan 
process will be the main, and in some cases the only, route for the public to be 
involved in consultation on development sites.  Consequently if the Government 
reforms to Local Plans are introduced it is absolutely essential that sufficient time 
is allowed for positively engaging the public and then considering each 
representation.  This Council currently considers each representation made and 
sets out publicly how it has dealt with each matter.  The Government must 
recognise that this can take significant time and that if we are to meet the overall 
ambition to consult more widely through improved techniques it will be necessary 
to ensure that sufficient time is incorporated in the plan-making process to 
consider these representations. This will, together with other factors make the 30 
month deadline difficult to realise without some dilution of the Governments 
stated ambitions.

5.26 The White Paper places significant emphasis on improved public consultation at 



13

the Local Plan stage, particularly as development management consultation will 
be reduced. However the timetable set out in the White Paper includes one 
interactive phase (Stage 1) where areas of Growth, Renewal and Protection can 
be put forward and then a chance to comment on the whole Local Plan at stage 
3.  Yet this 3rd stage cannot be seen as effective engagement with local 
communities and stakeholders as the Council has to submit the Local Plan 
simultaneously to the Secretary of State without the chance to consider any 
comments made or make any amendments prior to submission.  The proposals 
will result in less opportunities for public consultation not more and risk excluding 
communities from the planning process. This arguably does little to increase 
public ‘faith’ in the reformed planning system.

5.27 It will also be useful to understand the proposed sanctions that the Government 
will impose on those local authorities that fail to produce a Local Plan within 30 
months.  In many instances certain key issues may be outside the local 
authority’s control.  For example in Gosport Borough the  land release decisions 
of the Ministry of Defence have major implications on the Local Plan process and 
uncertainties of whether major sites are to be released or not, may affect 
whether it is appropriate for a Local Plan to be produced within a particular 
timescale. The statutory timescale also lacks flexibility to deal with particular 
local or national circumstances. While many involved in plan-making appreciate 
the need to produce local plans in a timely manner, the system also requires 
flexibility to allow time for sound decision making.

5.28 The requirement for more upfront detailed design work on development sites is 
welcomed however this requirement is likely to delay Local Plan progress as it 
will require significant levels of engagement with the landowner/developer at a 
time which does not necessarily suit them for reasons beyond the local 
authority’s control. For example, they may be unable to meet the costs involved 
in undertaking masterplanning work. 

5.29 Unfortunately the White Paper includes no information on transitional 
arrangements or guidance on whether local planning authorities should continue 
with current Local Plans. This creates significant uncertainty at a time when local 
authorities and the planning system will play a central role in recovering from the 
Covid 19 pandemic. There is currently no guidance on whether local authorities 
should continue through to the expensive Examination stage only for the need to 
replace the plan within a short timescale (in Local Plan period terms) with the 
new format plans.  The Government must urgently  publish its proposed 
transitional arrangements to provide clarity on whether local planning authorities 
should proceed with the current Local Plan formats or consider embarking on the 
new style plans. 

Other concerns
5.30 There are a number of other concerns which arise from the proposed changes to 

the Local Plan system and it is difficult to ascertain from the White Paper how 
and whether these will be addressed. These are summarised below.

5.31 Lack of local context and overarching strategy in standardised plans: 
There is the potential for a lack of local context in the simplified Local Plan which 
will be make it harder for the community, developers and other stakeholders to 
understand key issues.  In many instances local priorities and proposals need to 
be set out in connection with a site specific policy or a more generic 
development management policy.  This could, for example include local 



14

mitigation arrangements. National policies will restrict opportunities for these 
local matters to be considered when determining development proposals.

5.32 There is the potential for a simplified Local Plan to lose the overarching scene-
setting and strategic place-making role it currently provides.  The proposals 
could result in a fragmentation of the Local Plan which would be reduced to a 
series of links (to a variety of national policy, data and guidance). This could 
result in a Plan with little narrative and cohesion. It is considered that the vision 
and strategy provided by a Local Plan is even more important now than ever 
before as Local Plans have a key role in providing a focus for the Covid-19 
recovery.  The economic, environmental and community-related land use 
policies and proposals can facilitate recovery and have the benefit of local 
engagement with residents, businesses and community groups.  The White 
Paper proposals could undermine this potential.

5.33 Lack of influence for development management policies: There will be little 
or no opportunities for the community and local stakeholders to comment on 
development management policies which will be devised centrally. It is likely that 
the decision-making will be more opaque then current arrangements as there 
would be little understanding of how policy decisions are made with limited 
opportunities to comment or have recourse to challenge it (unlike the current 
Examination process). Over time, this could result in less public engagement, not 
more. It is difficult to understand how centrally devised policies used for 
development management decisions can be universally applicable across the 
whole of England and whether particular local issues will be covered by national 
policies. 

5.34 Further consideration is required on what type of designation constitutes a 
Growth, Renewal and Protection Area. For example Conservation Areas may 
be more applicable as a Renewal Area not a Protection Area given that many 
cover town centres.  This highlights the concern regarding centrally prescribed 
planning requirements.

5.35 Further clarity is required on the amount of evidence and justification 
envisaged for Local Plans as this will ultimately be a determining factor in how 
long it takes to prepare a Local Plan.

5.36 Further understanding will be required on what cross-boundary 
arrangements will be in place following the proposed abolition of the Duty to 
Cooperate.

5.37 Further clarification is required on what resources for new technology and 
training will be made available from the Government as part of these new 
burdens and further information on all the relevant technology required and 
associated templates. The Government acknowledges that increased design 
coding and enhance public engagement including new technology will increase 
the need for additional resourcing and training of planning departments.

5.38 Need to address concerns relating to those with limited access and skills 
to technology. While the move to a digitised system with a greater role for 
technology should be welcomed with the potential for many benefits, it is vital 
that those with limited access to technology are not forgotten and are still able to 
participate in the planning process using conventional methods.



15

Proposals supported in principle (with some clarification required)
5.39 There are a number of proposals that are welcomed including:

 The increased use of technology to help make it easier for the public to 
understand proposals and make comments is welcomed. The map based 
approach will be useful to engage in a more interactive way.  

 This Council supports the replacement of the existing tests of soundness.  
It is long been considered that the introduction of the tests of soundness 
have created a significant burden on plan-making authorities.

 The abolition of the cumbersome Sustainability Appraisal approach is 
welcomed. Any new environmental assessment arrangement will still 
need to ensure environmental issues are properly considered for each 
site, alone and in combination.

6 Proposed Changes to Development Management 

6.1 Very significant changes are proposed for the Development Management 
system including

 A major streamlining of the planning application process  including:

- Areas identified as Growth areas would automatically be granted outline 
planning permission for the principle of development, while automatic 
approvals would also be available for pre-established development types 
in other areas suitable for development (Proposal 5)

- proposal to introduce a ‘fast track for beauty’ through changes to 
national policy and legislation to incentivise and accelerate high quality 
development which reflect local character (Proposal 14)

 Decision-making should be faster and more certain with firm deadlines 
and greater use of digital technology (Proposal 6)

 A stronger emphasis on build-out through planning (Proposal 10)

6.2 Each of these are summarised below followed by an assessment of the 
proposals.
 
Fast tracked proposals (Proposal 5 and 14)

6.3 The NPPF will make it clear that schemes that comply with local design guides 
will receive swift approval. The White Paper states that where a Local Plan has 
identified an area for development planning decisions should focus on resolving 
outstanding issues- not the principle of development. Outline permission is 
conferred by the adoption of the Local Plan.

6.4 It is proposed that automatic permission will be granted for high-quality 
developments where they reflect local character and preferences.  Further 
details would be agreed and full permission achieved through a streamlined and 
faster consent route which focusses on securing good design and resolving site-
specific technical issues.

6.5 Consent for development in a Growth areas would be granted in one of three 
ways:

 A reformed reserved matters process for agreeing the issues which 



16

remain outstanding;

 A Local Development Order which could be prepared by the local 
planning authority for development in parallel with the Local Plan and be 
linked to a master plan and design codes; and

 Potentially using the Nationally Significant Infrastructure projects regime 
for new town and other exceptionally large developments (the 
Government is exploring this method further).

6.6 The Government proposes that Growth areas will require a masterplan and/or 
site-specific codes to be agreed as a condition of the permission in principle 
which is granted through the Local Plan.  This could be in place prior to more 
detailed proposals coming forward.  These masterplans and codes would be 
prepared by local planning authorities alongside or subsequent to preparing its 
plan at a level appropriate to the type of development.

6.7 Consent for development in a Renewal area would be granted in one of three 
ways:

 A new permission route which gives automatic consent if the scheme 
meets design and other prior approval requirements previously set out by 
the LPA in its adopted Local Plan.  This could include an adopted design 
code.

 A faster planning application process where a planning application would 
be determined in the context of the Local Plan description for what the 
site is appropriate for, and with reference to the NPPF.

 A Local or Neighbourhood Development Order which could be prepared 
by the LPA for development in parallel with the Local Plan and be linked 
to a master plan and design codes.

6.8 In both Growth and Renewal areas it would still be appropriate for a proposal 
which is contrary to the Local Plan to come forward but this would require a 
specific planning application.  The Government expects this to be the exception 
rather than the rule.

6.9 The Government also proposes to legislate to widen the nature of permitted 
development so that it enables popular and replicable forms of development to 
be approved easily and quickly. The Government is proposing to develop a 
limited set of form-based development types to allow the redevelopment of 
existing residential areas to enable increased densities whilst maintaining 
harmony.  Prior approval from the local planning authority would still be needed 
for aspects to ensure the development is right for its context (such as materials) 
as well as other considerations such as flood risk and securing safe access.  
These development types could be modified by local planning authorities to 
ensure that they are applicable for different parts of the area. Some pilot studies 
will be developed.

6.10 In Protected areas any development proposal would now come forward as a 
planning application being made to the local authority and judged against 
policies set out in the NPPF.

Decision-making should be faster and more certain with firm deadlines and 
greater use of digital technology (Proposal 6)

6.11 The Government proposes a number of actions that will make this possible, 



17

these include (further details on p36 of the White Paper):
 Greater digitisation of the application process;

 Improved software which will help determine ‘whether new applications 
are within the rules;’

 Shorter more standardised applications.  The amount of information 
required for an application should be reduced considerably. For major 
applications there should be only one standardised planning statement of 
no more than 50 pages to justify the development proposals in relation to 
the Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework;

 A digital template for planning notices and clearer and more consistent 
conditions (including new standard national conditions where 
appropriate);

 Greater standardisation of technical supporting information; and

  A streamlined approach to developer contributions (included later in this 
report).

6.12 The Government is considering measures to ensure time limits are reached 
including the automatic refund of the planning fee if it fails to be determined  
within the time limit (8 or 13 weeks).

6.13 Where planning applications are refused it is proposed that the applicants are 
entitled to an automatic rebate of their planning application fee if they are 
successful at appeal. The Government expects that under the new system there 
will be fewer appeals being considered by the Planning Inspectorate and this will 
be a faster system.  

A stronger emphasis on build-out through planning (Proposal 10)
6.14 The Government wishes to speed up delivery on site by ensuring that 

masterplans and design codes open up sites for different types of builders which 
allow more phases to come forward together.

Strengthened enforcement powers (Proposal 24)
6.15 The Government proposes ‘strengthened enforcement powers and sanctions as 

we move towards a rule-based system’. This will include more powers to 
address intentional unauthorised development, the consideration of higher fines 
and ways of supporting more enforcement activity.

Comment on proposed changes to Development Management 
Changes to the consent regime

6.16 The Council strongly objects to the resulting lack of public consultation if the 
Government proposals relating to development schemes in Growth and Renewal 
areas go ahead. There are often numerous other relevant issues that the local 
community may wish to comment on and it would appear under the White Paper 
proposals that these opportunities will be denied with  all comments instead 
limited to the Local Plan stage.  

6.17 This is arguably the most controversial proposal of the White Paper, which 
claims that local authorities should engage local communities more yet proposes 
to streamline the planning application process to such an extent that it will deny 
local residents the opportunity to  comment on proposals which really do affect 
their lives on a day-to day basis.



18

6.18 These proposals will undeniably give the public less say regarding planning 
matters rather than more.  People are more likely to comment on proposals 
(major or minor) in their vicinity rather than design proposals at the Local Plan 
stage which will include sites and areas across the whole Borough.  Whilst it is 
recognised that digital forms can potentially increase interest in Local Plans, 
residents are likely to be more engaged in proposals which they perceive to 
directly affect them. 

6.19 By way of example a planning application for a proposed infill plot in a Renewal 
area, that has genuine matters of concern, will be of much more interest to 
residents in that area than the proposed design coding of the wider 
neighbourhood (at the Local Plan stage). However under the proposed new 
system the design coding could enable the development of the infill plot to take 
place without any further public consultation. Residents will often wish to 
comment on a proposal when they can actually see the detail of a proposal and 
knowing that someone is proposing to build it; whilst the design coding over a 
wider area would more likely to be viewed as a theoretical exercise. 

6.20 Under the new proposals there is a real risk that the public will feel that they 
have lost their voice which will be compounded by the fact that their 
democratically elected Councillors will also have less opportunities, under the 
proposals, to make decisions on detailed planning proposals. This will also likely 
increase the exposure of Council officers to public criticism when unpopular 
decisions which conform to the Local Plan are permitted. 

6.21 The White Paper states that the existing planning system allows proposals to be 
shaped by a small minority of voices however the increased use of local social 
media in recent years has already increased engagement from a wider cross-
section of the population for both planning applications and planning policy 
documents. Many people will feel aggrieved that they are not being given the 
opportunity to comment on a detailed proposal and it will be difficult for the local 
planning authority to placate their concerns  by stating that they could have 
made a comment at the Local Plan stage (potentially years ago). 

6.22 This again emphasises the point made earlier in Section 5 in relation to the Local 
Plan making process; if the public consultation on design coding neighbourhoods 
is going to be done properly it is likely to take significantly longer than  that the 
Government envisages. 

6.23 However even if  new technology engages a significantly increased number of 
the public on the Local Plan there will still be a number of people who will not 
have been involved but would like to comment on the detailed planning proposal 
(e.g. new residents who have moved into an area).

6.24 The proposals would also significantly reduce the local accountability of 
decision-making with a reduced role for democratically elected councillors to 
make planning decisions on potentially locally controversial proposals, which 
meet the design code but raise other concerns important to the local community. 
Whilst recognising councillors will be making decisions regarding the quantum, 
mix of use and design policies at the Local Plan stage there will be reduced 
opportunities to exercise their judgement on detailed proposals.



19

Other comments
6.25 Quality of information supplied to the local planning authority: The 

Government will need to recognise that decision-making by local planning 
authorities is often dependent on many other matters outside of the local 
planning authorities control including the quality of the information submitted by 
developers and the quality and timeliness of comments received from consultees 
including a number of statutory organisations.  It will be important for the 
Government to also consider these issues alongside their proposed reforms.

6.26 There is concern that it will be difficult to significantly streamline some of the 
technical reports necessary to determine an application for example in relation to 
flood risk, ecology and heritage including archaeology. In many cases 
particularly in relation to heritage sites a lack of detail may result in applications 
being ill-informed or key data being missed. Streamlined technical reports can 
often be detrimental to the very issue they are designed to protect, providing 
insufficient assessment of the issue in hand.

6.27 The Council supports the  following proposals but recognises that more detail is 
required regarding their implementation and resource implications:

- The use of data and new technology 

- Actions to strengthen the build-out on sites- however there is no 
mention of measures to be introduced to secure the implementation 
and completion of development.  How will the acknowledged issue of 
land-banking/permission-banking be addressed and prevented in the 
future? This also needs to be considered in relation to the Housing 
Delivery Test as mentioned previously.

- Strengthened enforcement role

7 Increased emphasis on design

7.1 The White Paper places significant emphasis on the need for ‘new development 
to be beautiful’, and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’.  Some of the 
detailed design proposals are covered within the Local Plan and Development 
Management sections of the report.  This section focuses on the importance of 
design, design codes and the necessary training and resources.

7.2 The key White Paper proposals are:
 Expect design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with community 

involvement and ensure that codes are more binding on decisions about 
development (Proposal 11).

 A new organisation will be set up to support the delivery of locally-popular 
design codes and each local authority will have a chief officer for design 
and place-making (Proposal 12).

 Homes England to lead by example to give greater emphasis to 
delivering beautiful places (Proposal 13).

7.3 A brief summary of the proposals is set out below.

Expect design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with community 
involvement and ensure that codes are more binding on decisions about 
development (Proposal 11).

7.4 The Government proposes that the National Design Guide (produced in 2019), 



20

its forthcoming National Model Design Code (to be produced in the Autumn) and 
the revised Manual for Street will influence the locally devised Design Codes.  
These will be used to supplement and add visual dimension to Local Plans.

A new organisation will be set up to support the delivery of locally-popular 
design codes and it is proposed that each local authority will have a chief 
officer for design and place-making (Proposal 12)  

7.5 The Government recognises further support is required for local authorities to 
develop Design Codes and consequently it proposes to set up a new expert 
body which can help authorities to use design guidance and codes.  It is also 
proposed that planning departments are better resourced and that there is a 
need to re-focus professional skills towards design with the appointment of a 
chief officer for design and place-making.

Comment of design proposals
7.6 The emphasis on good design is welcome. It is important to recognise that the 

Council has always placed a strong focus on design with a detailed Local Plan 
policy, a Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), Areas of Special 
Character SPDs, a design emphasis in site-specific SPDs (such as Daedalus 
and the Gosport Waterfront and Town Centre SPDs) as well as a number of 
Conservation Area Appraisals and Townscape Assessment.  This information 
can be used to inform future design coding. The Council therefore has significant 
experience of preparing good quality design guidance with meaningful public 
engagement.  It also knows from experience that the production of quality and 
well-considered information does take time and resources.

7.7 In principle the use of locally prepared design codes with significant public 
involvement is welcomed. This has the potential to lead to attractive 
developments.  The risk of design coding is that it could potentially stifle original 
and innovative new design in place of safe standard options. Identifying what 
constitutes ‘beautiful’ development will be entirely subjective. With the proposal 
that ‘beautiful’ proposals should be fast tracked for automatic consent, this would 
raise some concern over how this is precisely defined and what flexibility and 
scrutiny would be allowed for more than one form of ‘beautiful’ development on a 
given site.

7.8 It is noted that the Government wants to move away from the vague 
development management policies which set out more generic design principles 
to more detailed design codes, yet it also wants to significantly speed up the 
preparation of Local Plans.  These two ambitions may be difficult to reconcile. 
Detailed design codes will take longer to produce for each area of a local 
authority than the current Local Plan design policies which set out good design 
principles. 

7.9 The proposal for ‘setting out site or area specific parameters and opportunities’ 
would require very detailed design guidance on potentially a street by street 
basis to ensure that the community is clear on what would be permissible. There 
would need to be significant additional resources within planning departments as 
well as intensive training to increase capacity and enhance skills (graphic 
design, visualisation, interactive mapping and modelling).

7.10 It is recognised that a Design Code template will be produced in the Autumn 
which could assist the process but it would still need professional judgement to 



21

include the relevant information for each Growth and Renewal area identified in 
the Local Plan.  Even with the appropriate resources in place, this process is 
likely to take much longer than the 12 months identified in the White Paper.

7.11 The potential opportunities for local communities to engage in design codes for 
key development sites in Gosport is a very positive concept but this should be 
done properly first time round.  Once the initial reformed Local Plan is in place it 
is likely the streamlined system will then become quicker in the second round of 
plan-making. Indeed, the Government states this in the White Paper.

7.12 It is important to have ambitious targets which challenge stakeholders to produce 
outcomes as quickly as possible, but these targets must also be achievable.  
This reaffirms the earlier point in Section 5, that the Government should 
dispense with the statutory 30 month timetable at this early stage of planning 
reform and await greater understanding about whether this is consistently 
achievable across England with a range of different local authorities. It would 
also provide more time for the Government to fulfil its commitment to reassess 
funding and resources for local authority planning services.

7.13 It also important to address the issue of design more widely. Will there be more 
design training within the construction/developer industry and have volume 
building companies and infrastructure companies committed to these 
requirements? There would also be the need to factor in slightly higher costs to 
deliver good design in many (but not all) instances.

8 Sustainability and the Environment 

8.1 In addition to those proposals mentioned above there are a number of additional 
proposals relating to the environment and sustainability including:

 Amend the NPPF to ensure that it targets areas where a reformed 
planning system can most effectively play a role in mitigating and 
adapting to climate change and maximising environmental benefits 
(Proposal 15).

 A simpler framework for assessing environmental impacts and 
enhancement opportunities that speeds up the process and protects and 
enhances habitats (Proposal 16).

 Facilitate ambitious improvements in energy efficiency for buildings to 
deliver net zero carbon emissions by 2050 (Proposal 18).

 Conserving and enhancing historic buildings and areas for the 21st 
century (Proposal 17).

8.2 The key proposals are summarised below followed by an assessment of the 
proposals based on the limited information available.

Amend the NPPF to ensure that it targets areas where a reformed planning 
system can most effectively play a role in mitigating and adapting to 
climate change and maximising environmental benefits (Proposal 15)

8.3 This includes a simpler effective approach to assessing environmental impacts.  
The Government is therefore considering how the proposed local site specific 
policies can be utilised to do this rather than relying on the current generic Local 
Plan policies.



22

Facilitate ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency for buildings to 
deliver net zero carbon emissions by 2050 (Proposal 18).

8.4 The White Paper focuses on its earlier consultation on the Future Home 
Standard which requires from 2025 new homes to produce 78-80% lower CO2 
emissions compared to current levels.  These homes will be ‘zero-carbon ready’ 
with the ability to become fully zero carbon homes as the electricity grid 
decarbonises without the need for any further retrofitting work. The Government 
states that local planning authorities  should be accountable for their actions and 
that the White Paper consultation will look to clarify the role that they can play in 
setting energy efficiency standards for new build developments.

A simpler framework for assessing environmental impacts and 
enhancement opportunities that speeds up the process and protects and 
enhances habitats (Proposal 16)

8.5 The Government proposes to strengthen environmental protections now that the 
UK has left the European Union.  Potential ways to speed up the process 
include: having national and local data readily available in digital form; simpler 
environmental assessments; and understandable mitigation.  The Government 
recognises that reforms will need to respect domestic and international 
obligations for environmental protections.

Conserving and enhancing historic buildings and areas for the 21st century 
(Proposal 17)

8.6 The White Paper recognises the importance of historic buildings and areas but 
suggests the consent framework needs to be fit for the 21st century. Guidance 
will be updated to allow where appropriate sympathetic changes to their 
continued use and to address climate change. Local Plans will need to identify 
internationally, nationally and locally designated heritage assets.

8.7 The Government wishes to explore whether there are new and better ways of 
securing consent for routine works including whether suitably experienced 
architectural specialists can have earned autonomy from routine listed building 
consents.

Comment on environmental and sustainability proposals
8.8 Many of the elements of this section are particularly vague and the Government 

acknowledge further work is required.  A simplification of the environmental 
impact system is generally welcomed but it will be necessary to ensure that there 
is the necessary protection and safeguards in place to meet international and 
domestic obligations.   

8.9 The proposal for more sustainable buildings is welcomed in principle and indeed 
necessary if the Government is to achieve the legal requirements of securing net 
zero CO2 emission by 2050. However with regard to the energy efficiency 
measures it is not clear whether this will be implemented through the planning 
system.  In the past decade the Government has not supported such proposals 
as it expressly prevented local planning authorities using the Code for 
Sustainable Homes. It may in this instance be more appropriate that as the net 
zero carbon emissions of buildings is a very technical issue that this is 
determined by Building Control officers. Consequently clarity is required whether 
these measures will be introduced through enhanced Building Regulations.

8.10 In terms of the proposals for heritage buildings the White Paper proposes a 



23

forthcoming review of the planning framework for listed buildings and 
conservation areas without providing any detail. The Government’s aim for 
‘experienced architectural specialists’ who have ‘earned autonomy’ from routine 
consents has been raised, then rejected, in an earlier government consultation in 
2012.  The following concerns in relation to this proposal are relevant:

 It would not speed up proposals but create another layer of checking for 
the LPA to undertake. Conservation staff would still be required on behalf 
of the LPA to ensure the information was accurate and formally agreed. 
This is similar to the process undertaken now when a heritage statement 
is submitted. 

 It would remove public consultation from the process and be less open 
and transparent than the process the LPA currently is required to go 
through.

 It would create a two tier system and potential problems with a consistent 
approach. 

 There would be concern regarding any accreditation by which an agent 
was paid by the developer to approve their own application – neither 
being democratic or accountable to local members or adopted policies. 

 There would be concern regarding the policing of an accreditation system 
and the lack of understanding from Government as to the role of pre-
application discussions. Many local authority conservation officers have 
in-depth local knowledge gained through extensive experience with local 
architects, builders, appeal decisions and adopted council policy, much of 
which might be less effectively handled by outside “accredited” agents.

 There have been examples where a “conservation accredited” 
professional acts as the agent for an applicant and where the application 
was obviously contrary to local conservation and heritage policies and 
general best practise conservation understanding.  

8.11 The White Paper indicates that heritage protections have ‘worked well’ but 
stresses that the historic building system needs to be responsive to change (e.g. 
integrating methods of improving insulation or solar energy). This is already 
common practice amongst conservation staff but is a welcome proposal. 

9 Development Contributions and Resourcing Arrangements
9.1 The Government is proposing wholesale change to the developer contribution 

system as well as considering how planning departments and the planning 
Inspectorate can be resourced.  Proposals include:

 A new Infrastructure Levy to be introduced which will be charged as a 
fixed proportion of the development value above a threshold, with a 
mandatory nationally set rate or rates and the current system of planning 
obligations abolished (Proposal 19).

 The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended to capture 
changes of use through permitted development rights (Proposal 20).

 The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable housing 
provision (Proposal 21).

 More freedom could be given to local authorities over how to spend the 
Infrastructure Levy (Proposal 22).

 As the Government finalises its proposals it will develop a comprehensive 



24

resources and skills strategy to supplement the implementations of the 
reforms (Proposal 23).

9.2 Proposals are included below followed by officer comment.

Reform of the existing developer contribution mechanisms (Proposal 19)
9.3 The two current mechanisms (the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 

106 Agreements) will be replaced by a nationally set, value-based flat rate 
charge (the Infrastructure Levy).  The aim is to raise more revenue than under 
the current system of developer contributions and deliver the same and if not 
more affordable housing. 

9.4 The Government states that this will ‘sweep-away’ months of negotiations for 
Section 106 Agreements.

9.5 It cites that the benefits of the new system will be that it will capture a greater 
share of uplift in land value that comes with development.  The system would:

 Be charged on the final value of development  and be levied at point of 
occupation, with prevention of occupation being a potential sanction of 
non-payment;

 It would have a value-based minimum threshold below which the levy is 
not charged to prevent low-liability development becoming unviable.  
Where the development is below the threshold no levy would be charged. 
Where the development is above the threshold the Levy would only be 
charged on the proportion of that value exceeded by the threshold; and

 The system would provide greater certainty to communities and 
developers about the level of developer contributions expected.

9.6 The Government proposes that as the Infrastructure Levy will be paid at the time 
of occupation local authorities can support the timely delivery of infrastructure by 
borrowing against the Infrastructure Levy revenues so that they could forward 
fund infrastructure.

The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable housing 
provision (Proposal 21)

9.7 The current CIL cannot be used for affordable housing instead most affordable 
housing is delivered on-site in accordance with Local Plan.  However in some 
cases it is more appropriate to build the housing elsewhere (off-site) and this can 
be negotiated using developer contributions secured by a Section 106 
agreement.

9.8 The Government is proposing that affordable housing could be secured through 
in-kind delivery which could be mandatory   Under this approach a provider of an 
affordable housing could purchase the dwelling at a discount from the market 
rate as now.  However rather than the discount being secured through a Section 
106 agreement it would instead be considered in-kind delivery of the 
Infrastructure Levy.  In effect the difference between the price at which the unit 
was sold to the provider and the market price would be offset from the final cash 
liability to the Levy.  The Government argues that this would create an incentive 
for the developer to build on-site affordable housing where appropriate.

More freedom could be given to local authorities over how to spend the 
Infrastructure Levy (Proposal 22):



25

9.9 The White Paper states that it is important that there is a strong link between 
where development occurs and where funding is spent and that through the 
current system this is largely being spent on infrastructure.  The White Paper is 
suggesting that in addition to infrastructure this funding could be extended to 
improve services or reduce council tax. It is proposed to retain the 
Neighbourhood element which exists in the current CIL of up to 25% depending 
on the characteristics of an area.

As the Government finalises its proposals it will develop a comprehensive 
resources and skills strategy to supplement the implementations of the 
reforms (Proposal 23)

9.10 The White Paper proposes that:
 Planning application fees should cover at least the full cost of processing 

the application based on clear national benchmarking including greater 
regulation of discretionary pre-application charging;

  A small proportion of the new developer contributions system should be 
used to cover local planning authorities overall planning costs including 
the preparation and review of the Local Plan and design codes and 
enforcement activities;

 Reform should be accompanied by a deep dive regulatory review to 
identify and eliminate outdated regulations which increase costs for local 
planning authorities.

9.11 It is recognised that some of the planning system should be funded through 
general taxation given the public benefits of good planning, this includes new 
burdens funding.

9.12 Local planning authorities should be subject to a new performance framework 
which ensure continuous improvement across all planning functions.

9.13 The Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees should become more self-
financing through new charging mechanisms.

9.14 Reform should include improved training and increased digital capabilities. It will 
be important to develop a resourcing and skills framework which works for all 
local authorities across the country.

Comment on proposals to amend the developer contribution system and 
funding arrangements

The proposed Infrastructure Levy
9.15 There may be merit with having a simplified system based on the uplift in land 

value from its development but this proposal in particular and the future detail will 
need to be considered very carefully as there is the potential for numerous 
unintended consequences.  The recent example of CIL which was only 
introduced in 2010 required numerous additional regulations to iron-out 
problems.

9.16 There may be certain cases where a negotiated arrangement through a Section 
106 agreement is preferred by the local planning authority, developer and/or 
community in order to make a proposal developable even if an Infrastructure 
Levy payment itself is not viable. The proposed system may be too rigid without 
having the option of some form of negotiated settlement.



26

9.17 The Council is very concerned that infrastructure payments are to be required at 
the point of occupation rather than closer to the beginning of the development 
process. This could have major implications on the provision of essential 
infrastructure required to serve the development upon occupation such as 
transport measures or schools and community facilities.  A negotiated 
arrangement will give developers, the local authority and the community a more 
flexible arrangement which enable the appropriate infrastructure to be made 
available at the most suitable time as part of the development.  

9.18 The White Paper does propose that to support the timely delivery of 
infrastructure the Government would allow local authorities to borrow against the 
Infrastructure Levy revenues so that it could forward fund infrastructure.  This 
however opens local authorities up to significant risk as it assumes that the 
development will be available to occupy at the time the developer says that it 
will.  The LPA and the wider community will be taking the risk and the costs of 
borrowing which should be taken up by the developer who will gain from the 
profits of the development.  It may be appropriate for central Government, either 
directly, or through Local Enterprise Partnerships, to  undertake the borrowing 
instead but there is still the risk that developers will not complete on time, go 
bankrupt or decide to mothball a site.  There are consequently very significant 
implications with this proposal. The risks and costs will be placed on the local 
planning authority not the developer (or its shareholders). These measures will 
not provide certainty that infrastructure will be delivered in a timely manner. 

9.19 This approach also assumes that local planning authorities are responsible for a 
particular type of infrastructure. In many cases other agencies are responsible 
for implementing the infrastructure and therefore the LPA will have only limited 
control over the timing and procurement of new infrastructure but yet have 
undertaken the risk of borrowing for a forthcoming development. It seems 
inappropriate that the organisation which is neither the developer, nor 
necessarily the infrastructure provider, is taking the risk and cost of borrowing. 

9.20 There are likely to be a number of variations of options that the Government 
needs to consider including the retention of some form of Section 106 
arrangement to enable a negotiated developer contribution to make particular 
schemes developable. 

Affordable Housing
9.21 The Government clearly has some positive intentions with this proposal including 

incentivising the building of higher quality affordable houses. The Government 
itself recognises that this approach has a number of risks and uncertainties.  
This whole issue needs further consideration with a more detailed explanation on 
the economics of this with some worked examples based on real-world 
scenarios.  There would appear to be potentially many unintended 
consequences that have not been fully considered at this stage and the Council 
would reserve its judgement on this particular issue until further explanation is 
given. This is also the case with the proposed alternative option which would 
create a ‘first refusal right’ for local authorities (or any affordable housing 
provider acting on their behalf) to buy up a set proportion of on-site units at 
discounted prices.  The proportion would be set nationally.  The local authority 
could use Infrastructure Levy funds or other funds to purchase units.

Scope of spending developer contributions



27

9.22 The current focus of developer contributions should remain on infrastructure.  
The Infrastructure Levy is aimed at providing infrastructure requirements to 
support new development and the wider existing community.  The potential to 
widen this out for service improvements and a reduction in Council Tax weakens 
the justification of the Infrastructure Levy and could lead to an infrastructure 
deficit.  The current link to infrastructure should be retained.

Resourcing
9.23 Further detail will be required on this proposal.  At present CIL Regulations allow 

local authorities to take 5% of CIL revenue to administer the Levy including the 
costs of adoption, implementation and distribution of funds.  There is concern 
that by trying to cover an increasing proportion of the LPA costs through 
developer contributions there will be a reduced sum available for infrastructure.  

9.24 Once established the new system could result in costs savings through the use 
of new technology, the reduced need for expensive consultancy evidence 
studies and a streamlined system as a whole. Initial costs for addressing some 
of the set up costs can be covered by new burdens.  There may be scope for 
funding from developers and/or landowners to pay for design coding work as 
part of the Local Plan but there would need to be safeguards in place to ensure 
the local authority can independently deliver a design code which ensures 
appropriate liaison with the developer and the wider community.

10 Next steps

10.1 The Government’s consultation on the White Paper concludes on 29th October. 
Subject to the outcome of this consultation the Government will seek to bring 
forward primary and secondary legislation to implement the reform.  It is 
recognised that further detail will need to be set out and the Government will 
continue to consult on these matters. The Government is expecting new Local 
Plans to be in place by the end of the Parliament (this is scheduled to be May 
2024).  Given that it is expected to take 30 months to prepare a new Local Plan 
this would imply that the legislation would be in force by November 2021.

11 Risk Assessment

11.1 It is important that the Council makes a representation to the Government on the 
White Paper as its proposals have far-reaching consequences for its planning 
service.  It is therefore important to respond to the matters the Government have 
raised as part of its consultation including a number of issues that the Council 
wishes to object to. 

Financial Services 
comments:

-

Legal Services 
comments:

None

Equality and 
Diversity 

N/a –this is an external consultation

Climate change This is an external consultation which has implications in the 
production of GBC documents.  Comments have been made about 
the Government’s proposals relating to climate change

Service 
Improvement Plan 
implications:

The proposals have the potential to significantly change the way in 
which Planning and Regeneration services are operated.



28

Council Plan: The White Paper will have implication for the Council’s planning 
services which help to develop the economy, enhance the 
environment, raise aspirations and empower residents.  Proposals 
will also directly affect the delivery of services.

Risk Assessment: See section 11
Background 
papers:

Planning for the Future – Government White Paper (Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government August 2020)

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future 
Appendices Appendix 1: List of White Paper Proposals and Consultation 

Questions
Report author/ 
Lead Officer:

Jayson Grygiel, Manager of Planning Policy 



Appendix 1: Planning for the Future White Paper (August 2020) List of 
Proposals and Consultation Questions

Pillar One – Planning for development
1. What three words do you associate most with the planning system in England?
2(a).Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area? [Yes / No]

2(b). If no, why not?[Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated / I 
don’t care / Other – please specify]

3. Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute your views 
to planning decisions. How would you like to find out about plans and planning 
proposals in the future? [Social media / Online news / Newspaper / By post / 
Other – please specify]

4. What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area? [Building homes 
for young people / building homes for the homeless / Protection of green spaces / 
The environment, biodiversity and action on climate change / Increasing the 
affordability of housing / The design of new homes and places / Supporting the 
high street / Supporting the local economy / More or better local infrastructure / 
Protection of existing heritage buildings or areas / Other – please specify]

Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified. We propose that 
Local Plans should identify three types of land – Growth areas suitable for 
substantial development, Renewal areas suitable for development, and areas 
that are Protected

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.

Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national scale 
and an altered role for Local Plans.

6. Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development management 
content of Local Plans, and setting out general development management 
policies nationally? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable 
development” test, replacing the existing tests of soundness.

7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests for 
Local Plans with a consolidated test of “sustainable development”, which would 
include consideration of environmental impact? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.]



7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the absence 
of a formal Duty to Cooperate?

Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement figures 
which ensures enough land is released in the areas where affordability is 
worst, to stop land supply being a barrier to enough homes being built. The 
housing requirement would factor in land constraints and opportunities to 
more effectively use land, including through densification where appropriate, 
to ensure that the land is identified in the most appropriate areas and housing 
targets are met.

8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing requirements 
(that takes into account constraints) should be introduced?[Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.]

8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are 
appropriate indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated?[Yes / No 
/ Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

A STREAMLINED DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS WITH 
AUTOMATIC PLANNING PERMISSION FOR SCHEMES IN LINE WITH PLANS

Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial 
development) would automatically be granted outline planning permission for 
the principle of development, while automatic approvals would also be 
available for pre-established development types in other areas suitable for 
building.

9(a). Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission for areas for 
substantial development (Growth areas) with faster routes for detailed consent? [Yes 
/ No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent arrangements for 
Renewal and Protected areas? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements to be brought forward 
under the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime? [Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm 
deadlines, and make greater use of digital technology

10. Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster and more 
certain? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]



A NEW INTERACTIVE, WEB-BASED MAP STANDARD FOR PLANNING 
DOCUMENTS

Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based 
on the latest digital technology, and supported by a new template.

11. Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based Local Plans? [Yes / 
No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

A STREAMLINED, MORE ENGAGING PLAN-MAKING PROCESS

Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required 
through legislation to meet a statutory timetable for key stages of the process, 
and we will consider what sanctions there would be for those who fail to do so.

12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale for the 
production of Local Plans? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important means 
of community input, and we will support communities to make better use of 
digital tools

13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed 
planning system? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed to meet our 
objectives, such as in the use of digital tools and reflecting community preferences 
about design?

SPEEDING UP THE DELIVERY OF DEVELOPMENT

Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning

14. Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build out of 
developments? And if so, what further measures would you support? [Yes / No / Not 
sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful  and sustainable 
places
15. What do you think about the design of new development that has happened 
recently in your area? [Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly 
and/or poorly-designed / There hasn’t been any / Other – please specify]

16. Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority for 
sustainability in your area? [Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / 
Energy efficiency of new buildings / More trees / Other – please specify]



CREATING FRAMEWORKS FOR QUALITY

Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable, we will 
expect design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with community 
involvement, and ensure that codes are more binding on decisions about 
development.

17. Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and use of design 
guides and codes? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is more 
visual and rooted in local preferences and character, we will set up a body to 
support the delivery of provably locally-popular design codes, and propose 
that each authority should have a chief officer for design and place-making.

18. Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support design coding and 
building better places, and that each authority should have a chief officer for design 
and place-making? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better places, 
we will consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can give greater 
emphasis to delivering beautiful places.

19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design might be given greater 
emphasis in the strategic objectives for Homes England? [Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.]

A FAST-TRACK FOR BEAUTY

Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast-track for beauty through changes to 
national policy and legislation, to incentivise and accelerate high quality 
development which reflects local character and preferences.

20. Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track for beauty? [Yes / 
No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

EFFECTIVE STEWARDSHIP AND ENHANCEMENT OF OUR NATURAL AND 
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

Proposal 15: We intend to amend the National Planning Policy Framework to 
ensure that it targets those areas where a reformed planning system can most 
effectively play a role in mitigating and adapting to climate change and 
maximising environmental benefits.

Proposal 16: We intend to design a quicker, simpler framework for assessing 
environmental impacts and enhancement opportunities, that speeds up the 
process while protecting and enhancing the most valuable and important 
habitats and species in England.



Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas in the 
21st century.

Proposal 18: To complement our planning reforms, we will facilitate ambitious 
improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings to help deliver 
our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and 
connected places
21. When new development happens in your area, what is your priority for what 
comes with it? [More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as 
transport, schools, health provision) / Design of new buildings / More shops and/or 
employment space / Green space / Don’t know / Other – please specify]

A CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed to be 
charged as a fixed proportion of the development value above a threshold, 
with a mandatory nationally-set rate or rates and the current system of 
planning obligations abolished.

22(a). Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure Levy and 
Section 106 planning obligations with a new consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which 
is charged as a fixed proportion of development value above a set threshold? [Yes / 
No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single rate, set 
nationally at an area-specific rate,or set locally? [Nationally at a single rate / 
Nationally at an area-specific rate / Locally]

22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount of value 
overall, or more value, to support greater investment in infrastructure, affordable 
housing and local communities? [Same amount overall / More value / Less value / 
Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

22(d). Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the Infrastructure Levy, to 
support infrastructure delivery in their area? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.]

Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended to 
capture changes of use through permitted development rights



23. Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy should capture 
changes of use through permitted development rights? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable 
housing provision

24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same amount of 
affordable housing under the Infrastructure Levy, and as much on-site affordable 
provision, as at present? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards the 
Infrastructure Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted rates for local 
authorities? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate against local 
authority overpayment risk? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps that would 
need to be taken to support affordable housing quality? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over how they 
spend the Infrastructure Levy

25. Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend the 
Infrastructure Levy? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
25(a). If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed? [Yes / No / Not 
sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 23: As we develop our final proposals for this new planning system, 
we will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the 
planning sector to support the implementation of our reforms. In doing so, we 
propose this strategy will be developed including the following key elements:

Proposal 24: We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions

26. Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals raised in this 
consultation on people with protected characteristics as defined in section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010?



1

   

Board/Committee: Economic Development Board
Date of Meeting: 23rd September 2020
Title: ‘Changes to the Current Planning System’- 

Government consultation (August 2020)
Author: Manager of Planning Policy
Status: For Decision

PURPOSE
To brief Members regarding the content of the Government’s 
‘Changes to the Current Planning System’ document (August 2020) 
and set out key matters to form the basis of a formal response.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That this Council makes the following representations to the 
Government: (as expanded upon within section 2)  

 Continues to object to the principle of the Standard Method for 
determining housing need;

 Object to the proposal which requires that 25% of affordable 
housing secured by planning obligations should be the ‘First 
Homes’ requirement. Instead this should be at the discretion of 
the local authority based on local need, site characteristics and 
viability issues in accordance with the Adopted Local Plan;

 Recognise the need to assist small and medium-sized builders 
by increasing the threshold at which affordable housing is 
required but the Government should introduce a new scheme 
in which Government funds the local authorities the equivalent 
amount in affordable housing contributions in order to facilitate 
new social housing;

 Object to the extension of Permission in Principle for major 
development for the reasons set out in the report

That the Manager of Planning Policy, in liaison with the Development 
Manager and in consultation with the Economic Development Board 
Chairman, has delegated authority to submit responses to the 
technical questions based on the principles of the above 
recommendations and comments set out in this Report.

1 Background
1.1 In addition to the White Paper, ‘Planning For the Future’ (which is 

also subject to a report on this agenda), the Government is consulting 
on other proposed changes to the planning system which are 
included within the document, ‘Changes to the current Planning 
System.’1  Comments are required to reach the Government by 1st 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system 

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system


2

October 2020.

1.2 It is proposed that this report will form the basis of the Council’s 
representations to the Government and that the Manager of Planning 
Policy in liaison with the Development Manager consider responses 
to the Government’s detailed technical questions.  The responses will 
be based on the key issues set out in this report.

2 Report
2.1 The Government is consulting on four main proposals:

1) Changes of the standard method for assessing local housing 
need.

2) Securing of First Homes, sold at a market price for first time 
buyers through developer contributions in the short term until 
the transition to a new system (as outlined in the Planning 
White Paper).

3) Temporarily lifting the small sites threshold below which 
developers do not need to contribute to affordable housing to 
up to 40 or 50 units.  This is intended to support Small and 
Medium sized builders as the economy recovers from the 
impact of Covid-19.

4) Extending the current Permission in Principle to major 
development so landowners and developers have a fast route 
to secure the principle for development for housing on sites 
without having to work up detailed plans first.

Proposal 1: Changes of the standard method for assessing local 
housing need.

2.2 The standard method for assessing housing need for each local 
authority area was introduced by the Government’s National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) in 2018. The Government considers this 
approach as a simple and transparent way to establish need for each 
area and boost housing supply to address affordability issues. It is 
designed to reduce time-consuming debates regarding the number of 
homes each area is required to build.

2.3 It is based on a formula that currently requires local authorities to use 
a rolling 10 year average of household growth projections and an 
affordability ratio which takes into account median house price and 
median workplace earnings. Until now the Government has required 
local authorities to use the 2014 Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
projections rather than the later projections which indicate lower 
growth rates.  This is to ensure that the Government’s proposed 
target of 300,000 dwellings a year across England can be achieved.

2.4 The current system has been subject to criticism due to the volatility 
of the household projections and the way in which this can artificially 
result in low projections in some places where overcrowding and 
concealed households suppress the numbers.



3

2.5 The suggested standard method, outlined here, should in many ways 
be considered as an interim measure as the White Paper proposes a 
comprehensive review of the standard method which takes into 
account potential constraints within an area when identifying suitable 
land for housing.

2.6 The interim methodology allows the most up-to-date household 
projections (currently the 2018 based ONS projections produced 
earlier this year) to be used.  However the methodology proposes to 
introduce a new element which relates to the percentage of existing 
housing stock levels. The methodology uses 0.5% of existing housing 
stock. The Government considers that this should ensure that diverse 
housing needs in all parts of the country are taken into account and 
would also offer stability and predictability which is absent when 
relying solely on the household projections. In addition, an 
affordability adjustment is included which takes into account changes 
in affordability over time.  Consequently if affordability improves this 
will be reflected by lower housing being identified.

2.7 Following the outcome of the consultation, the Government will 
update the planning practice guidance and under the transition 
arrangements this methodology will be applicable to the Council’s 
forthcoming Local Plan as it has not reached the Regulation 19 
consultation stage.

2.8 Appendix 1 sets out a comparison of the current standard method 
which requires the use of the 2014 projections with the proposed 
methodology which incorporates the new housing stock element.  
Under the current methodology the Council’s current housing figure is 
344 dwellings per annum (dpa). This reduces to 309 dpa under the 
new methodology. However it is clear that the use of the 0.5% 
housing stock variable locks in a higher need figure. If the 2018 
projections could be used with the current formula the figure for 
Gosport would be 126 dpa. By way of comparison the annual 
requirement in the adopted Gosport Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 
(GBLP) is 170dpa.

2.9 There are concerns that elements of the standard method remain 
rather arbitrary and small adjustments to the formula have significant 
implications.  The Council objects to the principle that the standard 
method centrally imposes a need on local authorities, particularly as 
the formula does not relate to actual need as it does not consider the 
issue of concealed or overcrowded households directly.  There are 
other methods that could consider this issue, for example a local 
assessment of overcrowded and concealed households.  The 
proposed 0.5% of existing housing stock element of the formula does 
not appear particularly relevant for determining housing need across 
England as there will be varying demographic influences in each 
area.  Greater emphasis on household projections and a local 



4

assessment of concealed and overcrowded households could 
provide a more realistic understanding of household need in an area.

2.10 The Council will need to carefully consider the proposals as 
suggested by the White Paper, when they are available, as this takes 
into account constraints and may provide a more realistic housing 
figure for an area although the complexity of such a methodology will 
be fraught with difficulties when being applied across England.

Proposal 2: Securing First Homes 
2.11 Details of the First Homes scheme are still to be published but 

according to consultation that took place earlier in the year these are 
heavily discounted homes where the discount is retained in 
perpetuity.  A discount of 30% has been considered although this 
may change according to local circumstances. Local authorities will 
have discretion to increase the discount to 40% to 50% based on 
Local Plan evidence relating to need. 

2.12 The Government’s proposal in this latest consultation document is to 
ensure that First Homes are secured through the planning system.  
These specific proposals can also be seen as an interim proposal 
prior to the implementation of reforms suggested by the White Paper. 
The Government recognises that access to home ownership is one of 
the greatest challenges and it is determined that First Homes are built 
across the country.

2.13 The Government is therefore proposing policy compliant planning 
applications to deliver a minimum of 25% of on-site affordable 
housing as First Homes and a minimum of 25% of any off-site 
contributions towards First Homes. Both nationally and locally, in 
accordance with relevant policies, most affordable housing is secured 
on-site.  

2.15 To illustrate the proposal by way of example if a site of 100 dwellings 
were being developed Policy LP24 of the GBLP would require 40 of 
those to be affordable housing (normally on-site).  The type and 
proportion of affordable housing would be informed by advice from 
the Council’s Housing Department to take into account local need.  
Other factors are also considered such as characteristics of the site 
and site viability issues.  The Local Plan has been written to provide a 
clear position on the amount of affordable housing required but has 
purposely been flexible regarding the type and proportion of 
affordable housing to take into account site specific circumstances 
and current demand. The justification text does set out an indicative 
mix based on the evidence produced to support the Local Plan.

2.16 Under the latest proposal the Council will still require 40 dwellings to 
be provided (normally on-site) however 10 of these (i.e. 25%) will 
need to be First Homes.



5

2.17 To introduce this proposal the Government may require new primary 
legislation as well as amendments to regulations.  Once in place the 
current Local Plan policy would enable the First Homes product to be 
secured.

2.18 Whilst the provision of low cost market housing is strongly supported 
there is concern that the proposal will not be appropriate in all 
circumstances.  It is considered that local authorities are in the best 
position to determine which types of affordable housing are needed in 
a local area taking into account the aforementioned issues relating to 
local need, site characteristics and viability.  This Council objects to 
the 25% requirement being imposed on local authorities and asserts 
that it should be a matter for each local authority to determine the 
most appropriate mix  of affordable housing in their area in 
accordance with the relevant Local Plan policy.

Proposal 3: Temporarily lifting the small sites threshold below 
which developers do not need to contribute to affordable 
housing to up to 40 or 50 units

2.19 The Government recognises that there has been a long term decline 
in the number of small and medium-sized builders which were hit 
hard by the last recession.  These businesses are important for 
building-out smaller sites quickly and therefore boosting local supply.  
The Government has a number of proposals to support and enhance 
this sector. The Government recognises the importance of affordable 
housing requirements being secured through the planning system but 
also acknowledges that in order to assist economic recovery from 
Covid-19 it is necessary to reduce the contributions for certain-sized 
sites for a limited time to assist the small and medium-sized business 
sector.

2.20 It is consequently proposing to temporarily lift the threshold housing 
to 40 or 50 units.  The threshold in the GBLP is 10 units. The 
Government is suggesting that initially the time period would be 
limited to 18 months.

2.21 The Government recognises that this measure would see a reduction 
of between 7% and 14% of section 106 affordable housing over a 
single year if the threshold were lifted to 40%, with between 10% and 
20% reduction if the threshold were lifted to 50%.

2.22 As a result of this consultation these proposals could be introduced 
by a Written Ministerial Statement in the Autumn.

2.23 As a response to Covid-19 it is understandable that additional 
support is provided to the sector.  However there is significant 
concern regarding the reduction of affordable housing secured 
through the planning system.  The Government will need to consider 
a compensatory scheme whereby the equivalent value is funded from 
the Government to the relevant local authority in order to facilitate 



6

affordable housing schemes. This would have the beneficial impact of 
providing new affordable housing and providing further support to the 
building sector by bringing forward small affordable housing 
schemes.   

Proposal 4: Extending the current Permission in Principle to 
major development

2.24 An existing system is in place whereby local authorities can grant 
‘Permission in Principle’ (PiP) as a way of obtaining planning 
permission for housing-led development which reduces the need for 
developers to incur significant costs to establish the principle of 
planning permission. 

2.25 Currently PiPs are only available for sites of less than 10 dwellings 
and deals with issues such as land use, location and scale of 
development. The aim is to give upfront certainty so that developers 
can then work up the more technical details relating to design, tenure 
mix, transport and environmental matters. This forms the second 
technical stage in which proposals are assessed and conditions are 
imposed.

2.26 The Government now proposes to extend this arrangement for major 
developments over 10 units. Current arrangements would remain in 
place for the 1st stage to determine the principle of development 
including the provision of basic information (description, number of 
dwellings, site area), a 14 day consultation period and determination 
within 5 weeks. The Government is considering some additional 
information for the 1st stage for major applications such as a 
maximum height parameter.

2.27 The technical (2nd) stage for PiPs on major development will cover 
much the same information as a full application.

2.28 The consultation document includes a proposal for a reduced fee for 
a decision on the principle of development as the local planning 
authority is only considering the principle of development not the 
technical details.

2.29 Like other proposals this is an interim arrangement in advance of the 
Governments proposals set out in the White Paper.  

2.30 Since the system for PiPs for minor residential developments was 
introduced in 2018 the Council has not received any PiP applications 
and there is some doubt whether there will be many PiPs for major 
development.  This is because the Local Plan is very clear on where 
development should be located and the scale of housing proposed.  
Much of the Borough is also within the urban area boundary where 
there is a presumption of development.  Consequently there is little 
need to establish the principle of development as it is already 
established and the developer would still need to provide similar 



7

information for a 2nd stage technical application as a full planning 
permission under the current system. That said there may be benefits 
for a developer or landowner if they wanted to ascertain whether they 
could build be more houses than a Local Plan allocation sets out.  
This would enable them to establish the principle that development is 
acceptable in advance of producing detailed technical information. 

2.31 It is not clear from the proposals what the arrangements are for 
determining controversial applications and the role of a planning 
committee.  It will be necessary for the Government to provide further 
information on this as it should still be for a planning committee to 
determine such applications.

2.32 The Council considers that there is not the need to introduce another 
form of planning application at this stage given the low take-up, both 
locally and nationally, of small site PiPs.  The existing planning 
application system is likely to be reformed by the White Paper 
proposals and consequently it may be prudent to keep the current 
arrangements in place until that stage rather than introduce one 
additional arrangement to be shortly replaced by another which can 
potentially cause confusion and demand additional resources.

3 Next steps
3.1 The Government’s consultation on these proposals conclude on the 

1st October. Following the consultation the Government will consider 
introducing a number of proposals (Principle in Permission for major 
development, the higher threshold for affordable housing) in the 
Autumn.  The Standard Method will be introduced through an update 
of the planning practice guidance when responses have been 
considered whereas the First Homes proposal will require primary 
legislation.

4 Risk Assessment
4.1 The Council would like to make a representation to the Government 

on these proposals to set out its significant concerns which will have 
a number of implications for the Planning Policy and Development 
Management functions of the Council. Without making 
representations the Council’s position on such concerns will not be 
taken into account.

Financial Services 
comments:

-

Legal Services 
comments:

Contained within report.

Equality and Diversity N/a –this is an external consultation
Climate change This is an external consultation
Service Improvement 
Plan implications:

The proposals if implemented by the Government 
will affect the Development Management and 
Planning Policy functions of the Council through a 
number of policy and procedural changes.



8

Council Plan: Proposals will have implications for the Council’s 
planning services which help to develop the 
economy, enhance the environment, raise 
aspirations and empower residents.  Proposals will 
also directly affect the delivery of services.

Risk Assessment: See section 4
Background papers: Changes to the current planning system 

(Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government August 2020)
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-
planning-system

Appendices Appendix 1: Comparison of Standard Method 
outcomes.

Report author/ Lead 
Officer:

Jayson Grygiel, Manager of Planning Policy 



Last updated: 21.08.2020

Page 1 

APPENDIX 1: Comparison of Standard Method Outcomes
On the 6 August 2020 the Government launched its consultation on changes to planning policy and regulations in 
‘Changes to the current planning system’, the consultation closes on 1 October 2020. The consultation sets out 
proposals for short term changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need. Wider proposals for 
reforms to the planning system are set out in the separate consultation ‘Planning for the Future’, and further details 
on how future housing requirements will be calculated in a reformed system will be released in the future. This 
document details the implications of the revised standard method for plans created prior to any changes outlined in 
Planning for the Future being introduced and compares this revised standard method with the current standard 
method.

CURRENT STANDARD METHOD PROPOSED STANDARD METHOD

Step 1: Setting the baseline Step 1: Setting the baseline
National Household Projections (2014-based)1, for the 
area of the local authority, provide the starting point. 
The 2014-based household projections are used to 
calculate the projected average annual household 
growth over a 10-year period.

The baseline for the standard method should be 
whichever is the higher of 0.5% of existing housing 
stock in the local authority OR the latest projected 
average annual household growth over a 10-year 
period.

For housing stock levels, the most recent annually 
published Dwelling stock estimates by local authority 
districts2 should be used. For household projections, 
the latest ONS national household growth projections3 
should be used.

Plan Period Base Date: 2021

10-year household growth

Using the 2014-based household projections, the 
difference in the number of households in 2031 
compared to 2021 is divided by 10 (years).

2021: 38,397     2031: 41,216

Growth= 41,216 – 38,397 = 2,819

Average growth over 10 years: 2,819 / 10 = 281.9

Plan Period Base Date: 2021

0.5% of dwelling stock

Latest dwelling stock estimates (2019) for Gosport 
Borough: 37,705 dwellings

0.5% of 37,705 = 188.525

OR

10-year household growth

Using the latest 2018-based household projections, the 
difference in the number of households in 2031 
compared to 2021 is divided by 10 (years).

2021: 37,484 households         2031: 38,516 households

Growth= 38,516 – 37,484 = 1,032

Average growth over 10 years: 1,032 / 10 = 103.2

0.5% of dwelling stock is therefore the highest figure 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-household-projections (Table 406)
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dwelling-stock-including-vacants (Table 125)
3 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/household
projectionsforengland (Principal projection, Table 406)

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-household-projections
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland


Last updated: 21.08.2020

Page 2 

CURRENT STANDARD METHOD PROPOSED STANDARD METHOD
so is carried forward in this calculation.

Step 2: Adjusting for market signals Step 2: Adjusting for market signals
To take account of the affordability of homes in the 
area, the average annual projected household growth 
from step 1 is adjusted.

The most recent median workplace-based affordability 
ratio4 is used. For each 1% increase in the ratio above a 
ratio of 4, the average household growth should be 
increased by a quarter of a percent.

The precise formula is:

The adjustment calculation uses the following figures:

House price/earnings ratio

Gosport median house price: £205,000 (Sep 2019)

Gosport median gross annual earnings (workplace-
based): £27,273 (2019)

Ratio: 7.52

The adjustment factor calculation is:

((7.52-4/4) x 0.25 + 1 = 1.22

Adjustment factor = 1.22

The local housing need calculation is:

Local housing need = adjustment factor x projected 
household growth

1.22 x 281.9 = 343.918

Local housing need = 344 dwellings per annum 
(rounded)

Over a 15-year plan period (2021-2036) this is 5,160 
dwellings.

The standard method will include two adjustments to 
the baseline using the workplace-based median house 
price to median earnings ratio4. First the ratio for the 
most recent year for which data is available is used. 
Then how affordability has changed over the last 10 
years of published data is incorporated.

The precise formula is: 

The adjustment calculation uses the following figures:

House price/earnings ratio

Gosport median house price: £205,000 (Sep 2019)

Gosport median gross annual earnings (workplace-
based): £27,273 (2019)

Ratio: 7.52

Affordability over the last 10 years

Current year affordability ratio: 7.52 (2019)

10 years back affordability ratio: 5.85 (2009)

Difference: 7.52 – 5.85 = 1.67

The adjustment factor calculation is:

((7.52-4/4) x 0.25) +

((7.52-5.85) x 0.25) + 1 = 1.6375

Adjustment factor = 1.6375

The local housing need calculation is:

Local housing need = adjustment factor x 0.5% of 
dwelling stock

1.6375 x 188.525 = 308.709

Local housing need = 309 dwellings per annum (rounded) 
Over a 15-year plan period (2021-2036) this is 4,635 
dwellings.

4 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslower
quartileandmedian (Table 5c)

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian


Last updated: 21.08.2020

Page 3 



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: Economic Development Board
Date of Meeting: 23rd September 2020
Title: Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Neighbourhood 

Fund– Review of Arrangements
Author: Planning Policy Manager
Status: For Decision

PURPOSE
To review the arrangements for spending the neighbourhood portion 
of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which the Council is 
currently collecting from developers.

RECOMMENDATION
That this Board:

 Agree to continue the arrangements for spending the 
neighbourhood portion of the Community Infrastructure Levy in 
association with the Gosport Voluntary Action (GVA), as 
approved at the Economic Development Board of 3rd July 2019 
with the following amendments:

- To extend the period of spending the grant from 24 months 
to 36 months to reflect issues arising from Covid-19 and to 
review this position again in twelve months;

- To reduce the maximum grant for the 2020/21 application 
round from £50,000 to £10,000 to reflect the amount of 
money available;

- To provide flexibility with the application timeline (as shown 
by the tracked changes in Table 3 of this report);

- Introduce an additional funding priority which reads, ‘To 
support eligible organisations to improve the sustainability of 
buildings and open spaces and to tackle climate change 
and its effects- including supporting energy and water 
efficiency measures, promoting walking and cycling, and 
enhancing biodiversity.’;

- Introduce an additional funding priority which reads, ‘To 
support eligible organisations to assist them to make their 
buildings and operations Covid-19 secure and support their 
recovery with a focus on infrastructure arrangements. ’

Agenda Item 9



1 Background

1.1 Members will recall that on the 3rd July 2019 the Economic 
Development Board resolved to:

 Approve the arrangements for spending the neighbourhood 
portion of the Community Infrastructure Levy in association with 
the Gosport Voluntary Action (GVA), as set out in this report.

 Delegate authority to the Planning Policy Manager, in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to agree and make 
minor variations to the final versions of the Appendices 
emerging from the conclusion of formalising arrangements with 
GVA.

1.2 The covering report stated that a review of the process would be 
undertaken and reported to Economic Development Board after the 
first year.

1.3 Members will recall that the Council’s CIL Charging Schedule1 came 
into effect in February 2016, following a public examination in 2015 
when the Inspector recommended that the Charging Schedule be 
adopted. The neighbourhood portion represents 15% of the total CIL 
monies in accordance with the provisions of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL Regulations). The 
remaining proportion includes 80%, known as the ‘Strategic CIL’, to be 
spent by the Council on infrastructure projects set out in the adopted 
‘Regulation 123 List’2 as part of the Capital Programme; and 5% to be 
used for administration including preparing CIL evidence and 
collecting and distributing CIL funds.

1.4 According to the CIL Regulations, the neighbourhood portion of CIL 
should be spent to ‘support the development of the area’ through 
funding:

 the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or 
maintenance of infrastructure; or

 anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands 
that development places on an area.3

1.5 The government’s online guidance clarifies that the levy should not be 
used to remedy pre-existing infrastructure deficiencies, unless those 

1 https://www.gosport.gov.uk/cil and 
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/1164/Community-Infrastructure-Levy-Charging-
Schedule/pdf/Charging_Schedule_14.10.2015.pdf?m=637267899548300000 
2 https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2499/Regulation-123-
list/pdf/123_List_Community_Infrastructure_Levy_14-9-15.pdf?m=637267922268800000 
New CIL Regulation produced in June 2019 which come into force in September 2019 will 
change the requirements for producing a ‘123 List’ but this will not affect the principles of the 
CIL Spending Protocol.
3 Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), reg. 59F

https://www.gosport.gov.uk/cil
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/1164/Community-Infrastructure-Levy-Charging-Schedule/pdf/Charging_Schedule_14.10.2015.pdf?m=637267899548300000
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/1164/Community-Infrastructure-Levy-Charging-Schedule/pdf/Charging_Schedule_14.10.2015.pdf?m=637267899548300000
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2499/Regulation-123-list/pdf/123_List_Community_Infrastructure_Levy_14-9-15.pdf?m=637267922268800000
https://www.gosport.gov.uk/media/2499/Regulation-123-list/pdf/123_List_Community_Infrastructure_Levy_14-9-15.pdf?m=637267922268800000


deficiencies will be made more severe by new development.4 The CIL 
Regulations state that the neighbourhood portion should be passed to 
a parish or town council every 6 months to spend in their area5. In 
unparished areas such as Gosport, the Council retains the monies for 
spending in consultation with the local community.

1.6 DCLG’s online guidance states that the government ‘does not 
prescribe a specific process for agreeing how the neighbourhood 
portion should be spent’, however, the use of neighbourhood funds 
should ‘match priorities expressed by local communities’.6 The level of 
consultation should be proportionate to the level of CIL receipts 
available and the scale of proposed development.

1.7 The Economic Development Board originally approved the principles 
of the CIL Spending Protocol in November 2018, with the detailed 
arrangements agreed in July 2019. Members may recall that GVA had 
been chosen as the recommended partner as it has excellent 
community links, which includes providing support to over 200 local 
community groups. In addition, GVA has a track record of 
administering funds to a wide cross-section of the community.

1.8 The recommended route for the spending of the neighbourhood 
portion is to work with GVA to administer the fund using a similar 
process to the Gosport Community Lottery, which is operated by the 
GVA and launched in June 2018. 

1.9 The neighbourhood portion from the Community Infrastructure Levy 
therefore has been set up as the ‘CIL Neighbourhood Fund’, which 
provides grants of £1,500 – £50,000 for infrastructure-related projects. 
The monies can also be used to support revenue spending for a 
period of up to 1 year, to help maximise the operational benefits of the 
infrastructure. This can include supporting staff costs or one-off 
events. Applicants will need to demonstrate how the infrastructure will 
be supported thereafter. Copies of the application form, guidance 
note, grant evaluation forms, terms and conditions, end of project 
report form were previously approved by this Board

1.10 It was agreed by the Council to pay an initial payment of £5,000 to 
GVA to cover set-up costs with a payment of £2,500 to be paid on the 
1st October each year thereafter to cover on-going costs.  This is paid 
from the Administration element of the CIL Funding.  This figure is to 
be kept under review to reflect GVA’s costs. The duties which GVA 
are expected to undertake for this fee are:

 Publicise and launch the application process for the CIL 
Neighbourhood Fund for a defined period each year.

4 Community Infrastructure Levy guidance, gov.uk, paragraph 71
5 Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), reg. 59A
6 Community Infrastructure Levy, gov.uk, paragraph 71



 Organise an assessment panel to consider each application 
once the application deadline has passed.

 Carry out appropriate due diligence on each recommended 
party including evidence of costings and confirming this is 
approved.

 Report the preferred submissions to the GVA Executive 
Committee for consideration.

 Award the grants and arrange relevant publicity.
 Ensure that the CIL Neighbourhood Fund logo is used in any 

relevant project materials.
 Ensure that a post-project report is prepared by the 

organisation receiving the grant. 
 Prepare an annual report to the Council on the outcome of 

each bidding round.

2 Report

Summary and review of existing process 

2.1 As of 1st September 2019, the agreed cut-off point for allocating the 
Round 1 CIL Neighbourhood Fund, the Council had collected 
£867,753 in total CIL funds, of which £130,163 was available for the 
CIL Neighbourhood Fund. Table 1 below outlines how this was divided 
to calculate the amount of money available for the Neighbourhood CIL 
Fund.

Table 1: Available CIL Funds for distribution of the Neighbourhood CIL at the 
first round of bidding (1st September 2019)

Proportion Amount at 
1/9/197

Comment

Strategic 
portion

80% £694,202 To form part of the capital budget 
setting process and will need to be 
spent on infrastructure included on 
the Regulation 123 List.

Neighbourhood 
portion

15% £130,163 Allocated through the CIL 
Neighbourhood Fund in association 
with the GVA which will use similar 
arrangements.

Administration 5% £43,388 To be used for the Council to 
administer the collection and 
distribution of CIL including the 
Neighbourhood portion. It will also 
be used to partly fund future 
reviews of CIL.

Total 100% £867,753 -

2.2 The application process and publicity was undertaken by GVA which 
received a positive response from local community groups and 

7 Figures rounded to nearest £



charities. GVA promoted the CIL grants through its social media, 
events held between July and October 2019, and articles in the local 
press. GVA staff dealt with a number of queries and provided advice 
to numerous organisations on the bidding process, with some input 
from GBC Officers where further clarification was required in relation 
to the CIL Spending Protocol and the detailed arrangements agreed 
by this Board. 

2.3 In total 17 applications were received requesting a total of £371,046.  
Consequently the fund was almost three times over-subscribed and 
this highlights the demand for the Neighbourhood CIL as well as the 
successful publicity and support provided by GVA during the 
application process.

2.4 Councillors were notified by the Manager of Planning Policy of the 
applications received and invited all Members to comment on any 
applications including support, queries or concerns.  Comments were 
received from five Councillors and these were forwarded to GVA and 
reported to the Awards Panel for consideration.

2.5 The panel included  a representative from the charity sector with 
experience of funding applications, a representative from the 
development industry (as CIL funding is secured from planning 
permissions), the Manager of Planning Policy (in order to help ensure 
funding accorded with the CIL Spending Protocol)  and GVA’s Chair 
and Chief Executive. 

2.6 The Panel met and held detailed discussions regarding each 
application.  The task was made especially difficult given that the fund 
was almost three-times over-subscribed and there was a desire to 
spread as much money as widely as possible focussing on the key 
priorities of the CIL Neighbourhood Fund, the Council’s own CIL 
Spending Protocol and the CIL Regulations.  It was however felt that 
sums also needed to be meaningful to deliver entire proposals or 
significant discrete elements. Consequently a strong focus was given 
to infrastructure and in many cases it was recognised that items in the 
bids could be split and consequently some bids were ultimately part 
funded. In this instance overall the panel preferred to fund those 
charities that had a proven track record for delivering,  whether that 
was existing community halls, sports providers or established charities 
with specific infrastructure requirements.

2.7 A list of all the eight successful bid are included in Appendix 1. 
Members were then advised of the outcome of all the bids.  GVA 
responded to a number of queries received from Councillors on the 
assessment outcomes.

2.8 The list of successful applications was then presented to GVA’s 
Executive for ratification. Councillors from each of the political parties 
sit on this group and have a further opportunity to comment.  However 



due to some confusion regarding e-mails a further opportunity was 
given for Councillors to make comment after the Executive met.  The 
final list was agreed in February 2020 with no changes and all 
applicants notified.  As part of the process GVA offered feedback to 
those organisations that had been unsuccessful this time which could 
assist them with future bids.

2.9 As part of the conditions of the grant, applicants are required to spend 
the grant within 24 months of the award.   Seven of the eight 
successful organisations have recently received their initial grants of 
up to £5,000 with subsequent tranches of funding paid upon receipt of 
a satisfactory written project update. This is paid by the Council 
directly to the organisation following all the satisfactory information 
being received by GVA. The eighth organisation is in contact with 
GVA and have advised that they are not in a position to start as they 
have been awarded a lower amount of external funding than 
anticipated due to Covid-19 and are currently looking to find additional 
funding to bridge the gap.

2.10 Given the significant ramifications of the Covid-19 pandemic it is 
proposed that the time stipulation to spend the grant should be 
increased by a further 12 months to 36 months and be reviewed 
annually. It is within the Council’s remit to do this as there are no 
stipulations in the CIL Regulations on this matter.

2.11 Whilst no proposals have yet to be completed it is considered that the 
application and awards process operated by GVA has been 
successful and that there are considered to be no apparent  reasons 
why the second round of funding bids should not commence in the 
Autumn based on the structure in place.  It has been necessary to 
make some small adjustments to the process but overall it is proposed 
that the process is retained as with the first round.  A further update 
and review will take next place next year to update the Economic 
Development Board on the progress of Round 1 and Round 2 
proposals.

Funding available for Round 2
2.12 Table 2 below sets out the money available for Neighbourhood CIL for 

the forthcoming Round 2 (2020/21)



Table 2: Available CIL Funds for distribution of the Neighbourhood CIL at the 
first round of bidding (1st September 2020)

Proportion Amount at 
1/9/20208

Comment

Strategic 
portion

80% £147,594 To form part of the capital budget 
setting process and will need to be 
spent on infrastructure included on 
the Regulation 123 List.

Neighbourhood 
portion

15% £27,674 Allocated through the CIL 
Neighbourhood Fund in association 
with the GVA which will use similar 
arrangements.

Administration 5% £ 9,224 To be used for the Council to 
administer the collection and 
distribution of CIL including the 
Neighbourhood portion. It will also 
be used to partly fund future 
reviews of CIL.

Total 100% £184,492 -

2.13 It is noted that the fund is significantly lower than last year.  There are 
a number of reasons for this including:

 Last year’s funds were cumulative from February 2016-31st 

August 2019 whereas this year’s fund only includes payments 
over a twelve month period.

 The 2019 fund included a sizeable CIL payment relating to the 
Brockhurst Gate retail development. There have not been 
significant new developments of this scale in the past 12 
months.

 The nitrates issue and Covid-19 have slowed the rate of 
planning applications approved and may have also impacted on 
the number of applications received.

2.14 As a consequence of the funds available it is proposed to reduce the 
maximum grant from £50,000 to £10,000 and to review this next year.

2.15 The proposed timeline for the allocation and spending of CIL monies 
is shown in Table 3.  As an indicative timetable this worked well for 
Round 1 however it is proposed to adjust the dates to provide an 
element of operational flexibility (as shown by the tracked changes).

8 Figures rounded to neared £



Table 3: Timeline for 2020/21 process (shown with tracked changes to identify 
amendments)
Date Stage
CIL Neighbourhood Fund
1st September Amount of CIL available for spending is confirmed. 

GVA to be informed on the next available working day 
after 1st September.

Late September (after 
23rd September)

The CIL Neighbourhood fund is opened to bids.

End of October Deadline for submission of applications. The actual 
date will be included on application forms.

November – January Assessment process with the panel sitting in 
December or January. 

–End of February The applicants are advised whether or not they have 
been successful. 

Funding priorities
2.16 The Round 1 guidance, which accompanied the application forms, 

included a number of agreed funding priorities which assisted the 
assessment process. These were:

1. Bringing people together and building strong relationships 

in and across Gosport’s communities.

2. Improving the places and spaces that matter to 

communities.

3. Enabling more people to fulfil their potential through 

projects to address poverty, deprivation and isolation.

2.17 The guidance also include the following information:

‘Funding awards will be looked on more favourably where 

applications can demonstrate:

 A strong evidence of need.

 Evidence that the proposed approach is likely to achieve the 

desired outcomes.

 The application does not contain high revenue costs that cannot 

be sustained long-term.

 That a lasting benefit can be achieved.

 It meets more than one of the three funding priorities referenced 

above.

 Match funding is provided.

2.18 For the Round 2 application process it is proposed to include an 



additional funding priority in light of the  Climate Change resolution of 
the Community Board (4th March 2020).  It is therefore proposed to 
add the following:

‘To support eligible organisations to improve the sustainability of 
buildings and open spaces and to tackle climate change and its 
effects- including supporting energy and water efficiency 
measures, promoting walking and cycling,  and enhancing 
biodiversity.’

2.19 A further Round 2 Funding Priority is proposed in the light of the 
Covid-19 pandemic to support eligible organisations.  This reads:

‘To support eligible organisations to assist them to make their 
buildings and operations Covid-19 secure and support their 
recovery with a focus on infrastructure arrangements ’

2.20 It is important to note that other projects that meet the Council’s CIL 
Spending Protocol and CIL Regulations can be funded but if demand 
for funds outstrip the money available these priorities can assist the 
panel in coming to an overall assessment.

Concluding remarks
2.21 It is considered that the process established by the Council working 

with GVA in the distribution of the CIL Neighbourhood Fund has been 
successful, with GVA reaching and assisting a number of 
organisations to make bids.  The over-subscription identified above 
demonstrates the need for such a fund to support the work of a wide 
range of organisations providing significant benefits to our community. 
It is hoped that the next annual review will include the first successfully 
completed projects. 

3 Risk Assessment

3.1 It is necessary for the CIL Neighbourhood Fund to be used for 
provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 
infrastructure to ‘support the development of the area’ and this is to be 
reported as part of the CIL Annual Financial Statement to meet 
Government requirements which will now be incorporated in the 
forthcoming Infrastructure Funding Statement. Arrangements are in 
place for regular review of the scheme. Any issues arising can be 
considered as part of this process.



Financial Services 
comments:

Unspent CIL monies are held in a reserve for future 
use. The administration costs of the GVA would be 
funded by the 5% of the CIL set aside to fund the 
administration of the scheme.

Legal Services 
comments:

None

Equality and 
Diversity:

An EIA on the original protocol has been completed 
and it upholds the aims of the Equality Duty.

The original three funding priorities for the CIL fund 
are clearly described in the funding guidance and 
promote inclusiveness and equality. The fund 
application form specifically requires applicants to 
describe how diversity and equality are promoted 
within the organisation’s structure and operations.

Climate Change: A new funding priority has been added to support 
charities and community groups to improve the 
sustainability of buildings, encourage active travel 
and support biodiversity.

Council Plan: The proposal will assist the strategic priorities of the 
Council Plan by providing infrastructure funding 
which can raise aspirations, enhance the 
environment, develop the economy, empower 
residents and assist with delivering effective 
services.

Risk Assessment: See Section 3

Background papers: Economic Development Board Report of the 3rd July 
2019 and accompanying appendices
Economic Development Board Report of the 14th 
November 2018 and accompanying appendices.

Appendices Appendix 1: Details of successful applications to 
Round 1 CIL Neighbourhood Fund

Report author/ Lead 
Officer:

Jayson Grygiel, Planning Policy Manager



Appendix 1: Details of successful application to Round 1 CIL 
Neighbourhood Fund

Application Recommendation Funding 
Requested

Funding 
Approved

£130,163

 pot

Southern 
Domestic Abuse 
Service

Partial funding to contribute to costs of major 
white goods/refurbishment of existing refuge in 
Gosport.

£11,000 £9,000

Fleetlands 
Football Club

Funding contribution to a new pavilion which 
will be used by other community groups.  This 
funding assists in accessing significant funding 
from the FA

£27,000 £27,000

BRWCA Funding to improve the condition of an existing 
community hall (including roof repairs) which is 
used by a wide range of community 
organisations/

£12,999 £12,999

Helping Angels To refurbish swimming pool facilities which are 
used by numerous schools as well as out-of-
school swimming lessons

£21,939 £21,939

Brendoncare For signage and blinds to complete a significant 
refurbishment programme.

£2,792 £2,792

Gosport Borough 
Cricket Club

To refurbish the pavilion facilities. £32,721 £10,000

Cook's Bethel Partial funding based on phase 1 quote price to 
provide accessible toilet.

£50,000 £21,600

Freedom Church/Y 
Services

The bid is to refurbish a community facility and 
then to set up and staff a youth facility for the 
first year.  The buildings element addresses a 
wider community benefit, the Y Services 
element an important youth provision.

£24,789 £24,789

TOTAL £130,119



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: Economic Development Board
Date of Meeting: 28 September 2020
Title: Public consultation on proposed Stokes Bay 

Conservation Area and review of Alverstoke and 
Anglesey Conservation Areas

Author: Heritage Action Zone Programme Manager
Status: For Decision

PURPOSE

To seek Members‘ support to go out to public consultation on the 
proposal to consider a designation for Stokes Bay as a conservation 
area, and to review Anglesey and Alverstoke conservation areas, as 
set out in the Heritage Action Zone Delivery Plan.

RECOMMENDATION

To go out to public consultation on the proposal to consider the 
designation of Stoke Bay as a conservation area and to carry out 
reviews of Anglesey and Alverstoke Conservation Areas.

1.0 Background

1.1

1.2

In accordance with Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), the Local Planning 
Authority is required to identify areas of special historic or 
architectural interest which it is desirable to ‘preserve or enhance’, 
and shall designate those areas as conservation areas. Stokes Bay 
is considered to have the potential characteristics making it suitable 
for designation and through the Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) it is 
proposed that the public are consulted on the proposal and also on a 
potential boundary for such an area. The complexity of the historic 
interest of the area makes consultation particularly valuable to 
ensure less well known aspects of its history are secured through 
public engagement.

Section 72 of The Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990 
(as amended) requires that the authority also pay: "special attention 
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a conservation area". The review of Anglesey and 
Alverstoke will both assess the merits of the existing boundaries as 
well as provide up to date appraisals of the special interest of each 
area, highlighting features worthy of preservation and/or 
enhancement. An appraisal for Stokes Bay would be developed 
during the consultation process.

Agenda Item 10



1.3

1.4

2.0

2.1

2.2

The purpose of a designated Conservation Area is to ‘preserve and 
enhance’ the special historic or architectural interest of an area and 
help ensure that future development has regard to that special 
interest. It limits some permitted development rights and planning 
permission is required to demolish buildings with a volume over 115 
cubic metres. Six weeks written notice is also required to carry out a 
range of works to most trees. Designation would not prevent 
development but would help to ensure that it is appropriate in form, 
scale, material and design such that it would not harm the setting 
and would help to positively enhance the site’s unique character.

As set out in the Gosport Borough Local Plan 2014, Policies LP10 
(Design) and LP12 (Conservation Areas) would be relevant were 
designation supported.

Discussion

The Heritage Action Zone Delivery Plan includes a proposal to go 
out to public consultation on the potential for a proposed new 
conservation area for Stokes Bay, to protect the rich military legacy 
of the area which spans several centuries, as well as to better 
understand and appreciate the social history of this popular seafront 
destination.  The HAZ project also allows for the review of the 
boundaries to Anglesey and Alverstoke Conservation Areas and the 
preparation of up to date appraisals for these areas.

The extent of military defences that are associated with Stokes Bay 
stretch from earthworks east of Fort Monckton to batteries on the 
western side of Browndown. In addition to the military defences the 
area is overlooked by both the Alverbank and Bay House: important 
and prominent listed buildings in the area. The final boundary, which 
will be proposed following the public consultation exercise, will be 
brought to Members for consideration as part of the formal 
designation process.

2.3

2.4

2.5

The two adjacent Conservation Areas of Anglesey and Alverstoke 
require Conservation Area Appraisals, and carrying out their review 
alongside the proposed Stokes Bay designation would be 
appropriate with the amount of new historic information available on 
these areas.

Historic England supports the review of Conservation Areas in order 
to protect their special character and unique place in the history of 
Gosport. 

Historic England have recently undertaken research covering Stokes 
Bay and provide a detailed assessment in the attached document:    
https://research.historicengland.org.uk/Report.aspx?i=16259 . This 
research will be fed into the consultation process to help inform a 
decision on the most appropriate boundary.

https://research.historicengland.org.uk/Report.aspx?i=16259


2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

As part of the HAZ budget this year, funds are available to engage a 
Heritage Consultant and run a concurrent schools heritage project 
with Hampshire Cultural Trust and GFMAT schools.  A funding 
application to Historic England for a Regional Capacity Building grant 
will be submitted in September if this proposal is supported.

The consultation will be accessible to a wide range of people, using 
a variety of inclusive communication methods to meet the needs of 
diverse stakeholders in keeping with the Council’s Statement of 
Commitment to Equality & Diversity. Consultation documents will 
include the statement: ‘Gosport Borough Council is committed to 
equal opportunities for all: If you need this document in large print, 
on tape, CD, in Braille or in other languages, please ask’. 

Consultation methods will include contacting land owners and 
property owners in the area; local interest groups; using social 
media, and following the Council’s normal methods of 
communication with residents to gather as many comments as 
possible. This consultation will inform conclusions on a possible 
boundary for Stokes Bay and any modification to the existing 
adjacent conservation areas.

The Friends of Stokes Bay and the Gosport Society are aware of the 
proposal to consider Stokes Bay as a potential Conservation Area as 
it falls within the HAZ Delivery Plan, and they are keen to see it take 
shape. They will play a part assisting with the surveying and 
assessment of the area. Other groups, such as the Anglesey 
Conservation Group, will also be invited to comment.  The Heritage 
Consultant will lead the survey and collate this work in their report.

3.0 Risk Assessment

3.1 £18,000 of funding will initially be requested from Historic England’s 
Regional Capacity Building Grant, which officers have been 
encouraged to submit for this project. This represents approximately 
55% of the estimated total project fund. £15,000 would come from 
agreed Capital funding through the HAZ project.

3.2

3.3

Surveying, and the schools heritage project, will be complete this 
financial year. The Heritage Consultant’s work and 
recommendations would also be completed in phases by March 
2022, with the proposal to consider the designation of Stokes Bay 
being first. COVID and social distancing may have an impact on 
community involvement, but work to mitigate this will be undertaken 
to ensure as much community engagement as possible is achieved.

Procuring a Heritage Consultant will follow the Council’s 
procurement procedures and they would be appointed within 
approximately eight weeks of the Board meeting.



Financial Services 
comments:

Contained within the report.

Legal Services 
comments:

Contained within the report.

Equality and Diversity No issues if accessible and inclusive consultation 
methods are used and corporate equality & 
diversity guidance followed.

Service Improvement 
Plan implications:

In line with identified objectives.

Corporate Plan: In line with the corporate plan.
Risk Assessment: See section 3

Background papers: Heritage Action Zone Delivery Plan.

Appendices Appendix A: Existing Conservation Area 
Boundaries for Alverstoke and Anglesey, and area 
for assessment for a potential Stokes Bay 
Conservation Area.

Report author/ Lead 
Officer:

Michelle Lees (Gosport Heritage Action Zone 
Programme Manager).



© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019624

TOWN HALL,  HIGH STREET,  GOSPORT,
HANTS,  PO12 1EB.

1:2500

DATE : 25/08/2020

Scale
0 20 40 60 80 100 m

ESS

Parish

CHURCH

23

1
3

4.0m

Stone

6
8

17

1

Rectory

VILLAGE ROAD

17

1
2

SOMERVELL

TCB

5

2

4.9m

1
0
7

8

2

Post

LB

4

1
6

4.0m

18

S
c
h
o
o
l

6

53

ALVERCLIFFE DRIVE

8

Lych Gate

20

13

1

11

3

4.8m

24a

4

1
5

40

14

9
5

7

7

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

S
h

e l
te

r

2
9

23

31

5

4

Pond

1

11

El Sub Sta

46 44

13

11

1

4

El

1
2

Sub

15

25
14

22

ROAD

2
6

Ps

V
IL

L
A

G
E

C
L

O
S

E
Sub Sta

46

SOUTH CLOSE

C
R

3
5

1
1

9

22

9

16

Court

19

11a

STEPHENSON CLOSE

COURT

BEATTY DRIVE

T
H

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

1

Stone

8

34

1
1

11

21a

Shelter

2

S
h

e
l t

e
r

3

2

14

6
4

13a

9
4

3a

Landon Court

Orchard House

41

9
1

CLOSE

15

El

to

5

SOMERVELL

3
0

3.0m

3

House

8

2
5

B
an

k

97

9

2

FS

21

6

P
A

G
E

T
 R

O
A

D

84

4

1a

3.4m

111

12 16

8
8

2a

13

Stoke

Sta

1
9

113

1

2.1m

Mews

Ps

1

L
IT

T
L

E

3

The

1
6

2

Stone

15

8
1

2a

GREEN

48

5

51

Sub Sta

14
7

1
7

1
7

6a

LITTLE

4

31

83

Redclyffe House

1
14

1

1
a

2
1

House

A
L

V
A

R
A

 R
O

A
D

ROAD

2.4m

1
0
9

(Nursing and Retirement Home)

PO

27

6
3
b

1

Alverstoke House

3.7m

33

1.8m

7

35
a

2

28

2.1m

19

3

W
a
rd

 B
d

y

9
3

3
4

21

68

1

AVENUE

2

9
51
1
5

1

1
0

5

ATKINSON

15a

3
3

2

1
1
3

1

5

6
5

Brodrick

Centre

ALVERSTOKE

1

20

6
7

Stone

GREEN ROAD

16

4.3m

21

COWARD ROAD

C
L

O
S

E

1
0
6

A
N

G
L

E
S

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

1

35

45

17

7

52

54

7
1

66

10

1

12

6
9

3
3

a

2.7m

22

2

57

2.4m

1 to 15

VILLAGE

85

1
7

Memorial Hall

1
a

Sewage Ppg Sta

1
9

1

2

RO
AD

1a

1
9

G
R

E
E
N

LB

1a

Charlotte

St Mary's Church

15

Club

2

24

2

9

Sub Sta

1
2

98

7a

LITTLE ANGLESEY ROAD

16

2

8
9

A
lv

e
rs

to
k
e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it

y
 I
n
fa

n
t

6

CLAYHALL ROAD

9

26

25

8

1

38

ORCHARD

10

El

9
2

1

54

69

6

9
0

PH

1
2

8

1
6

Lakeside

7

1
1

50

38

6
3

a

1
3

L
IT

T
L

E
 L

A
N

E

55

to

2
7

A
L
V

E
R

C
L
IF

F
E

 D
R

IV
E

1
9

El

Alverstoke

2
4

ST MARY'S AVENUE

4

1

8

31a

1

ASHBURTON ROAD

Rodney

37

1
4

1
4

1
1

8

Alverstoke Conservation Area Boundary
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



El

Netba ll &  Bask et ba ll Court

69

5
8

4

27

1
1

ESS

S
an

d  a
nd 

Shi
ngl

e

2
9

1
0

Posts

1

84

H
a

s
e

lw
o

rth

12

4

47

5

38

93

4

4
3

4.0m

25

2.7m

1
16

Parish

12

5

CLOSE

12a

S
lo

p
in

g
 m

a
so

n
ry

CHURCH

38a

75

Landmark

PC

Pebbles

Car Park

Stone

Lisnamandra

8
7

KINGSMILL

23

Stone

FW

41

10

23

1

Thalassa

Mean H
ig h W

ate
r

3
4

4

3

2a

Alver Bridge

5

C
F

Stone

1
3

2
2

1
5

VECTIS  ROAD

Morfa 2

4.0m

Stone

CF

62

LB

Stone

Stone

3
3

1
9

37

TAY
LO

R
 R

OAD

6
8

P
A

R
K

 R
O

A
D

1
0

3
6

ROAD

6
0

17

DW

14

1
6

LEYLAND CLOS E

1

4.3m

4
8

8

3.4m

D
IG

H
T R

O
A
D

4

4
8

E
l S

ub
 S

t a

7
7d

79

4

1a

1

52

Mor ay Hou se

Pumping Station

Rectory

2
9

Cwch H ouse

4.3m

LB

ST MARK'S CLOSE

39

1a

77a

1

PC

105

Shingle

Allotment

6

Workhouse Lake

1
6

VILLAGE ROAD

17

5
1

TCB

Post

24

65

9
7

7

56

4.9m

1

B
ou

l d
er

s

Stone

29

3

1
2

2

SOMERVELL

Ea s te rn

S
h

el
te

r

64

K
E

N
S

IN
G

T O
N

 R
O

A
D

14

BR
AM

LEY G
DN

S

2
b

Stone

TCB

5

9

8
3

1
07

9

1
4

Maritime Museum

1

W
ESTER N W

A
Y

56

2

4.9m

8

1

W
a

rd
 B

d
y

C
F

7

Gov

4

1
2

1
1

1

36 to 40

105

2 6

5.5m

2

B
U

R
N

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

2

Post

45

91

68

1

Cross

2

El

PA
RK

 R
O

A
D

LB

4

4

9

2
4

8 6

1
 to 8

4

Shingle

8

1
6

4.0m

Shelter

35

3

18

M
O

N
C

K
TO

N
 R

O
A

D

LODGE GARDENS

Posts

SM

S
ch

o
o

l

6

53

6
1a

22

Portsmouth Harbour

Sports Pavilion

4

1
2

30

5
3

ALVERCLIFFE DR IVE

1 6

1

40

2
7

10

40

16a

LB

5
7

3
7

2
9

1
2

1
2

1

8

Lych Gate

20

Garage

4.9m

ESS

9

13

DRIV
E

8

1

1
0

S
hi

n
g

le

2
8

Gardens

75

8

Woolston

CLOSE

CW

1

19

Stone

82

10

2
0

6
2

2

11

3

1 5

B
ou

l d
er

s

LONG WATER DRIVE

4.3m

8
8

Shingle

E
D

 &
 W

a
rd

 B
d

y

5

12

Shingle

Mud

1
8

1  to 1 2

25

CLAYHALL ROAD

1 4

51

4.6m

4.8m

Cottages

Mean  H
igh W

a ter

11

2
7

2

G
ro

y
ne

6
8

16

23

S eaforth

Mud a
nd 

Shi
ngl e

Shingle

1 3

1
9

1c

El

1 4 t o  17

El

1
8

Monckton House

1 3

FROU
DE R

OAD

Slo
p

in
g m

as
o

nr
y

63

9

2 4a

Foster

DOLMAN ROAD

76

85

5

11

31

(dis)

8

20a

2

1
5

11

Haslar Royal Naval Cemetery

42

Mast

Alverstoke C o f E

4

3
6

16

1
6

5
1

40

Shingle

Posts

44

14

16

1

3.4m

2
6

4

1
2

Gas Holder

4.3m

1
3

13

53

Line

6

L
IF

E
B

O
A

T
 L

A
N

E

3
4

1
3

1
8

9
5

14

1
1

4a

1 to 4

69

2

2
5

BEECHCROFT ROAD

7

ELG
AR

1a

Shingle

7

28

4

27C
F

Court

S
h

e l
te

r

Play Area

1

11

Car Park

2
1 to

 37

2

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

G
roy

ne

1

2
9

3
4

5
8

FB

M
e

r t
o

n

23

1

2.7m

4
0

107

1  to 1 2

Stone

7
0

31

37a

Pumping

DW

3
6

5

PALMERSTON WAY

2
a

4.3m

5

4

3.7m

16

Anglesey Gardens

4
3

1

ANGLESEY ARMS  ROAD

STONE  LANE

3 4

26

2c

Und

2
9

5
4

SANDOWN

64

56

Pond

4.0m

3

1

W
EB

BE
R

S W
AY

1

MARTELLO

64

15

Monument

11

WHIT
E HART R

OAD

27

4
1

Und

E
L G

A
R

 C
L

O
SE

CLOSE

23

T
H

E
 R

O
S

ER
Y

El Sub  St a

Arc
her

 H
ous

e

1
6

ESS

10

46 44

8

4

12

Cottage

76

13

23

30

1

18

11

39

26

7
2

SM

2

17

79

Adm ir alty

1

3

1

5.5m

29

Stanley Park

68

98

7

2

2.1m

2a

2
7

C
F

1
12

1
2

CF

4

Stone

W
a

rd
 B

d
y

5
3

1
2

4

11

13

Pond

7
1

3
4

4
4

2
3

6

El

1
2

15

ESS

7

Sub

1 to 4
2

C
R

71

Hous e

2

15

4
0

62

2

St  Francis Chur ch

4.0m

G
roy ne

Pavilion

9

88

25

14

22

82

12

4
3

1
3

2 0

R OA D

ST FRANCIS  ROAD

1

2
2a

11

1 4 to 29

2
1

42

2 4

2b

3
5

12

2
6

63

1

8

14a

Ps

1

V
IL

LA
G

E

2
1

3
2

Tennis Courts

1
8a

C
LO

S
E

19

5
2

5.5m

Wa lk

1
4

11

8

THE S
PUR

9

6
6

Boulders

1a

37

Boat Park

4
b

4
4

83

43

4

Posts

2

1

6

4.9m

Sub Sta

46

68

2
0

23

S
h

in
g

le

CC LW

Monckton

NEPEAN CLOSE

SOUTH CLOSE

9

C
R

3
5

M ea n High  Wa ter

82

3

Mobile Home

Shirrel

2
4

Chapel

7

2
4

1
7

1
19

25

2

M
ean

 High W
ater

1.8m

1
4

1
0

0

2 2

4

Viaduct

2
2

3
2

2
1

Stone

9

Cornerways

2
6

Sh
e l

te
rs

11

38c

4b

Stone

6

16

1 to 12

1
1

1

119

CR

Posts

67

S hin
gle

Cour t

Cocks

23

21

19

89

91

4
2

19

2

7
a

6

11a

(Telecommunication)

STEPHENSON CLOSE

Stone

4.0m

5

Stone

CW

7

B
R

IA
R

6

2c

67

Mean  Low
 Wa te r

COURT

3
2

5
6

1
0

51

Slipway

4
7

6
9

10

4.6m

19

WAY

PALMERS TON WAY

Stone

The

G
R

A
Y

S
 C

LO
S

E

2

1

El Sub Sta

H
E

S
T

O
N

 W
A

L
K

E
D

 &
 W

ar
d

 B
d

y

1

J
E

R
R

A
M

 C
L

O
S

E

47

1
 to

 8

FW

Glen House

1
2

66a

4

NORTH CLOSE

2

12

4

22

BEATTY DRIVE

37

Mean H

3 4

53

FS

Sub Sta

Pa th

1

10

1
1

T
H

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

1

ESS

Mud

5
4

Cottage

22

Pipeline

LB

6
5

1

39

2
5

4 1

1

20

TCB

3.4m

1

Stone

8

1

5
2

18b

34

34

1
1

18

El Sub Sta

8
1

4.0m

1

11

8

21a

1

2

9

8
4

1
b

3 2

Shelter

51

Roser y

Shel ter

5
1

C
o

tt
a

ge

FS

S
h

el
te

r

Lodge

Stone

1

3

Saltmarsh

2 5

Posts

C
H

U
R

C
HE

R

1
3

Delden

1 1

2

4.0m

CF

15

2
4

41

1 4

32

38

6
3

3
7

1
5

11

14

War

6
1

6
3

CW

1

3

13a

38

6
4

T
H

O
R

N
B

R
A

K
E

9

5
5

17

Bowling Green

3.0m

3.0m

4

9
4

S uffolk

3a

Holm r th

Gas Holder

O
L

D
 R

O
A

D

2

1
3

19

1.5m

17

ST 
M

A R
K'S

 R
O

A
D

Shingle

14

Landon Court

ADMIRALS WALK

Nursing Home

G
a

r d
e

n
s

7
0

1

1
0

3 1

Pond

CLOSE

SM

1
0 2

Orchard House

Common

Stone

O
L

D
 R

O
A

D

VECTIS

S hingle

1
0

5.2m

29

7
7

94

O
V

A
L 

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

2

3
7

M
O

L
E

S
W

O
R

TH
 R

O
A

D

W
ard Bdy

FOSTER ROAD

Nursing

Stone

Stokes Bay

1 13

13

3

3
0

1

57

32

7
2

1
4

Hall

5.8m

5

1

3
1

1
7

Cottage

7

T
H

E
 H

A
V

E
N

13

(P H)

2
1

15

42

14

58

9

5
5

9

Slop in
g m

asonry

3

41

Works

Gomer Court

35b

34

CLOSE

15

Stone

C
C

LW

1

66

9
1

1
9

7

CRANBOURNE ROAD

The

4.0m

3
3

1
5a

50

13

El

to

5

6
0

(M
i li tary Road)

4

4
5

8
6b

32

2

3

4
5

2
7

3.0m

26

1a

4.9m

5
6

Shingle

2
8

16

15

F
W

5
5

7
8

1

21

DW

51

28

7
6

SOMERVELL

22

1 7

5 2

4
2

44

3.7m

1

3
0

CRESCENT

1
4

3.0m

Court

1
62

4.0m

29

3

Works

6

50

ROAD

Slo pin
g m

as onry

CLOSE

6
7

1
8

1

House

SM

Slipway

7

DW

4
6

Monument

4

Solent Springs Adventure Golf

19

8

36

8
1

O
ut fall

View

43

Car Park

2
5

Dolphin

9

2
5

B
a

n
k

1 0

Station

Seahorse

House

KENNET CLOSE

NTL

FW

10

10

1

Sub Sta

6

2

3.7m

4

2

18

ESS

14

4

39

88

8

S
A

V
IL

L
E

 C
L

O
S

E

97

9

2

M
O

U
N

T
 P

L
E

A
S

A
N

T  
R

O
A

D

ED & Wa rd Bdy

FS

4
1

1.8m

134

3 6

11

5
5a

Tank

Drain

1

A
ll

o
tm

e
n

t

2

6
0a

9

C
W

Stone

Mean Low  Water

Cottage

6

8
1

4

BOLDENS  RO AD

to

H
e

s t
o

n

2
5

5
0

t o

ST MARY'S

1

Shelter

13

Sports Ground

N
o

rth
c

o
tt H

o
u

s
e

Ward Bdy

2
3

5
3

Pavilion

51

21

Play Area

B
R

O
D

R
IC

K
 A

V
E

N
U

E

KENNEDY  CRE SCENT

Ward Bdy

Wickham Cour t

11

M
o

b
il
e
 H

o
m

e 
P

a
rk

2d

FB

18

7
9

1
1

38

Sh
in

g
le

(PH)

2.4m

8
1

6

P
A

G
ET

 R
O

AD

27

2

5
4

DW

5.8m

Fighting

Gomer Junior School

BRIAR

Wakefield Place

20

6 2

3
3

7

84

C
R

O
S

S
L

A
N

D
 C

L
O

S
E

SUNBEAM

5
2

14

140a

4

Club

The Walled

1
2 8

1a

4.0m

37

Stone

41

1

32

81

3.4m

5
7

TEBOURBA DRIVE

THE R
EDA

N

2.7m

111

21

H
O

R
N

E
T  

C
LO

S
E

4  to
 6

Whitcomb Terrace

9

69

2
0

A
NG

LE
SEY

 R
O

AD

5

1
2

Gilkicker Point

19

12 16

3

8

B
A

Y
 R

O
A

D

3
8

21

3
5

6

Stone

32

8
8

2a

B
E

N
T

H
A

M
 R

O
A

D

1
1

M
ea

n L
ow

 W
a
ter

2
1

STOKE S BAY ROAD

S olent House

5
6

6

Pond

2
5

5

Seaeld Terrace

SHEPH
EA

R
D'S

 W
AY

Stone

P
os

ts

13

43

75

Alver Bridge

1

Fort

6

3
0

4
6

3
2

2.4m

Shingle

C
F

4.3m

33

El Sub Sta

11

23

1
7

1 5

5
8

4 4

5 0

5
9

1 4

3 2

1

Playing Field

4.0m

74

S toke

Shin gle

1 07

Sta

CC LW

3
3

3
5

2
2

2

Seaview Cou
rt

G
ILK

IC
K

ER R
O

A
D

M
ea n  L ow

 W
a ter

38

Bowling Green

1
9

Pipeline

Stone

1
9

a

113

7

1

2

Cottage

15

1

LINDEN GROVE

3.3m

56

G
ra

v e
ya

rd

1b

1
5

Wa te r

FW
FW

30

4.9m

1a

1

1
0

4 4

7
0

2.1m

Mews

16

6
4

Shingle

1

1
5

El Sub Sta105

Gar den Cottage

27

C
P

C
F

Ps

1

18

1

Plaque

Flagstaff

Ps

Superstore

Portsmouth

1
7

36

47

28

5
0

3
3

L
IT

T
L

E

3

1a

Little Anglesey

3
4

4
1

3
3

The

20

5.2m

P
R

I N
C

E
 A

L
F

R
ED

 S
TR

E
E

T

110

C
W

1
5a

1
6

21

1

1 9

4a

1
7

128

2

Car Park

42

Slo
pin

g
 m

as
onry

6
05  to 8

55

M
ea n Low

 Water

PENN WAY

1
7

Golf Course

4
8

2
0

Jetty

5

WATERLOO ROAD

1

7

2

42.4m

35

CLAYHALL

GOMER  LA NE

41

El Sub Sta

1
3

30

55

E
LLA

C
HIE

 M
EW

S

6

Sta

15

Promenade

C
R

4.3m

Ps

Stone

31

G
am

e
s C

ou
rt

8
1

Tamwor th  Cour t

2a

GREEN

Browndown

DW

G
royne

1
4

GALE

Sub Sta

Shelter

G
royne

Works

5

1
5

28

1 to 21

1
1

5
3

5 0

B
ou

ld
er

s

25

144

59

2
2

48

52

The Park H otel

PRIV ETT R OAD

48

2

LB

1
04

75

The

1

69

1

5

El Sub Sta

51

14

PRIV ETT ROAD

5.2m

W
a

lk

39

7

8
2

C
F

13

Kingsher

Waverley Path

4 0

2

7
0

52

48

1

SM

3

3
2

47

Institute Of Naval Medicine

Und

2
0

Car Park

1
9b

Court

1
18

5

2
0

C
R

LB

H
AS

L
A

R 
RO

A
D

1

2

Milford

Stone

G
A

L
E

 M
O

O
R

 A
V

E
N

U
E

72

Bramley

1
0

Mud

7
0

1
8

1
00

W
orkhouse Lake

18

Ppg Sta Sub Sta

14

Cottage

30

7

4.0m

2
0

W
a

rd
 B

d y

1

10

1 2

27

7

9

C
F

2

Stone

S
hingle

FORT ROAD

18

96

4

2

19

1
7

Stones

Groyne

Gardens

FRO
U

DE A
VEN

UE

4.0m

15

1
a

1
7

P eters

G
ro

y
ne

14

2 9

6

6a

LITTLE

4

33

74

22

M
O

A
T D

R
IV E

Mud

Station

4.6m2

4
5

Cy
c le

 W
ay

Post

Brickets Terrace

SM

CF

28

3
1

Alver bank

13

4
6

41

CR

8
3

Redclyffe House

8

Groyne

9

1
0

Mobile Home Park

1
0

5

4
a

49

8

53

1 2

1

3
2

1
4

3

91

2

Anglesey

MP

1

8

1

Boulders

D
R

IV
E

28

30

2
0

1
0

13

2.7m

6

1
a

W
IL

B
E

R
F

O
R

C
E

 R
O

A
D

Posts

1

7
6

MOOR AVENUE

4.3m

FOSTER R OAD

5

Gerar d Ho use

53

House

1
9

Depot

4

HASELWORTH DRIV E

2
1

Shelter

OLD ROAD

36

94

4

5

4.3m

BURY HALL LANE

1
5

1

MAYFIELD ROAD

5

Meml Fn

3

3

1 0

80

57

Posts

1
7

2
7

11a

3.7m

2
9

A
LV

A
R

A
 R

O
A

D

22

6.4m

4
0

2
8

KENNEDY

C
F

ROAD

70

R
O

A
D

W
o

rk
s

Cottage

3

S
h

e
lt

e
r

3
8

3
1a

44

ESS

5
1

5

Cemetery

17

2.4m

Workhouse

Posts

1
0

STOKE S BAY ROAD

Cessac House

1
5

1
09

3
4

41

12b

G
AW

N PLAC
E

3

Pond

26

15

Stone

El Sub Sta

G
O

M
E

R
 L

A
N

E

Hotel

4
4

El Sub Sta

(Nursin g and Retiremen t Ho me)

SOUTH STREE T

10

9
6

PO

El Sub Sta

C
W

1c

2

20

12

S
T

 M
A

R
K

'S
 R

O
A

D

C
P

LB

22

86

27

5.5m

19

Memorial

P

8
0

1
5

T
r ack

8

DW

S
M

Mean High Water

68

11

49

3
0

P

3
7

6
3b

Or chard

15

Alverstoke House

Sluice

9

M
IL

IT
A

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

1

1
5

(War Meml)

6

32

3.7m

65

3.7m

33

3
4

Mean High Water

5
1

Shingle

34

9

7
b

1
1

1.8m

1

4
8

7

6

28

12

31

2

3
5a

18

MONROE CLOSE

2

Sub Sta

2
5

1

2

Shingle

1 60

Sub Sta

65

7

2
8

2.1m

6

2
1

Stone

19

W
a

l k

8

Shingle

Cadnam

1 to 5

FORT ROAD

3

Promenade

Mean High Water

W
a

r d
 B

d
y

1
4

Sub Sta

DW

Un d

1
2

Ps

3 8

7
1

FB

5
7

24

Shelter

9
3

17

1
1

5
3

73

S
hin

gle

C LOSE

9

Ewer

3
4

Fountain

C
R

2
1

21

Shelters

6

6
0

1
4

8

ALECTO ROAD

Shin gle

53

1

1
7

1 4 t o 17

3

Mean Low

Court

P
o

n d

2

El

S
to

k
e 

L
a k

e

9
3

1
3

Pond

68

14

Club House

1

1

CLOSE

18

122

4.3m

R
iv

e
r  A

lv
e

r

Caravan Park

1

21 to 27

4.0m

Tennis Courts

AVENUE

The

3
6

21

2

Pps

Mud

2

1
1a

35

1

3
1

52

5.8m

W
a

rd
 B

d
y

CP

W hite Gates

SM

6

Broads ands Walk

Am
blesi de  Court

1

16

BEECHCROFT ROAD

38b

FW

1

33f

9
5

Fort Gilkicker

Post

2
0

6

Gomer Infant School

W
O

O
D

S
T

O
C

K
 R

O
A

D

24

Mast

Civil Defence

12

Stones

1

50

CF

CR

66

9

1
15

3

8

2

2

96a

C
F

El Sub Sta

LB

2
7

1

Cr am sholme

1

7

14

2 5

42

6

6
3

1
05

26

6 2

6

The Dell

7

TESTCOMBE ROAD

62

DW

2

El

CLOSE

Gas

7
2

1

87

9
4

T
rac

k

84

15

2a

38a

ATKINSON

95

7 4

18a

2
1

2
1

1
13

Viaduct

1

16

15a

3
3

2

(aided) Jun ior School

2

3

96

5

House

6
5

46

66

Brodrick

STOKE S BAY ROAD

20

B
a

c
k

do
o

r

1
16

T
H

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

Shingle

5

Centre

Works

2
2

64

4 a

C
P

Bay Court

25

6

63

N
T

L

5
4

18

ALVERSTOKE

6
3

1
3 0

43

2
3

1

S
h

in
g

le

41

36

Meade

14.9m

1

12

26

1 13

2 6

S
T

 V
A

L
E

R
IE

 R
O

A
D

1a

2
0

Sports Pavilion

2
5

2

2 7

32

AMERSHAM CLOSE

25

Pond

5

2

6
7

1
9

18

55a

FORT ROAD

1
7

H
AS

E
L

W
O

R
TH

 D
R

I V
E

A
lv

e
r  

B
ri

d
g

e

18 to 22

Stone

2
4

38

4.0m

1
6

P ar k Lodge

6
0

GREEN ROAD

8
6

a

16

Sub

40

Stone

21

C
L E

V
E

L
A

N
D

 R
O

A
D

4.3m

4.3m

2a

SOLENT WAY

1 to 7

21

4
1a

4
8

6
6

2

1b

35

FS

8

77a

M
ea

n H
ig

h
 W

a
te

r

H
o

u
s

e

2

S
A

N
D

C
R

O
FT

 C
L

O
S

E

1 to 12

7

1
6

CW

12

Wallis Bungalows

G
ar ag

e

9

3.7m

144

Landing Stage

5
9

A
NG

LE
SE

Y
 R

O
AD

D
W

9
6

88

8

84

LB

El

2

1
3

4.3m

5 0

El

COWARD ROAD

2

9

K
E

N
N

E
D

Y
 C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

1
3

S
hin

gl
e

1

53

Shingle

Shingle

2

C
LO

S
E

29

1
06

1

A
N

G
L

E
S

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

1

17

Fleetlands

8

CONSTABLE CLOSE

1 0

3
5

48

11

6

70

El Sub Sta

92

2
9

Shin
gle

2
4

Stokes Bay

3
6

Stoke Lake

B
R

O
W

N
D

O
W

N
 R

O
A

D

LB

5

Tower

9
0

3.4m

3.4m

24

29

2
4

Bay House

(PH)

1  to 12

8
4b

6 a

10

Stone

2
5

23

45

17

7

1

3
5a

5 2

Tank

FB

25

2
0a

54

7
1

3
1

2

1

Stokes Bay

CF

6
6

Station

1.5m

25

37

41

7
8

LITTLE ANGLESEY ROAD

1

2

6

G
R

E
E

N
 L

A

35

2
2

Shin gle

4.3m

Stone

1
0

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

Ward Bdy

3
5

CR

5
4

9

Shingle

Stone

99

B
RO

ADSA
ND

S

ESS

2.4m

9

Groynes

2
1a

T
H

E
 P

A
DD

O
C

K

1

BROWNDOWN ROAD

Stokes Bay

8

Boulders

12

P
r im

a
r y

 S
c

h
o

o
l

9
2

6
9

WESTERN WAY

12

DOLPHIN CRESCENT

Stone

7
1

3
3

3
3a

Last House

1
2

20

3.7m

2 to 3

Posts

1
7a

2

Shingle

7

Gas Distribution Station

7
0

13

4.3m

E LLACHIE  GDNS

4
4

5
5

b

26

Posts

32

MHW

124

5

3

HALSEY CLOS E

142

1  to 65

50

G roy nes

1
1

S
h

el
te

r

26

Sub

3 8

Mud

Immigration Removal Centre

42

29

D
W

6
2

86

2.7m

26

2

5.2m

Stone

1
4

6
4a

Posts

11

12

48

2
2

5
0

2

4b

FW

4.0m

19

Sh
e rw

in
 W

a lk

10

15

5

S
to

k e
s 

B
a

y

3

F
W

(Telecommunication)

2

SM

3.7m

9

58

1

57

2.4m

3
7

Stone

1
1

3
3a

16

71

LENNOX CLOSE

A
LV

E
R

 R
O

A
D

9

1 to 15

Lawn Tennis and Squash

1
6

Bankside

PC

Stone

2
0

3.4m

1 2

El Sub Sta

VILLAGE

3
3

5

21

G
roy

ne

FS

1
5

1
3

1
3

33

Posts

3 0

85

2
4

68

2 3

1

SEAFIELD

16

1
7

4

2
0

C
RESCEN

T R
OAD

House

MOUND

DW

Memorial Hall

Shingle

49

71

2
8

2
6

1
0

5.2m

El Sub Sta

3
1

R EYNO
LD S R

OAD

11

THE

D
W

1
3a

Ward Bdy

Quay

19a

77

Def

Stone

House

17

33

Sewage Ppg Sta

1
9

44

1
a

62

17

8
1

130

CLAYHALL ROAD

5.2m

1
0

2

1

27

2
6

3
1

1
9

DOLPHIN CRESCENT

66

1

2
9

ROA
D

Channel View

Memorial

Shingle

6
2

1a

Control

6
8

1
9

G
RE

EN

4

Portsmouth Harbour

CRESCENT

37

19

4.3m

LB

5

Stokes Bay Sailing Club

Ashurst

146

LB

Memls

5
6

SW
ORD

7

1

Churcher W alk

22

Landmark

24

16

78

1b

5

3.0m

1a

Char lotte

30a

30

CF

2

4.0m

L
E

V
E

S
O

N
 C

L
O

S
E

STOKES BAY ROAD

41

1
4

F
W

Sub Sta

St Mary's Church

15

Club

27

2a

EL
LA

C
HI

E 
R

OA
D

2

3
1

El

136

3.0m

106

3
8

Factory

1

3
1

102

Memorial

36

1
3

11a

61

2

4 4

18

1
0

2 4

ESS

11

2

6
1

Shingle

Shin
gle

4.3m

2

9

43

7

8

DW

4.3m

Centre

C
W

22

Tank

Sluice

1

School

W
a

rd
 B

d
y

52

J
E

L
LI

C
O

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

1
7

1
9

9 5

41

3

21

Stone

2.7m

2 4

2
2

CF

Wa lpole Te rra ce

7
a

Stone

Stone

Shin gle

1

2 6

G
R

E
E

N
 L

A
N

E

Stone

Sub Sta

58

M ea n  Low Wate r

1
2

98

2

LB

FRIARY C LO
SE

FBs

7a

1

98

1 1

39

Weir

3

C
R

3
6

LITTLE ANGLESEY ROAD

1
8

Lifeboat

16

77

Groynes

1

2
2

4.3m

1

48

H
as

la
r 

La
ke

Park

7

1

63

2

Slipway

8
9

LB

8

Shingle

4

8

8

Browndown Training Camp

L
in

e
 O

f 
Po

s
ts

46

32

8

1
2

W
a

rd
 B

d
y

19b

Mean  Hig
h  W

ate
r

46

S
H

A
F

T
E

S
B

U
R

Y
 R

O
A

D

15

Morfa

ESS

7

12

3 2

F
W

2.7m

2

Car Park

4
2

1
1

4

16

1
3

1

9

A
lv

e
rs

to
k

e
 C

o
m

m
u

ni
ty

 I
n

fa
n

t

S
P

IT
H

E
A

D
 A

V
E

N
U

E

C
F

6

CLAYHALL ROAD

70

1
0

2

6

30

S
h

e
lt

e
r

1
7

2

G
re

e n
 L

a
n e

3
6

Posts

P
O

R
TL

A
N

D

2

2
3

3
0

WESTERN

10

W hite Lodge

9

35

4
4

9

3
4

8
6

28

91

1

Haslar

ESS

2

59

2 6

25

8

4.9m

Mud

5
4

5

Slipway

11

Marchwood

1

4.0m

63

19

2
1

1

L IN
D

 R
O

AD

Shingle

38

B
RO

AD
SA

N
D

S

10

S t

Mea n Hig h  Wate r

2
0

DW

ORCHARD

41

8
2

1
8

J
E

L
LI

C
O

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

3

Shingle

5

The

3
6

19

1 2

Stone

1
3

2 6

B
RA

M
LE

Y G
AR

D
ENS

4

1
0

1

4.9m

1
1

112

SOLENT WAY

F
W

3

Harbour

M
o

a t

29

1
4

15

1

1
7

31

El

45

Slipway

1
a

LAN
E

C
LO

S
E

S
h

in
g

le

E
L

G
A

R
 C

L
O

S
E

Stokes Bay

Posts

Shingle

TOWER CLOSE

Stone

1
9

22

9
2

Post

PEPYS CLO SE

Car Park

DW

PC

1

7
8

Court

1

Sta

War

CLAYHALL ROAD

12a

LB

4

1
2

1.5m

Play Area

19

Bay House Sports Hall

54

2 0

5

2.4m

4
7

69

3
2

6

El Sub Sta

7
7

6
8

5

2

7

4
1

1

Lyndhurst

Gom er Gr ange

2

1
5

53

M
A

D
D

E
N

 C
LO

S
E

Home

M
ean 

H
ig

h W
a te

r

C
OA

S
TG

UA
RD

Club

26

9
0

PH

1
2

WAY

3
9

Signal

3

3
7

4
5

2
b

1
1

Shingle

25

8

29

1
5

CF

1 to 11

25

CR

M
IL

IT
A

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

1
2

Gardens

1
6

84

37

1 2

2
0

2
1

9

PC

War r en

Lakeside

Little Anglesey

7

37

40

6
7

5
5

15

1

9

45

LB

1 to 16

4.6m

70

4 8

A
dm

ira
lt

y 
C

ot
t a

ge
s

66

Shelter

Stone

2
a

95

26

St Mark' s Place

9

6

1
1

27

3
7

5 0

3 8

24

Sub Sta

M
ean  High W

ate
r

El Sub Sta

3
1

1
3

6
3a

1
334

8
4a

3.7m

N
E

 L
A

N
E

L
ITT

L
E

 L
A

N
E

BURY HALL LANE

PYRFORD CLOSE

48

29

U
n

d

Shingle

1
5

32

1

B
ou

l d
er

s

6

Stone

55

to

S ingleton

3.4m

2
0

7

1

War Memorial

26

2
7

1.8m

A
LV

ER
C

L
IF

F
E

 D
R

IV
E

5.5m

38

2
0a

6

1
9

5
2

H
IL

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

2
6

Playground

El

Alver stoke

5
3

6

Stoke Lake

4

Monckton

R
iv

e
r 
A

l v
er

Posts

S
h

el
te

r

2
4

ST MARY'S AVENUE

18

24

1

14

3
4

11

8

3
1a

21

35

BEECH GROVE

78

8

7

4.0m

El  Sub Sta

1

35a

Pond

39

ESS

Broads ands

Alverbank

(Hotel)

V
ie

w

49

Kinfauns

STOKES BAY ROAD

Track

PC

T
ra

c
k

1
2

Fort

M
ea

n
 L

ow
 W

ate
r

7

10

1
0 0

Gosport Park

C
F

19

3
2

40

18

4.9m

1

A SHBURTON  ROAD

84

Stone

75a

2
2

30

Mean High Water

1

LB

Court

2
0

1

Sand and Shingle

36

65

6

P
a

t h
 ( um

)

Ward Bdy

77

DW

1a

Rodney

Anglesey View

Alver

37

6
3

1
5

23

Tanks

1

D
RI

VE

1
5

3

7

55

U
nd

6

1
1

25

L
E

E
P

 L
A

N
E

4

Posts

4.3m

3
3

8
7

1

Fair Oak Court

1 54

2

C
F

34

MABEY  CLOSE

Privett

23

14

Boulders

1

37

WESTLAND GARDENS

3
3

1
2

67

Cedar Cottage

3

1
3

El

AVENUE

15

2
2

C LO
SE

1

M
ea n Low

 W
ater

4
4

Shingle

8

1
5

2.1m

3 4

49

2.7m

1
4

1
4

4
1

1

Pa th

4.6m

9

2
6

79

2

4

5

3 0

ARMINERS CLOSE

1
1

29

4.9m

1

1

FW

140

37

1
18

ST HELENS ROAD

3

8
0

D
W

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019624

TOWN HALL,  HIGH STREET,  GOSPORT,
HANTS,  PO12 1EB.

1:12000

DATE : 24/08/2020
If this map has been transmitted electronically, use the scale bar in preference to the written scale

Scale
0 100 200 300 400 500 m

Stokes Bay: Possible Conservation Area Boundary (subject to consultation)
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CHURCH

TA
YLO

R
 R

O
AD

P
A

R
K

 R
O

A
D

ROAD

D
IG

H
T R

O
A
D

ST MARK'S CLOSE

VILLAGE ROAD

BR
AM

LEY G
DN

S

SOMERVELL

P
A

R
K

 R
O

A
D

M
O

N
C

K
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

ALVERCLIFFE DRIVE

LONG WATER DRIVE

CLAYHALL ROAD

L
IF

E
B

O
A

T
 L

A
N

E

BEECHCROFT ROAD

E
L
G

A
R

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

ANGLESEY ARMS ROAD

W
EB

B
ER

S W
A
Y

T
H

E
 R

O
S

E
R

Y

E
L

G
A

R
 C

L
O

S
E

CLOSE

ROAD

ST FRANCIS ROAD

V
IL

L
A

G
E

C
L

O
S

E

TH
E S

P
U
R

NEPEAN CLOSE

SOUTH CLOSE

STEPHENSON CLOSE

COURT

BEATTY DRIVE

T
H

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

S
T
 M

A
R

K
'S

 R
O

A
D

S

T
H

E
 H

A
V

E
N

CLOSE

(M
ilitary Road)

SOMERVELL

ROAD

KENNET CLOSE

M
O

U
N

T
 P

L
E

A
S

A
N

T
 R

O
A

D

BOLDENS R
OAD

ST MARY'S

B
R

O
D

R
IC

K
 A

V
E

N
U

E

P
A

G
E

T
 R

O
A

D

C
R

O
S

S
L

A
N

D
 C

L
O

S
E

SUNBEAM

TH
E R

ED
A
N

A
N

G
LE

SE
Y
 R

O
A
D

B
E

N
T

H
A

M
 R

O
A

D

STOKES BAY ROAD

S
HE

P
HE

A
R
D
'S

 W
A
Y

G
IL

K
IC

K
E

R
 R

O
A

D

L
IT

T
L

E

WATERLOO ROAD

E
LLA

C
H
IE M

EW
S

GREEN

FORT ROAD

FR
O

U
D
E

 A
VE

N
U
E

LITTLE

W
IL

B
E

R
F

O
R

C
E

 R
O

A
D

HASELWORTH DRIVE

A
L

V
A

R
A

 R
O

A
D

ROAD

S
T

 M
A

R
K

' S
 R

O
A

D

M
IL

IT
A

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

CLOSE

ALECTO ROAD

AVENUE

BEECHCROFT ROAD

ATKINSON

STOKES BAY ROAD

S
T

 V
A

L
E

R
IE

 R
O

A
D

FOR
T RO

A
D

H
A

S
E

L
W

O
R

T
H

 D
R

IV
E

GREEN ROAD

COWARD ROAD

C
L

O
S

E

A
N

G
L

E
S

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

CONSTABLE CLOSE

LITTLE ANGLESEY ROAD

DOLPHIN CRESCENT

ELLACHIE GDNS

LENNOX CLOSE

VIL
LAGE

C
R
ESC

EN
T R

O
A
D

RE
YN

O
LD

S R
O
A

D

TH
E

CLAYHALL ROAD

R
O
A

D

G
R

E
E
N

CRESCENT

L
E

V
E

S
O

N
 C

L
O

S
E

E
LL

A
C

H
IE

 R
O

A
D

J
E

L
L

I C
O

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

G
R

E
E

N
 L

A
N

E

FRIA
RY C

LOSE

LITTLE ANGLESEY ROAD

S
P

IT
H

E
A

D
 A

V
E

N
U

E

CLAYHALL ROAD

LI
N

D
 R

O
A

D

ORCHARD

B
RA

M
LEY

 G
A
RD

EN
S

L
A

N
E

E
L

G
A

R
 C

L
O

S
E

PEPYS CLOSE

CLAYHALL ROAD

C
O

A
S

TG
U

A
R

D

WAY

L
I T

T
L

E
 L

A
N

E

A
L

V
E

R
C

L
IF

F
E

 D
R

IV
E

ST MARY'S AVENUE

STOKES BAY ROAD

ASHBURTON ROAD

L
E

E
P

 L
A

N
E

MABEY CLOSE

WESTLAND GARDENS

AVENUE

ARMINERS CLOSE

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019624

TOWN HALL,  HIGH STREET,  GOSPORT,
HANTS,  PO12 1EB.

1:6300

DATE : 25/08/2020
If this map has been transmitted electronically, use the scale bar in preference to the written scale

Scale
0 60 120 180 240 300 m

Anglesey Conservation Area Boundary
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Economic Development Board held 01/07/2020
	Minutes

	6 2021-31 DRAFT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND EVIDENCE BASE
	06 Appendix A 2021-31 Gosport Economic Development Strategy
	06 Appendix B 2021-31 Draft Evidence Base

	7 PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE WHITE PAPER (AUGUST 2020)
	07 Appendix 1-WHITE PAPER-List of Proposals and Questions

	8 CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING SYSTEM- GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION (AUGUST 2020)
	08 Appendix 1- Comparison of -Standard Method Outcomes

	9 COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) NEIGHBOURHOOD FUND-REVIEW OF ARRANGEMENTS
	10 PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED STOKES BAY CONSERVATION AREA AND REVIEW OF ALVERSTOKE AND ANGLESEY CONSERVATION AREAS
	10 Appendix A Alverstoke Conservation Area Boundary 2020 A4L
	Page 1

	10 Appendix A Stokes Bay proposed CA 2020 A4L
	Page 1

	10 Appendix AAnglesey Conservation Area Boundary 2020
	Page 1



